GENE ORGANIZATION AND EVOLUTION OF MITOCHONDRIAL GENOMES FROM TWO INVERTEBRATE PHYLA: VESTIMENTIFERA

AND CHAETOGNATHA

BY

YUEWANG WEI

B.Sc. Peking University 1970

M.Sc. Peking University 1983

THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF

THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in the Department

of

Biological Sciences

©Yuewang Wei 1992

Simon Fraser University

December 1992

All rights reserved. This work may not be reproduced in whole or in part, by photocopy or other means, without permission of the author.

APPROVAL

Name:

YUEWANG WEI

Degree:

Doctor of Philosophy

Title of Thesis:

GENE ORGANIZATION AND EVOLUTION OF MITOCHONDRIAL GENOMES FROM TWO INVERTEBRATE PHYLA: VESTIMENTIFERA AND CHAETOGNATHA

Examining Committee:

Chair: Dr. J. Borden, Professor

Dr. A.T. Beckenbach, Associate Professor, Senior Supervisor, Department of Biological Sciences, SFU

Dr. M.J. Smith, Professor, Department of Biological Sciences, SFU

Dr. D.L. Baillie, Professor, Department of Biological Sciences, SFU

Dr. D. Sen, Associate Professor, Department of Chemistry, SFU Public Examiner

Dr. S.R. Palumbi, Associate Professor, Department of Zoology, University of Hawaii, Honolulu, Hawaii External Examiner

Date Approved 14 December 1992

PARTIAL COPYRIGHT LICENSE

I hereby grant to Simon Fraser University the right to lend my thesis, project or extended essay (the fittle of which is shown below) to users of the Simon Fraser University Library, and to make partial or single copies only for such users or in response to a request from the library of any other university, or other educational institution, on its own behalf or for one of its users. I further agree that permission for multiple copying of this work for scholarly purposes may be granted by me or the Dean of Graduate Studies. It is understood that copying or publication of this work for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission.

Title of Thesis/Project/Extended Essay

Gene Organization and Evolution of Mitochondrial Genomes from Two Invertebrate Phyla: Vestimentifera and Chaetopnatha

Author:

(signature)

Juewang Wei (name)

Dec. 14, 1992

(date)

ABSTRACT

Information concerning DNA sequence comparisons and gene organization of animal mitochondrial DNA has proven extremely valuable in determining relationships of animal groups. Within the vertebrates, only two gene rearrangements are known. A single major rearrangement separates the vertebrates from the echinoderms, while three major rearrangements distinguish these groups from the insect gene organization. In contrast, nematodes and the mollusc *Mytilis* have extensive differences from arrangements of other animal groups.

In this thesis, I have used the polymerase chain reaction and direct sequencing to obtain partial sequence and gene organization for members of two enigmatic phyla: Vestimentifera (deep sea vent tube-worms) and Chaetognatha (arrow worms). Approximately one-third of the mitochondrial genome was determined for both groups.

The organization of the vestimentiferan genome bears some similarities to those of vertebrates and insects. In particular, the subunits of cytochrome oxidase (COI-COIII) and ATPase appear in the same order: COI, COII, ATPase 8, COIII. In addition, the two ribosomal RNA genes are transcribed in the same direction and are separated by tRNA valine gene, as occurs in vertebrates and insects. One major difference, however, is the removal of the ATPase 6 gene from its position between ATPase 8 and COIII. This change clearly separates them from those phyla.

The chaetognath gene organization bears no similarities to that of any other known phylum, and suggests that this group separated from other groups very early in the history of the animal kingdom. The large ribosomal RNA gene has been separated from the small RNA gene, and is located adjacent to the structural gene for COI. The cytochrome b gene has been rearranged to the region upstream the 5' end of the large ribosomal RNA subunit. In addition, the NADH dehydrogenase 2 gene is contiguous with the COIII gene in the chaetognath mitochondrial genome. These features have not been observed in any other animal group.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to thank my fellow graduate students and associates for their support and helpful discussions throughout my time at Simon Fraser University. I would especially like to thank Karen Beckenbach, Kelly Thomas and Eric Cabot for their invaluable help during my reseach. I also wish to thank the members of my committee for their helful discussions and comments on this thesis.

I am most indebted to, and greatefully acknowledge the continous support of my supervisor Andy Beckenbach.

V

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE PAGE	i
APPROVAL PAGE	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	x
INTRODUCTION	1
MATERIALS AND METHODS	8
Biological materials	8
Mitochondrial DNA preparation for cloning	8
DNA extraction for polymerase chain reaction (PCR)	8
Cloning	9
Polymerase chain reaction	9
Sequencing	10
Sequence data analyses	12

SECTION I: Gene Organization of Mitochondrial Genome from Ridgeia (Phylum

Vestimentifera)	14
Introduction	15
Results and Discussion	19

vi

.....

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The polymerase chain reaction	19
Sequence and location of structural genes	22
Genetic organization	29
Protein-coding genes	31
Genetic code	45
Codon usage	49
Transfer RNA genes	51
Ribosomal RNA genes	56
Summary	69

SECTION II: Evolution of Mitochondrial DNA from Ridgeia (Phylum Vestimentifera)	71
Introduction	72
Results and Discussion	75
Gene rearrangement	75
Protein-coding genes, mode and tempo of evolution	77
Transfer tRNA genes	87
Ribosomal RNA genes	90
Summary	92

SECTION III: Gene Organization in Mitochondrial Genome of Sagitta elegans, (Phylum Chaetognatha) 97 Introduction 98

vii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Results and Discussion 102		102
	The polymerase chain reaction	102
	Sequence and location of structural genes	104
	Genetic organization	112
	Protein-coding genes	116
	Genetic code	136
	Codon usage	139
	Transfer RNA gene	141
	Ribosomal RNA gene	144
	Intergenic sequences	147
	Summary	148

SECTION IV: Evolution of Mitochondrial DNA from Sagitta (Phylum Chaetognatha)	150
Introduction	151
Results and Discussion	154
Gene rearrangements	154
Protein-coding genes	156
Ribosomal RNA gene	168
Summary	173
CONCLUSIONS	175
REFERENCES	180

viii

LIST OF TABLES

1.	Primers used in amplification and sequencing of Ridgeia and Sagitta genes.	10
2.	Base composition in vestimentiferan mitochondrial genes.	28
3.	Similarities between mitochondrial protein genes in different taxa.	32
4.	Codon usage in vestimentiferan mitochondrial DNA.	47
5.	Base composition at 3rd codon positions in <i>Ridgeia</i> mitochondrial protein genes.	50
6.	Similarities between tRNA genes in different taxa.	53
7.	Nature and frequency of specific base substitutions in five protein genes.	80
8.	Summary of mutation types for protein coding genes.	86
9.	Nature and frequency of specific base substitutions in tRNA genes.	89
10	. Nature and frequency of specific base substitutions in 12S rRNA gene.	93
11	. Nature and frequency of specific base substitutions in 16S rRNA gene.	94
12	. Base composition in chaetognaths mitochondrial genes.	113
13	. Similarities between mitochondrial protein genes in different taxa.	117
14	. Codon usage in Sagitta mitochondrial DNA.	137
15	. Base composition at 3rd codon positions in chaetognath protein genes.	159
16	. Nature and frequency of specific base substitutions in five protein genes.	162
17	. Summary of mutation types for protein coding genes.	167

.

LIST OF FIGURES

1. PCR amplification and sequencing strategy for vestimentiferan.	20
2. PCR products of vestimentiferan mtDNA.	21
3. Sequence of three coding regions from <i>Ridgeia</i> mtDNA.	23
4. Comparison of gene order with different genomes.	30
5. Nucleotide sequence alignments of protein genes.	34
6. Amino acid sequence alignments of protein genes.	40
7. Secondary structures found in the protein genes.	46
8. Cloverleaf form of five vestimentiferan tRNAs.	52
9. Nucleotide sequence alignments of five tRNAs.	55
10. Sequence alignment of the 3' end of 12S rRNA.	58
11. Sequence alignment of the 5' end of 16S rRNA.	59
12. Sequence alignment of 12S rRNA.	61
13. Sequence alignment of 16S rRNA.	63
14. Complementary sequences between 12S rRNA and protein gene	es. 67
15. Complementary sequences between 16S rRNA and protein gene	es. 68
16. PCR amplification and sequencing strategy for chaetognaths.	103
17. Sequence of two coding regions from Sagitta mtDNA.	105
18. Comparison of gene order with different genomes.	115
19. Nucleotide sequence alignments of protein genes.	118
20. Amino acid sequence alignments of protein genes.	129
21. Secondary structures found in the protein genes.	135

LIST OF FIGURES

22.	Cloverleaf form of tRNA ^{^{sy}} .	143
23.	Complementary sequences between 16S rRNA and protein genes.	146
24.	Sequence alignment of chaetognaths 16S rRNA.	169
25.	Neighbor joining trees using all sites and second codon positions of COII gene.	178
26.	Neighbor joining trees using all sites and second codon positions of COIII gene.	179

xi

INTRODUCTION

Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) has been characterized from a number of multi-cellular animals, and from fungi and protozoa over the past decades (Attardi, 1988). Among the vertebrates, the complete mitochondrial DNA sequences have been published for human (Anderson et al. 1981), mouse (Bibb et al. 1981), cow (Anderson et al. 1982), rat (Gadaleta et al. 1989), fin whale (Arnason et al. 1991), harbor seal (Arnason and Johsson 1992), Xenopus (Roe et al. 1985) and chicken and quail (Desjardins and Morais 1990; 1991). Among the invertebrate deuterostomes there are complete DNA sequences for the mitochondrial genomes of two sea urchin species Strongylocentrotus purpuratus (Jacobs et al. 1988) and Paracentrotus lividus (Cantatore et al. 1989), and partial sequences are available for several sea star species (Himeno et al. 1987; Jacobs et al. 1989; Smith et al. 1989; 1990). Among protostome invertebrates, the complete nucleotide sequence of a fly, Drosophila yakuba (Clary and Wolstenholme 1985) and a nearly complete sequence of a bivalve mollusk, Mytilus edulis (Hoffmann et al., 1992) have been determined. In addition, complete sequences are available for two nematode worms (Okimoto et al. 1992) and partial sequences have been obtained from a number of other vertebrates and invertebrates.

The animal mitochondrial genomes show a strikingly conserved organization. The gene content and genomic organization has remained stable since the divergence of the mammalian and amphibian lineages, approximately 350 million years ago (Brown, 1983). The mitochondrial genome of animals consists of a very compact circular DNA molecule approximately 15-16 kilobases in length, which encode the same genes for 12 or 13 polypeptides, two ribosomal RNAs (large or 16S RNA and small or 12S RNA), and 22 transfer RNAs (tRNAs), as well as a control region containing the initiation sites for

mitochondrial DNA replication and transcription. These proteins are all components of the oxidative phosphorylation system: cytochrome b (Cyt b), subunits I-III of cytochrome c oxidase (COI-III), subunits 6 and 8 of the F_0 ATPase complex (ATPase 6 and ATPase 8), and subunits 1-6 and 4L of the respiratory chain NADH dehydrogenase (ND1-6 and 4L) (Chomyn and Attardi, 1987).

In contrast with the near constant organization of vertebrate mitochondrial genomes, sequence data from invertebrates such as *Drosophila* (Clary and Wolstenholme 1985), sea urchin (Jacobs et al. 1988; Cantatore et al. 1989), starfish (Himeno et al. 1987; Jacobs et al. 1989; Smith et al. 1989; Smith et al. 1990), and nematode (Okimoto et al. 1992) mtDNAs reveal that many rearrangements, including inversions and transpositions, have occurred between these phyla. Gene rearrangements have also been observed by Desjardins and Morais (1990) in the chicken mitochondrial genome and by Pääbo et al., (1991) in marsupials.

Mitochondrial DNA has become a very useful tool for studies of evolutionary genetics because of its small size, high copy number, mostly unisexual mode of inheritance, and evolutionary behavior (Wilson et al. 1985). Studies of the organization of mtDNA in different animals are of interest for two reasons. First, the conserved and unconserved features can give insights into the mechanisms of mitochondrial gene expression and its regulation. Second, the infrequency of rearrangements provides a possible route to the elucidation of phylogenetic relationships between higher-order taxa (Brown 1983; Jacobs et al., 1988; Wolstenholme et al. 1985) for which other markers may prove unreliable.

The analysis of mtDNA genomic sequence is essential if we are to ascertain the sites and potential mechanism whereby major rearrangements occur. The phylogeny and evolution

of organisms can be inferred from DNA analyses at both the macro and micro level. The determination of the pattern of major gene rearrangements can lead to better understanding of the branch points of macrophylogenetic events. Detailed studies of the base changes in the structure genes in the mtDNA can give insights into the phylogeny of organisms at the species level.

Because of the simplicity of the molecule, lack of recombination, and high mutation rate, mitochondrial DNA has been, by far, the most popular genetic material for use in molecular evolutionary studies. The rate of animal mtDNA evolution varies among lineages, among genes, and within genes. The slow but perceptible rate of rearrangement and the very large number of arrangements possible suggest that mitochondrial gene order may provide useful information about the phylogenetic relationships of different organisms. Although present data provide encourgement for this approach, the methods for analyzing the evolutionary relationships among gene rearrangements are still being developed (Sankoff et al., 1990; Beckenbach and Smith, in prep.).

Although cloning is very powerful approach and is of popular use in molecular biology, this method usually requires significant amounts of material and highly purified mtDNA. The initial cloning and identification methods can often be very time consuming. When only very small organisms are available, obtaining enough mitochondrial DNA can be a limitation. A new method, the polymerase chain reaction (PCR), has been developed for amplifying selected nucleic acids (DNA or RNA) sequences *in vitro* (Mullis and Faloona 1987). The method consists of repetitive cycles of DNA denaturation, primer annealing, and extension by DNA polymerase (Mullis 1990). Two oligonucleotide primers are chosen to flank the DNA segment to be amplified. The template DNA is repeatedly heat denatured, cooled to allow binding of primers, and replicated with DNA polymerase. The two primers hybridize to opposite strands of the target sequence, such that synthesis proceeds across the region between the primers, replicating that DNA segment. The product of each PCR cycle is complementary to and capable of binding the primers, and so the amount of DNA synthesized is doubled in each successive cycle.

PCR has made possible the rapid isolation and amplification of specific DNA segments, which can then be used for a wide range of applications. Nucleic acid amplification has added a new and revolutionary dimension to molecular biology. The detection and characterization of specific DNA sequence employing PCR are a simple, less expensive and less time consuming alternative to the cloning of specific genes. Highly conserved regions of mtDNA, such as 12S rRNA, 16S rRNA, cytochrome B, and other loci, are routinely being amplified via PCR technology to generate fragments of DNA. The original template DNA can be in a pure form and as discrete molecules or it can be a very small part of a complex mixture of biological substances. It can be a tissue specimen, a human hair, dried blood, mummified brain tissue, or tissue from a 40,000-year-old woolly mammoth frozen in a glacier (Mullis 1990).

In most work to date, PCR has been used to amplify short regions of DNA, usually a few hundred base pairs long (Saiki et al., 1988). Since Taq polymerase is capable of efficiently amplifying DNA of up to 2 kb long (Saiki et al., 1988), it therefore appeared possible that PCR could be extended to the amplification of longer fragments of mitochondrial DNA.

Although many sequences of mitochondrial genomes from various phyla are available, information about mtDNAs from two invertebrate phyla, Vestimentifera and Chaetognatha, has never been reported. Eucoelomates are generally divided into two main branches: Deuterostomes and Protostomes. The former covers Echinoderms, Chordates (including vertebrates) and a minor phylum, Hemichordata. The protostomes include Arthropods, Annelids, Molluscs, and a few minor phyla. There are other phyla which do not fall cleanly into either group. Vestimentifera is a newly defined phylum (Jones 1985), encompassing tube worms from deep ocean vents. This phylum is closely related to Phylum Pogonophora and is included by some within the Phylum Pogonophora. Phylum Pogonophora is a group of deep sea tube worms discovered this century based on partial specimens dredged from the continental shelf (deep sea sediments). A remarkable feature of members of these phyla is the complete absence of a mouth and digestive tract. Prior to 1970, when the existence of the opisthosoma was unknown, Pogonophora were variously placed among deuterostomes, protostomes, or even as a class of Annelid worms. With the discovery of the opisthsoma (the posterior portion of adult) and various developmental stages (Southward 1988), placement among deuterostomes became untenable. In 1985, members of this group from deep sea vents were raised to equal status with Pogonophora. The phylogenetic affinities of these groups are at present, unknown.

The Chaetognatha is another phylum of about 100 species, called arrowworms because of their shape. Despite the similarities of adult chaetognaths to aschelminths, the embryogeny of the phylum appears to be deuterostome in nature. Phylum Chaetognatha is variously placed with deuterostomes, protostomes or even pseudocoelomate groups (Willmer 1990). There are, however, some peculiarities. For example, the coelom is enterocoelic in origin as in deuterostomes but does not arise by a direct outpocketing of the archenteron. Furthermore, only two pairs of coelomic pockets are formed instead of three in deuterostomes. Moreover, there is no larval stage comparable to that of the echinoderms and the hemichordates. It is now unlikely that the characteristics of each of major group of Chaetognatha show any affinity with deuterostomes. Thus, the Chaetognatha cannot be allied with any specific deuterostome phylum. If chaetognaths are really deuterostomes, the phylum must have departed very early from the base of the deuterostome line and is only remotely related to the other deuterostome groups. The phylogenetic relationships of both phyla, Vestimentifera and Chaetognatha, to other animal phyla are still not clear.

In this thesis, I have investigated the gene organization and evolution of mitochondrial genomes from members of two invertebrate enigmatic phyla: Vestimentifera and Chaetognatha. Using the polymerase chain reaction, a total length of 9,297 nucleotides was amplified and sequenced. The sequence obtained from both each phylum represents about one third of the mitochondrial genome. Data from both phyla revealed some significant features different from those of other animal species reported to date.

This thesis is divided into four sections. In section I, I use the polymerase chain reaction to study the Phylum Vestimentifera mitochondrial genome. I have developed a suite of PCR primers which were based on analysis of sequences of various mitochondrial genes from different animal species. Using these primers, several fragments coding different functional genes, representing one third of the genome were amplified with PCR and sequenced. I have analyzed all these sequences and demonstrated novel features of this mitochondrial genome. Also, I have identified a number of complementary sequences between ribosomal RNA and protein genes. In section II, I use information from comparison of gene organization and analysis of various functional genes to examine evolutionary features of Phylum Vestimentifera mitochondrial DNA. I have found that gene rearrangements have occurred in this genome and the rate of mtDNA evolution varies among and within gene regions and is related to functional constraints. In section III, I use PCR to study the mitochondrial genome of a representative of Phylum Chaetognatha. Analysis of these sequences reveals that the organization of the mitochondrial genome of the Phylum Chaetognatha is unlike that of any other known group. In last section, I compare the gene organization and sequence information from different functional genes, with those of other species to examine the evolutionary features of Phylum Chaetognatha mitochondrial DNA.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Biological Materials

Adults of *Ridgeia phaephiale* (Phylum Vestimentifera) were supplied by Dr. Verena Tunnicliffe. They were collected by John Barross on Endeavour Segment of Juan de Fuca Ridge in September of 1988 by ALVIN. The tissue of was stored frozen at -70°C prior to DNA extraction. Adults of *Sagitta elegans* (Phylum Chaetognatha) were collected by myself using a plankton net near Bamfield Marine Station, Vancouver Island, British Columbia, Canada. The living adults were used as source for DNA extraction and mtDNA preparation.

Mitochondrial DNA Preparation for Cloning

Mitochondrial DNA was extracted from *Ridgeia* and *Sagitta* using modifications of the alkaline lysis technique of Tamura and Aotsuka (1988).

Briefly, 0.1 g of tissue was ground in 400 μ l of MSB+Ca++ (0.21 M mannitol, 0.07 M sucrose, 0.05 M Tris HCl, pH 7.5, 3mM CaCl₂, 0.5 mg/ml of protein K). Eighty μ l 0.5 M EDTA and 100 μ l of solution I (50 mM glucose, 10 mM EDTA, 25mM Tris, pH 8.0) were added and the mixture was then heated to 65^o C for 3 minutes. The strands were separated by adding two volumes of 0.1% SDS plus 0.2 N NaOH and chilled on ice for 5 minutes. Closed circular DNA was allowed to re-anneal by adding 1.5 volumes of 3 M potassium, 5 M acetate, pH 4.8. The supernatant was then extracted with phenol/sevag (chloroform/isoamylalcohol 24:1), and ethanol precipitated at room temperature.

DNA Extraction for PCR

A small amount of tissue of *Ridgeia* and a single adult of *Sagitta* were ground in microcentrifuge tubes containing 50 μ l protease solution (0.1M Tris-OH, pH 8.0, 0.05M EDTA, 0.2M NaCl, 1% SDS, with 0.4mg/ml protease K) respectively, and immediately placed at 65°C for 3-5 minutes. The mixture was extracted with phenol (saturated with 10mM Tris, 1mM EDTA, pH 8.0), the aqueous phase removed and extracted with chloroform:isoamyl alcohol (24:1). The aqueous phase was again removed and 2 volumes of 95% ethanol (at -20°C) added to precipitate the DNA. The DNA was pelleted, washed twice with 70% ethanol (-20°C), dried under vacuum, and redissolved in 50 μ l to 100 μ l sterile distilled H₂O.

Cloning

Mitochondrial DNA from *Ridgeia* was cloned into the vector PVZ-1 (Henicoff and Eghtedarzadeh 1987). 1 μ g of *Ridgeia* mtDNA sample was mixed with 0.2 μ g of PVZ-1 and digested to completion with <u>Hin</u>dIII in a total volume of 10 μ l for 2 hr at 37°C. The restriction enzyme was inactivated by heating at 65°C for 3-5 minutes. The digestion products were ligated by adding 6 μ l of ligation mix (20 μ l 10X ligation Buffer (0.66 M TRIS pH 7.5, 0.66 M MgCl₂); 20 μ l 0.1 M dithiothreitol (DTT); 20 μ l BSA (bovine serum albunin), 1mg/ml; 20 μ l 10 mM ATP (adenosine-triphosphate); and 2 units of T4 ligase). This mixture was incubated at 14°C for 1 hr. The diluted ligation mixture was added to the ligation reaction to a final volume of 100 μ l, mixed and incubated at 14°C overnight. 25 μ l of ligation reaction was mixed with 200 μ l of *E. coli* JM 83 competent cells, left on ice for 45 minutes to 1 hr and heated in bath block at 42°C for 5 minutes. Five μ l of mixture was

Name	Sequence	
COIF	5'-CCACGACGTTACTCAGACTA-3'	
COIIR	5'-TCAGTATCATTGATGACC-3'	
COIIR1"	5'-GGTAAAACTACTCGATTATCAAC-3'	
COIIIR	5'-ATCTACAAAATGTCAGTATC-3'	
12SF	5'-AAACTAGGATTAGATACCC-3'	
12SF1	5'-TGCCAGCCACCGCGGTTATAC-3'	
16SF	5'-ACGTGATCTGAGTTCAGACCGG-3'	
16SF4"	5'-TAGGGATAACAGCGCAAT-3'	
16SR'	5'-CCGGTCTGAACTCAGATCACGT-3'	
CYTBR"	5'-TAAGAAATACCATTCAGG-3'	

 Table 1. Primers used in amplification and sequencing of Ridgeia, vestimentiferan

 and Sagitta, chaetognath mitochondrial genes

* Primers 12SF, 16SF, and 16SR from John Boom.

** Primers only for chaetgnath mitochondrial DNA.

added in 5 ml of L-broth medium and cultured in a shaking incubator at 37°C for 15-30 minutes. 50-200 μ l of the transformation mixture was plated on nutrient plates containing 50 μ g/ml Ampicillin, 40 μ g/ml X-gal (5-bromo-4-chloro-3- indolyl- β -D-g, and 160 μ g/ml IPTG (isoprophltio- β -D-galactoside). The white colonies were picked from each clone, replated on nutrient plates with only Ampicillin and cultured at 37°C overnight.

Plasmid DNA was prepared from each white colony using the alkaline lysis minipreparation method (Birnboim and Doly 1979). The resulting plasmid DNA was digested with <u>Hin</u>dIII.

Polymerase Chain Reaction

Primer sequences for PCR amplification and sequencing of vestimentiferan and chaetognath mtDNA are given in Table 1. These sequences were based on examination of the organization and sequences of mitochondrial genomes from different species, including human (Anderson et al.,1981), mouse (Bibb et al.,1981), cow (Anderson et al.,1982), frog (Roe et al.,1985), *Drosophila yakuba* (Clary and Wolstenhome 1985), sea urchin (Jacobs et al.,1988), sea star (Smith et al.,1990), rat (Gadaleta et al.,1989), and chicken (Desjardins and Morais 1990). Conserved regions were chosen as the basis for PCR primer sequences.

The primer oligonucleotides were prepared in crude form by both Tom Atkinson (University of British Columbia) and the Institute of Molecular Biology and Biochemistry (Simon Fraser University) and were purified as in Atkinson and Smith (1985) using the optional Sep-Pack C18 cartridge (Waters).

Double strand PCR amplification was used for obtaining various fragments. PCR

amplification was carried out in 25 μ l reactions, using 1 μ l of extracted DNA samples, and 1:1 ratio of two end primers. We followed the protocol provided with the GeneAmp PCR kit (Perkin Elmer Cetus). Thermal cycling was accomplished in an Ericomp Programmable Cyclic Reactor, for 35 to 40 cycles. Each cycle consisted of 94°C denaturation (1 minute), 48° to 52°C annealing (30 to 60 sec) and 72°C extension (3 minutes) steps.

Sequencing

Templates from clones selected for sequencing were prepared from 5 ml overnight cultures. Plasmids containing insert fragments were prepared by the minipreparation procedure (Birnbom and Doly 1979). Supercoiled plasmid DNA was isolated from contaminating RNA, genomic DNA and nicked plasmid by electrophoresis on low melting point agarose. The DNA band containing supercoiled plasmid was cut out of the gel and the DNA was extracted using the phenol method described by Maniatis et al. (1982). The purified template was redissolved with 20 μ l sterile distilled H₂O. The double strand product was denatured with 2 μ l of 2N NaOH at room temperature for 5 minutes, 8 μ l of 5 M NH₄OAc was added for neutralization and 3 volumes of 95% ethanol (at -20°C) was added to precipitate the DNA. The DNA was pelleted, washed with 70% ethanol (at -20°C), dried under vacuum, and finally redissolved in 20 μ l sterile distilled H₂O. Templates were sequenced using the dideoxy sequencing protocols with the universal M13 sequencing primers (Pharmacia).

PCR amplified double strand products were purified using the phenol method as described above. The DNA was redissolved in 30 μ l sterile distilled H₂O and 7 μ l were

used in each sequencing reaction. Both primers used for amplification were also used as sequencing primers. Templates were sequenced using the Sequenase II (United States Biochemical Corporation) dideoxy sequencing protocol. The mixture containing double strands product, primer and sequenase buffer was denatured by heating to 95°C for two minutes, immediately quenched in dry-ice/ethanol for five minutes, then put into a dry-bath block which had been chilled to 0°C. The block was then allowed to come to room temperature. The sequencing reaction followed the manufacturer instructions. In all cases of double strand sequencing, Mn⁺⁺ was added in order to read those regions near the primers.

Sequence Data Analyses

The sequences were read from autoradiographs using a Beckman Sonic Digitizing System (Gel Mate 1000). DNA sequences were analyzed using the Delaney (Delaney Software Ltd.), and ESEE sequence alignment programs (Cabot and Beckenbach 1989). Gene identity was determined by sequence comparison with corresponding genes from several animal species. Sequence alignments presented in the figures were done with the ESEE program (Cabot and Beckenbach 1989). Transfer RNA genes were identified by eye, within sequences lying between protein genes and between ribosomal RNA and protein genes, from the ability of these sequences to fold into secondary structures characteristic of tRNAs, and from the trinucleotide in the anticodon position of the folded sequence.

The trees were constructed by the neighbor-joining method (Saitou and Nei 1987), using the DISTANCE and NEIGHBOR programs of version 3.4 of PHYLIP (Felsenstein 1989).

SECTION I

GENE ORGANIZATION OF MITOCHONDRIAL GENOME FROM *RIDGELA* (PHYLUM VESTIMENTIFERA)

INTRODUCTION

The mitochondrial genome of animals consists of very compact circular DNA molecule approximately 15-16 kilobases in length, which contains the genes for 22 tRNAs, small and large subunit ribosomal RNAs, and 12 or 13 proteins. Complete nucleotide sequences and gene content have been published for nine vertebrates, two sea urchin, an insect and two nematodes. In addition, most of the sequence of a bivalve mollusc, *Mytilis*, (Hoffmann et al. 1992), and partial mtDNA sequences from a number of other vertebrates and invertebrates have been obtained.

Data from invertebrate mitochondrial genomes reveal that many rearrangements, including inversions and transpositions, have occurred between those phyla. A gene rearrangement has been found by Desjardins and Morais (1990) in the chicken mitochondrial genome relative to other vertebrates. In Drosophila mtDNA, the gene arrangement differs from that found in most vertebrates. The urchin genome is characterized by a major rearrangement displacing the 16S RNA some distance from the 12S RNA gene with the ND1 and ND2 genes found between the ribosomal genes. In this arrangement, transcriptional polarity is uniform for both the ribosomal and ND1 and ND2 genes. In addition, this genome has many of its tRNAs clustered just 3' to the 12S RNA gene. Smith et al. (1989) found a major inversion event in sea star mtDNA. In this genome, a segment including the tRNA cluster, ND1, ND2, and 16S RNA genes, is inverted in relation to the sea urchin genome, and the transcriptional polarity of ND1, ND2, and 16S RNA genes are opposite to that of the 12S and COI genes. A recent report (Okimoto et al., 1992) shows that between mtDNAs of nematodes and Drosophila, and nematodes and mammals, extensive rearrangements involve almost all tRNA, rRNA, and protein coding

genes.

The genetic codes used by metazoan mitochondrial protein genes contain various modifications (Barrell et al. 1979; Barrell et al. 1980). In all metazoan mtDNAs, TGA specifies tryptophan rather than being a stop codon. In vertebrate mitochondrial protein genes, AGA and AGG are absent (Bibb et al. 1981) or are used as rare stop codons (Anderson et al., 1981; 1982; Roe et al., 1985). However, in *Drosophila yakuba* mtDNA, AGA (but not AGG) specifies serine and, in nematode, platyhelminth, and echinoderm mtDNAs both AGA and AGG specify serine (Wolstenholme and Clary 1985; Wolstenholme et al., 1987; Himeno et al., 1987; Garey and Wolstenholme 1989; Okimoto et al., 1992).

Both translation initiation and termination of metazoan mitochondrial protein genes have unusual features. Some mitochondrial protein genes in organisms from different metazoan phyla end in T or TA rather than a complete termination codon. UAA codons in mature transcripts of these genes are generated by precise cleavage from multicistronic primary transcripts, followed by polyadenylation (Ojala et al., 1981).

The polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is an *in vitro* method for amplifying DNA without the use of microorganisms (Saiki et al. 1985; Mullis et al. 1986). In five years since the development of PCR, this technology has been modified for many uses (Innes et al. 1990) and has essentially revolutionized molecular biology (Guyer and Koshland 1990). PCR allows the rapid selection, isolation and amplification of DNA regions of interest from small amounts of tissue and can be used to help prepare DNA for sequencing. Highly conserved regions of mtDNA, such as rRNAs, cytochrome b and other loci, are routinely being amplified via PCR technology to generate fragments of DNA.

Although many sequences of mitochondrial genomes from various vertebrates and invertebrates have been obtained, the information about mtDNA from members of the Phylum Vestimentifera has never been reported. Vestimentifera, and its sister taxon, Phylum Pogonophora, are almost exclusively deepwater animals. The first specimen of a pogonophoran was dredged from Indonesian waters in 1900. Since that time more than 100 species have been described and more are being discovered. In most texts dated before 1964, pogonophorans treated as oligomerous deuterostomes. However, the segmented setiferous rear part of the body, the similarity of the setae to those of annelids, and the segmentation of the mesoderm indicate a protostome position of the pogonophorans (and therefore, the vestimentiferans) and suggest that they are closely related to the Annelida. Siewing (1975) and Cutler (1975) both argue that pogonophorans should more properly be considered as an intermediate between deuterostomes and protostomes or to be on a separate line of evolution. Jones (1985) argues that the pogonophora and vestimentifera are not particularly close to annelids in respect to coelomic organisation. The phylogenetic relationships of these animals is still not clear.

Based on investigation of sequences for various mitochondrial functional genes from several animal species, I have developed a suite of primers for studying the gene organization of mitochondrial genome from *Ridgeia*, a genus found deep sea vents off the Pacific Coast of North America. Using these primers, several fragments coding three different functional classes of genes were amplified and sequenced. Although the complete sequence of the mitochondrial genome from this phylum has not been determined, partial sequence reveals that the gene organization, lengths of some genes, genetic code and the overall codon usage of this genome show some differences from those of published animal mitochondrial genomes. This genome exhibits a novel gene order, but bears certain similarities to those of *Drosophila* and of vertebrates.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The Polymerase Chain Reaction

Several pairs of primers were used for PCR amplification of *Ridgeia* mitochondrial DNA. The sequences for these primers are listed in Table 1. The location of the genes and PCR amplification and sequencing strategy for *Ridgeia* mitochondrial DNA are shown in Figure 1. Knowledge of conserved gene regions has one more very important utility, it allows us to choose so-called "universal" oligonucleotide primers for amplification via PCR. This is of critical importance in the study of species which have not yet been sequenced. Indeed, there are some very conserved regions in the sequences from different phyla, making it possible to base primers on these sequences. The first pair of primers, COIF and COIIIR, was used for amplification of a fragment of 1985 base pairs, which contains COI (part), COII, ATPase 8, COIII (most) and four tRNA genes. The second pair of primers, 12SF and 16SR, was used for amplification of a segment of 1600 base pairs, across 12S rRNA and 16S rRNA genes. The third pair of primers, COIF and COIIR, was used for amplification of a small segment across the COI and COII gene junctions. When the sequence of each end of these fragments was determined, new primers was designed for amplification and sequencing of remainder of the fragments.

In most work to date, PCR has been used to amplify short regions of DNA, usually a few hundred base pairs long. Since Taq polymerase is capable of efficiently amplifying regions of DNA up to 2 kb (Saiki et al., 1988, Higuchi et al., 1988, Li et al., 1988), I tried to amplify some longer fragments. The PCR amplification products for these fragments are shown in Figure 2. In each case, double strand mtDNA was amplified using PCR. As shown in

FIGURE 1.

Location of the genes and PCR amplification and sequencing strategy for *Ridgeia* mtDNA. Abbreviations of protein names are as used elsewhere in text. The transcriptional polarity is shown by arrows. The tRNAs are designated with the single-letter amino-acid code: N, asparagine; D, aspartic acid; Y, tyrosine; G, glycine; and V, valine. The names and sequences of PCR primers are listed in Table 1. PCR conditions are described in text. A. A fragment obtained by using a pair of primers COIF and COIIIR; B. A segment amplified by using a pair of primers 12SF and 16SR.

COIIF
COIF

Α.

۸ ۱

COIIIR COIII -> К С ATPase8-> Ω <-COIIR COII -> î z -- IOD

۱ ۷

в.

16SF -> 16S rRNA -> > 12S rrna -> 12SF1 12SF -> ->

<-16SR

20 b

FIGURE 2.

PCR products of the vestimentiferan mtDNA. Amplification products of mtDNA were analyzed by electrophoresis in a 1% agarose gel with ethidium bromide and photographed. Molecular weight markers (1 kilobase pairs, kb ladder) are as indicated (lane M). Lane A, B, C, D, E, and F are products amplified by using pairs of primers COIF and COIIR, COIF and COIIIR, COIIF and COIIIR, COIIIF and COIIIR, 12SF and 16SR, and CYTBF and CYTBR respectively. In all cases, double strand DNA was amplified.



Figure 2, the sizes of PCR products range from 0.5 kilobase (kb) to 2 kb in length. The longest fragment with PCR amplification is about 3.2 kb.

Recently Ponce and Micol (1992) developed PCR conditions allowing the efficient amplification of DNA segments of up to 6 kilobases. They changed the PCR buffer content and found the absence of KCl to be optimal for the amplification of DNA molecules in the range of 3-6 kilobases. In fact, using standard PCR buffer, I have amplified fragments of more than 3 kilobases of mitochondrial DNA. If this buffer system and appropriate primers are used, it may simplify study of the whole mitochondrial genome.

Sequence and Location of Structural Genes

A total of 4,114 base pairs from *Ridgeia* mitochondrial genome was determined. Figure 3 shows the complete nucleotide sequence of three fragments. Two of them were amplified by PCR. Another was a clone. As shown in Figure 3A, the fragment of 1,985 base pairs contains four open reading frames that, from comparisons of inferred amino acid sequences of mitochondrial genes from several species, were identified as the genes for COI (part), COII, ATPase 8, and COIII (most). Those sequences lying between the COI and COII genes, between the COII and ATPase 8 genes, and between the ATPase 8 and COIII genes can be folded into the characteristic secondary structures of mitochondrial tRNA genes containing anticodons expected for tRNA⁴⁹⁷, tRNA⁴⁹⁷, and tRNA⁴⁹⁷. All of the four protein genes and four tRNA genes would be transcribed in the same direction. The second fragment of 1,732 base pairs, shown in Figure 3B, codes for most of both ribosomal RNA genes (12S and 16S rRNAs) and tRNA⁴⁹¹ gene. The sequence between the two rRNA genes can also be folded into a characteristic secondary structure of mitochondrial tRNA genes.
FIGURE 3.

Nucleotide sequence of three coding regions from *Ridgeia* mitochondrial genome. The PCR amplification and sequencing strategy for these fragments is shown in Figure 1. The transcriptional polarity of individual genes is indicated by the arrows (->). Translation of the mitochondrial protein genes is indicated below the sequence using the single letter amino acid designations. Abbreviations of protein names are as used elsewhere in text. Stop codons are designated by asterisks. The limits of the tRNA genes are enclosed with brackets, and the anticodons are underlined. A. A fragment containing COI (part), COII, ATPase 8, COIII (part) and four tRNAs. B. A segment including part of the 12S rRNA, 16S rRNA and tRNA^{*4}. C. A clone of <u>HindIII</u> fragment coding cytochrome B gene (part).

S	S	I	G	A	F	' I	S	F	S	S	I	' L	F	F	' I	F	L	M	W	
AGA E	AGC A	CTT L	AGC A	TTC S	TCA Q	ACG. R	AGG G	TGT. V	ATT. L	AGC A	TTC	ACC	CCA H	TAT M	GCC	AAC T	AGC A	CTT	AGA E	120
ATG W	ACA) O	AGA E	AAC T	TCT L	TCC P	TCT	AGA D	СТА У	CCA H	CAT I	ATI F		AGA E	AAC T	AGG	TCT	AAT I	TAC T	TTC S	180
		_	_	_		_			(tR	NA ^{a:}	sn	>		_			-		
CCC' P	FTC/	ATT	CTC	AGC	ATC	TTC	TCT.	ATA	TAA(}	GCA COI	GAA	.GCC ·>	'AAT'	TTI	GGC	ALC	'I'AA	CT <u>G</u>	<u>'T'T</u> A	240
ATT	AGA	AGC	TAG	ТСТ	TCC	AGA	ССТ	GCT	TAĠ.	ATG M	GCC A	CAC H	TGA W	GGA G	Q	TTA L	ATA I	TTT F	CAA Q	300
GAC D	GCT(A	GCC A	TCA S	CCT P	ATC I	ATA I	ATT I	CAA' Q	TTA L	GTA V	GCT A	CTT L	CAC H	GAC D	CAC H	GCA A	CTT L	ACT T	ATT I	360
ATA I	ATC I	ATA I	GTT V	GTA V	TCT S	TTA L	GTT V	CTC L	TAT. Y	ATA I	CTI L	TAT Y	AGA R	ATC I	TTA L	ACT T	AAC N	AAG K	TTT F	420
ACA T	IGT(C	CGA R	ACA T	CTC L	CTA L	GAA E	GCA A	CAA Q	GAA E	ATT I	GAA E	ACC T	ATC I	TGA W	ACA T	GTT V	CTT L	CCT P	GCC A	480
ACA	ATT(T	CTA	GTC V	GTC V	CTT	GCC	CTC	CCT	TCC	CTT	CGC	CTT	CTC	TAC V	CTA	ATA I	GAC D	GAG E	ATC I	540
TCT	CAG		ACC	CTT	ACA	GTA	-	- ACA	ATT	GGG	CAI	CAA	TGA	- TAT	TGA	AGA	TAT	GAA	TAC	600
TCC	Q GAC	P FTC	T TTA	L AAC	T TTA	V GAA	K TTT(T GAT	ı TCT	G TAC	н атс	Q CTC	W CCT.	ı ACC	W GAA	GAA	ı CTT	CAA	I GAT	660
S	D	F		N	L	E	F	D	S	Y	M געע ג	L	P	T	E	E	L ACA	Q GAA	D GTC	720
GGA	E	F	R	L	L	E	V	D	H	R	I	V	I	P	M	Q	T	E	v	.20
CGA R	CTT(L	CTA L	GTA V	ACC T	GCT A	GCA A	GAC D	GTA V	ATT I	CAC H	TCA S	TGA W	TGT C	GTA V	CCT P	AGC S	CTA L	GGA G	ATC I	780
AAA K	CTA L	GAC D	GGA G	ATT I	CCG P	GGC G	CGC R	CTA L	AAC N	CAA Q	ACA T	ACC T	CTT L	TCT S	TTA I	AAC N	CGG R	CCA P	GGA G	840
ATT I	ITC F	ГАТ Y	GGC G	CAA O	TGC C	TCA S	GAA E	ATA' I	TGC C	GGA G	GCC A	CAAC N	CAC H	TCA S	TTT F	ATA I	CCA P	ATT I	GCC A	900
CTA L	GAA E	GTA V	ATT I	GAC D	CAT H	CCC P	TCC S	TTC. F	ACC T	CAA Q	TGA W	GTA V	ATA I	ACA T	TTT F	'AGA R	GAA E	{ TAG *	ААТ	960

CTCCTCAATCGGAGCATTCATTTCTTCTCCTCGCTGCTATTCTTCATTTTCCTTATGTG 60

A:

COI-->

23b

tRN. TCT.	A ^{asp} - AGT	> Гаа	ата	АТА	АТА	TAG	GAC	T <u>GT(</u>	<u>C</u> AG	ccc	таа	GTT	ACT	ала	TAT	AGT	GAA	TTC	} TGA	1020
ΑΤΡ	ase	8	>																	
ATG	CCT	САТ	ርጥል	ദററ	ርርሞ	ста	ል እ ጥי	гса	ል ጥ උ	സ്റ	ርጥር	ററന	രനന	መመረ	നനന	ጠጣ እ	ттС	TCC	ርሞል	1080
M	P	H	L	A	P	L	N	W	I	L	L	P	L	F	F	L	F	S	L	1080
CTT	TTA	CTC	GCT	TCA	ATT	ACC	FGA '	FGA	AAC	CAA	TTA	ATT	TCT	GTC	CCT	CAA	CTC.	ААА'	гст	1140
L	L	L	A	S	I	Т	W	W	N	Q	L	I	S	V (+	Р	Q tyr	L ->	. K	S	
AAA'	тсти	AAA	CAG	GCC	САТ	тсти	ATA	rcc	CCT	FGA	AAA	TGA	AAC	TAA	AAA	GAT	GGC	CGA	GTT	1200
K	S	K	Q	Α	H	S	I	S	Р	W	K	W	N	* 1	3					
ATA	GGCI	AGA	AGA	TT <u>G</u>	<u>TA</u> A'	TCC	FTC	CCA	CGGG	GCT	TTC	CCT	CTT	гтт	ACT	TTC	FCA	GTA'	TAA	1260
tRN	A ^{gly} -	>													1	co]	II.	>		
ATT	TGT	ACA	ATT	GCC	T <u>TC</u>	<u>C</u> AA	GCA	ATA	AGT	FTG	ACA	TTC.	AAA	GAA	AGT	AAT	GAT	CCG	CCA	1320
																M	I	R	Q	
ACC	TTTC	CCA	rgt.	ATT	AGA	ATA	FAG	ACCI	ATG	ACC	ATT	TCT	AGT	CGC	CGT	CGG	IGT	TTT	AGC	1380
P	F	н	v	L	Ε	Y	R	P	W	P	F	L	v	A	v	G	V	L	Α	
CAT	FAC	ATG	CGG	TGC	CGC	AGC	ATG	\TTT	ГСА	CAA	TCA	CGG'	TGC	сст	ATG	ссти	AAT	TAT	TGG	1440
I	Т	С	G	A	A	A	W	F	Н	N	Н	G	A	L	С	L	I	I	G	
TTT	AAC	ACT	FAC	CAC	TTT	AACI	rtc <i>i</i>	ATT	ГАТ	CTG	ATG	ACG	AGA	TGT	AAT	TCG'	rga	AGG	AAC	1500
L	Т	L	Т	Т	L	Т	S	I	I	W	W	R	D	V	I	R	E	G	Т	
TTA	rct <i>i</i>	AGG	CTT	CCA	CAG	ATC	[GT]	\GT I	ATCI	[AG]	AGG	GCT	ACG	CTG	AGC	AAT	AAT	TCA	ATT	1560
Y	L	G	F	H	R	S	V	V	S	R	G	L	R	W	A	I	I	Q	F	
TAT	rcti	TC	AGA	AGT	ACTO	CTTT	СТТС	CGC	AGCI	гтта	стто	CTĠ	AGG	CTT	CTT	rca	CAG.	AAG	гст	1620
I	L	S	E	V	L	F	F	A	A	F	F	W	G	F	F	Н	R	S	L	
GGC	ccci	[AC]	rcci	AGA	AAT	rggo	TGG	CACI	[TG]	ACCO	ccci	AAC	CGGI	AAT	TAA	ccc	FAT	CAA	ccc	1680
A	P	Т	P	Ε	I	G	С	Т	W	P	P	Т	G	I	N	P	I	N	P	
ATTO	стсо	сато	ccc	ссто	GCTZ		CAC	AGCO	CGTT	rcm	гсти	AGC	АТС	AGG	AGTO	CAC	AGT.	AAC'	TTG	1740
F	S	I	P	L	L	N	T	A	v	L	L	A	S	G	V	Т	V	Т	W	
AGC	CCAC	CAT	ľAG	GGT	AAT	AAA	CAAZ	ATCI	rcg <i>i</i>	AC	AGA	AAC	rct'	FCA	AGC	CCT	гтс	CCT	TAC	1800
Α	H	H	R	V	I	N	K	S	R	Т	Ε	Т	L	Q	A	L	S	L	Т	
AGT	AATO	CT	AGG	AGT	ГТА	CTTJ	[AC]	TTC	CTI	ICA/	AGCI	AGGI	AGA	ATA'	TAT	AGA	AGC	CCC	TTT	1860
V	I	L	G	v	Y	F	Т	L	L	Q	A	G	Ε	. Y	I	Ε	A	Ρ	F	
TAC	ГАТС	GCC	CGA	TAG	AGCO	CTAT	ופכי	ACC	сти	\ ጥጥባ	гጥልባ	ГGT	CTG	ГАС	AGG	CTT	CCA	CGG	CAT	1920
T	I	A	D	R	A	Y	G	Т	L	F	Ŷ	v	C	T	G	F	H	G	I	
ACAT	ГGTC	CT	AGT	CGGI	AAC	rat <i>i</i>	TTI	TT	ATCI	TAT	ATA	CTT	AATI	rcg.	AAC	ATT	rct.	ата	TCA	1980
н	37	Τ.	37	G	m	т	T.	т	C	Ŧ	v	т	Ť	D	ሞ	F	Т.	Y	н	

F.

24

GATACCCTTTTATATCTAGGCCCCAAAATTATCCAGGGCACTACAACCACGGTTTAAAAAC 180 CACAAAGAAATTGGCGGTACCTAAATCCAATCAGGGGAACCTGTCCTTTAACTCGAAAAT 240 TACCTCTTTGAATATACCTCAGCTTGTATACTGCCGTCGTCAGCCCACCATAAAAATGTA 300 CTTGAAAGTAATTAAAAGTAACATACTTTTATGAATATGGCAACCGAAGGTGTGCACACA 480 TCGCCCGTCACTCTCGCCGAAAGGGGAGATAAGTCGTAACATAGCAGGTGTAATGGAAAT 540 { tRNA^{val}--> TGTACCTTCAAAATACAGCATCTAAAGAATGCCTTTCACT<u>TAC</u>ACTGAAAAGAGAATTTT 600 > 16S rRNA--> TAAAATTTATTTGAAATATCCTAAACCCTCTATTTTTCTTTAAACTTGAATAAAAATCT 660 ATCTACAACTCTATCATCCCCAAATCTCCGCTATCTTAGTACTGCAAAGGAAATTATAAAT 720 TATTAATAAGTAAAAATAAAACCTTATACCTTCGTGCATTATGGCTTAGCAAGCCAACTC 780 TAATTCTAGCCTATCCCGAAATCTTCACGAGCTGATAAACATTTGTATAAGAACTCACTA 840 TAAAGGAAAAGCTCTATTATAAAAGCTAATTTCGAATCCTACCCCCTAAAGTAAGCTTAG 1020 ΑΑΑCTGCTAACTTTTAAATAACGTTATAGTATAAAAACTCTTTTTACAAAATCATAAACA 1080 ΤΤΑGΤΑΤΤCΑΤΤCCCTCCTACAACACCTATAAAACCCCCTTTCCCCCCAAAAATGAAATTC 1200 CTTATTATAAGGAACTCGGCAAATACAAGCTCCGACTGTTTAACAAAAACATTGCCTCTT 1260 GATTTATAAATAAGAGGTTCATCCTGCCCAATGACTTTAGTTCAATGGCCGCGGTACCCT 1320 GACCGTGCAAAGGTAGCATAATCACTTGCCCCCTTAATTAGGGGGCTGGCATGAATGGACAC 1380

TCTCGGAAATTATGGCTTCAGATAATAACCTTTTCAAAAGAAGTCTAATTCTATCAATAT 60

в.

TTTCT F

12S rRNA-->

ACGAAAGCTTAACTGTCTCATAATAACTAATAAAAATTAATCTTTAAGTGAAAAAGCTTA 1440 AATTCCATTGCAGGACAAGAAGACCCCGTTGAGCTTTATTCTCTATAGACCACCACTAAT 1500 ATTATACTATATCATAAACCTAAAAAAGAATTTAGTTGGGGTGACTAAGGAACATCAAAA 1560 TCTTCCTTTTATTAACCAGGGCTATTACCCAAAACAATTGACCCATAACCATGAACAAAA 1620 AAATAAGCTACCACAGGGATAACAGGCTAATCTTTCTCAAGAGGCCCAAATTGTCAGAAAG 1680 GATTGGCACCTCGATGTTGGCTTAGGGGCCCCTAATAGTGCAGAAGCTATTA 1732

c.

Hin	HindIII Cytochrome B> AAGCTTGCAACAATGGTTGCTCGGCGGTTATTCCGTGGGTAATCCAACGTTGCAACGCTT 60												60								
S			Q	Q	W	L	L	G	G	Y	S	V	G	N	P	T	L	Q	R	F	20
CTI	CTC	ccc	CTG	CAT	TAC	CTC	TTG	ССА	TTT	ATC	ATT	GCG	GCC	TTG	GTT	GGT	TTG	CAT	GTG	TG	120
F	' 2	3	\mathbf{L}	H	Y	L	L	Ρ	F	I	I	A	A	L	v	G	L	H	v	W	40
GGC	GCTGTGCATCATGTGGGACAAAACAACCCGATTGGCATCGACGTGAAAACCAAGGAAGA													180							
A	1	7	H	Н	V	G	Q	N	N	Р	I	G	I	D	v	К	Т	K	Е	D	60
CAC	CACATTATCCTTCCATCCTTATTACACCATGAAAGACGGGTTTGCGATTGCCGTGTTCTT												240								
I	· 1		S	F	H	Р	Y	Y	Т	M	к	D	G	F	A	I	A	v	F	F	80
тат	יקאי	րդղ	гтс	GCG	стс	ירידי	GTG	ттс	тат	СТС	CCA	GAC	GCG	CTT	GGA	CAT	GCA	GAC	AAT	TA	300
M	[]	C	F	A	L	F	v	F	Y	L	P	D	A	L	G	H	A	D	N	Y	100
тса	GCC	GGG	CT	GAT	сст	ATG	ААА	ACA	CCG	CCG	CAT	TTA	GTC	CCT	GAA	TGG	TAT	TTC	TTG	сс	360
C) F	2	A	D	P	M	ĸ	Т	Р	Р	Н	I	V	Р	Е	W	Y	F	\mathbf{L}	Ρ	120
	-									H	ind	III									
GTTCTACGCGATTTTACGAGCTGTGCCTGATAAGCTT												397									
F	נ י	ζ	A	I	\mathbf{L}	R	A	V	Р	D	K	\mathbf{L}									132

According to its anticodon, it is apparently tRNA^{ml}. The 12S and 16S rRNA genes and the tRNA^{ml} gene are transcribed in the same direction. The third sequence (397 base pairs) was from a clone containing a <u>HindIII</u> fragment. Comparison of this sequence with published sequences from other species show that the sequence codes for cytochrome B (centre part). The base composition of the protein and both rRNA genes from *Ridgeia* mitochondrial DNA is shown in Table 2. In all cases except for the cytochrome b gene, a low G content is found.

The majority of the protein genes and the rRNA genes are punctuated by at least one tRNA gene. These tRNAs are thought to serve as a recognition signal(s) for mitochondrial RNA processing (Ojala et al., 1981). Short intergenic sequences of variable length, from one to ten nucleotides, are found between tRNA^{**} and ATPase 8, and between the COI and tRNA^m genes. Some genes are contiguous, however, such as tRNA^m and COII, 12S rRNA and tRNArd, and tRNArd and 16S rRNA genes, while other genes apparently overlap. An overlap of 1-3 nucleotides is located between the stop codon of the ATPase 8 and tRNA^{by}. An apparent four-nucleotide overlap is found between two tRNA genes, tRNA^{br} and tRNA^{ey}. A one-nucleotide overlap between two tRNA genes, such as tRNA^{or} and tRNA^{by}, that are both L-strand encoded has been reported in human and amphibian mitochondria but is not observed in the bovine or mouse sequences. The two-nucleotide overlap is observed between tRNAth and the start codon of the COIII gene. In all cases, these short overlaps occur on the same strand. These observations indicate that, in some mitochondria, a single precursor RNA molecule could not, in principle, be processed to yield both of these tRNAs in their mature forms. Small overlaps also occur between some genes in vertebrate and invertebrate mtDNAs, the largest of which is a 40 to 46 nucleotide overlap of the 3' end

	Base composition % of total							
Gene	Guanine	Adenine	Thymine	Cytosine				
COI	12.8	25.5	32.6	29.0				
COII	14.6	31.6	27.9	25.9				
COIII	16.1	26.8	31.5	25.6				
ATPase8	6.8	27.2	35.2	30.9				
CytB	22.9	21.4	31.0	24.7				
12S rRNA	16.9	36.8	27.1	1 9.2				
16S rRNA	13.2	36.6	28.6	21.6				

Table 2. Base composition in Ridgeia (Phylum Vestimentifera) mitochondrial genes

of the ATPase 8 gene and the 5' end of the ATPase 6 gene in vertebrates and most invertebrate genomes (Anderson et al., 1981; Smith et al., 1990).

Genomic Organization

Comparison of the fragment containing COI, COII, ATPase 8, COIII, and four tRNA genes with corresponding regions from different species reveals that the organization of *Ridgeia* mitochondrial DNA is different from those of vertebrates and other invertebrates (Figure 4). In particular, the two protein genes, ATPase 6 and ATPase 8 are not adjacent in *Ridgeia*. As shown in Figure 4, in both vertebrates and invertebrates where the ATPase 8 gene is present, these two genes are always contiguous and partially overlapping. These two genes are translated in different reading frames on the same strand. In the vestimentiferan, the ATPase 6 gene was not found between the ATPase 8 and COIII genes, and as a replacement, the two tRNA genes, tRNA^{by} and tRNA^{by} are located between the The ATPase 8 gene in Ridgeia mitochondria has an ATPase 8 and COIII genes. independent and complete reading frame and a set of orthodox mitochondrial initiation and termination codons, although all three nucleotides of the stop codon overlap with tRNA⁵⁷ gene. The ATPase 8 gene was not located in either of two nematode mtDNAs (Okimoto et al., 1992), nor in the mollusc, Mytilus (Hoffmann et al., 1992).

Further analysis of gene organization reveals that the kind and number of tRNA genes lying between protein genes are quite different. For example, between the COI and COII genes, in the vestimentiferan and *Drosophila yakuba* there is one tRNA gene, but in the vestimentiferan it is tRNA^{sen}, while *Drosophila* has tRNA^{sen}. In vertebrates, there are two tRNA genes, having opposite direction of transcription. In both sea urchin and sea star, this

FIGURE 4.

A comparison of gene order in linear mitochondrial molecules containing COI to COIII genes. Abbreviations of protein names are as used elsewhere in text. The tRNAs are designated with the single-letter amino-acid code. The transcriptional polarity of tRNAs from Phylum Vestimentifera are shown in Fig. 3. A. Phylum Vestimentifera; B. *Drosophila yakuba*; C. sea urchin and sea star; D. vertebrate.

A. VESTIMENTIFERA

	COIII	
┝	ڻ ن	
$\left \right $	х	
	ATP8	
F	Ω	
	COII	
Ľ	N	
	COI	

B. DROSOPHILA

	COILI
	ATP6
	D ATP8
ł	X
	COII
l	Ч
	COI

C. SEA URCHIN AND SEA STAR

COIII	
ATP6	
ATP8	
K	
COII	
ND4L	
Ц	
COI	

D. VERTEBRATES

	COIII	
	ATP6	
	K ATP8	
	COII	
	Δ	_
┡	ŝ	_
	COI	

region includes one tRNA gene and the ND4L gene, but the ND4L and COII genes are contiguous. In the region between the COII and ATPase 8 genes, *Drosophila* consists of both a tRNA¹⁹⁷ and tRNA¹⁹⁷ genes. Vertebrates, sea urchin, sea stars, have only tRNA¹⁹⁷. In the vestimentiferan, the tRNA¹⁹⁷ was not found, only the tRNA¹⁹⁷ is located in this region.

The sequence of a fragment across the small and large rRNA genes and tRVA^{***} gene was determined (Figure 3B). The gene order in the vestimentiferan is small rRNA-tRNA^{****} -large rRNA, all transcribed in the same direction, as in vertebrate (Roe et al., 1985; Desjardins and Morais 1990) and *Drosophila* (Clary and Wolstenholme 1985) mitochondria genomes. This gene order is different from that of sea urchin (Jacobs et al., 1988; Cantatore et al., 1989). The two ribosomal genes 12S and 16S are separated by the ND1, ND2, and a cluster of 15 tRNA genes (Jacobs et al., 1988; Cantatore et al., 1989). In the sea star, both ribosomal RNA genes are punctuated by two tRNA genes. The transcriptional polarity of the rRNA genes is opposite (Smith et al., 1989).

Protein-Coding Genes

Similarities of the nucleotide sequences and predicted amino acid sequences of the five vestimentiferan mitochondrial protein genes and the corresponding genes of mouse, frog, *Drosophila yakuba*, sea urchin and *C. elegans* are summarized in Table 3. The degree of similarity of the different protein coding genes with their vertebrate and invertebrate homologues shows a broadly similar pattern of relative conservation. The degree of conservation for the nucleotide sequences and amino acid sequences of these protein genes is COII>COIII>Cyt B>COI>ATPase 8. It should be noted that the degree of similarity of the COI gene with its counterparts is comparatively low. The probable reason may be

		Protein genes	s of <i>Ridgeia</i> (1	Phylum Vestim	nentifera)
	COI	COII	COIII	CytB	ATPase 8
Species	N% A%	N% A%	N% A%	N% A%	N% A%
YAKUBA	51.9 41.5	62.4 60.1	63.5 59.1	52.9 48.5	49.7 33.3
MOUSE	56.5 44.6	63.5 59.6	60.2 53.8	55.5 52.3	48.8 29.6
FROG	47.7 30.8	63.0 59.2	62.7 60.0	52.4 48.5	44.6 31.5
URCHIN	52.9 43.1	61.1 57.5	58.6 52.9	51.7 43.2	43.6 20.4
NEMATODE	36.9 23.1	47.6 42.1	49.1 41.8	45.0 40.2	
MEAN	49.2 36.6	59.5 55.7	58.8 53.5	51.5 46.5	46.7 28.7

Table 3. Similarities between mitochondrial protein genes in different taxa

Notes: N%: Nucleotide sequence similarity %.

i.

A%: Amino acid sequence similarity %.

that only the 3' end of this gene was obtained and compared. The 3' end region of the COI gene is the most variable region within this gene (see below). It is also noted that the relative degree of similarity of the nucleotide sequence for ATPase 8 gene with its counterparts is 46.7%, which is the highest similarity reported for this gene for members of different phyla, although the amino acid sequence of this gene shows a lower similarity. It is surprising that when the nucleotide sequence of the ATPase 8 gene is compared with that of *Drosophila yakuba*, 49.7% similarity is observed.

Each of the polypeptides is encoded in the same economical fashion as the corresponding mitochondrial genes of other animals, exhibiting a complete absence of non-coding nucleotides within genes. In at least one gene (COI), the stop codon is absent and is presumably supplied by post-transcriptional polyadenylation at a 3' terminal uridine residue.

Alignment of the vestimentiferan nucleotide sequences and inferred amino acid sequences with those present in *Drosophila yakuba*, mouse, frog, sea urchin and nematode mtDNAs is shown in Figures 5 and 6.

Alignment was carried out by first conducting all pairwise alignments of the inferred amino acid sequences using the Align program (Pearson and Lipman, personal communication), then comparing the pairwise alignments among all six sequences to minimize the total number of insertion/deletion events required. For most sequences, little adjustment of the optinal pairwise alignments was required. For the most divergent sequences, those of the nematode, *C. elegans*, the alignments provided by Okimoto et al. (1992) with *Drosophila* and mouse were used. Finally, the amino acid sequence alignments (Figure 6) were transferred to the nucleotide sequences (Figure 5). The COII gene of *Ridgeia* differs in size by the addition of three nucleotides (one amino acid codon) compared

FIGURE 5.

A comparison of the nucleotide sequences of vestimentiferan and other animal mitochondria: A. COI; B. COII; C. ATPase 8; D. COIII; and E. Cyt B. The comparisons include *Ridgeia* (Rp), *Drosophila yakuba* (Dy), mouse (Mm), frog (Xl), sea urchin (Sp) and nematode (Ce). All nucleotide sequences from the vestimentiferan were aligned so as to maximize the alignment of sequences conserved in the other genomes. Nucleotide identities to vestimentiferan are indicated by dots. Gaps are indicated by dashes.

A. COI

Rr	CTCCTCAATC	GGAGCATTCA	тттстттстс	CTCGCTGCTA	TTCTTCATTT	TCCTTATGTG	60
Dy	GTA.TT	GTACT.	AA.T	AGGAA.TT	TTT.C.	ATAT	
Mm	TTA	TT .	AC.AA.	AG.TG.TC	AA.GC.	.TA.AT	
X1	AT	GT.CA.	C.TGT	TG.CG.AA.T	A.GA.AA.	AC	
Sp	T	TAC	.CCG.AGT	GG.TA	TC.C.	T.AC	
Ce	TGTTAT	TT.TA.T.	AGAACTG.	AGGAAT.C	AT	ATG.AT.A.T	
Rp	AGAAGCCTTA	GCTTCTCAAC	GAGGTGTATT	AGCTTCACCC	CATATGCCAA	CAGCCTTAGA	120
Dy	AGT	.TG	CAAA.	TTA.CATT	AT.AAATT	T.TA.T	
Mm	GT	AA	AAA.	.T.AGT.T.G	TGCTT	AAT	
X1	AT	AGA	AATAC	CAACGAA	TTA.CAT	.CATAG	
Sp	GC	• • • • • • • • • •	.G.AA.G.A.	CA.CCGAG	TTCTCA.ACG	.CT.AC	
Ce	GT.TC	TT.AG.T.T.	.TTTAA.	TAGAGATTAT	TTCTAAT.	G.AGACCT	
Rp	ATGACAA	GAAACTCTTC	CTCTAGACTA	CCACATATTC	CAAGAAACAG	GTCTAATTAC	177
Dy	T.T.T	CA.ACA.	.C.CCTG.	AT.GAT	TCTTT.C	CATT.A	
Mm	TT	C.TGGCTGC.	C.CCA	TC	G.GCA	CCTATG.A.A	
X1	GTT	CGGCTGC.	.CACTCCT	T.CCG	A.GACC.GCC	TCG.TCAA.T	
Sp	GCAAT.C	ACCT.CT	.C.CTTCTC.	CC	G.TC	CCTCT.CC.T	
Ce	G.ATTGT	ATG.G.AA.T	A.GTTTGG	TGT.AT	GTCTGAGA	T.TATTG	
Rp	ттссссттса	TTCTCAGCA					196
Dy	AAAT						
Mm	AGTAAAA						
V 1							

X1	CAAA.CA.	A.AATTAA.
Sp	AATTAT.GT.	AAG
Ċe	AA.TAAG.	AAA.AAT

B. COII

Rp	ATGGCCCACT	GAGGACAA	-TTAATATTT	CAAGACGCTG	CCTCACCTAT	CATAATTCAA	57
Dy	T.TACA.	CTA.T	GGTA	TAGA.	.TTT.	AGGAA	
Mm	T.C	C.TTC	-C.TGGTC.A	CA	.AC	TGAAG.G	
X1	AC	C.TC	GGT	A.	TA.	TGAAG	
Sp	GAACT.	CG	TGGTC.A	TAT	CC.	TGGAGG.G	
Ce	TAATA.T.	TTTTTGG	A.AT.ATA	.T.TTTCAGC	ATAGTTTAT.	TGCT.G.T.T	
Rp	TTAGTAGCTC	TTCACGACCA	CGCACTTACT	ATTATAATCA	TAGTTGTATC	TTTAGTTCTC	117
Dy	A.TTT.T	TT	TT.ATTA	TG.A.	AAC.GT	AAGGA	
Mm	CA.AA.T	.CTT	.AA.TA	G.TTC	AAGC	CC	
X1	C.TCACT	.CTT.	TA.CC.TA	GCCG.TT.TC	.TAAGTA.	GCT	
Sp	C.CAC.TACT	.CTT.	TT.A.T.	G.AC.T.C.C	.CAAC.AT	ACT	
Ce	AATTGAT	TAGGTT	TAATTGG.	T.AT.GT.GG	GTGT	GTACT	

34b

Ţ

TATATACTTT AT---AGAAT CTTAACTAAC AAGTTTACAT GTCGAACACT CCTAGAAGCA Rp 174 ...T..A.G. T.---.T.T. A..TTT...T ..T.A.GT.A A....TTT.. TT..C.T.G. Dy MmCA.C. CG---CT... A.....A.CA ..AC.A...C A.AC..GCAC AA....T... X1 ..C..TA..A C.---.TT.. AA.....CT ..AC.A..TA A.AC..AC.. AA.G..C... ...GGGT.AG T.---TCCT. GC.TGTATC. TCTAA...TA AC...TTTT. .T.T..G.G. Sp Се .TAT.GT..G GATATTT... T..TGG..CT TTT.A.TTTA AAA...A.AA AA.T..GTAT CAAGAAATTG AAACCATCTG AACAGTTCTT CCTGCCACAA TTCTAGTCGT CCTTGCCCTC Rp 234 DyCTT....TA...T.TA.....C ...A...T.TT. ...T..AT. TA.....T..TG.....T....T.....TA....A ..A..TGT....C..TA..A. AA....T... MmG...C.TAG.G..TA...A.A ...A...T.TT. GC...CA...A. AA......T X1GT.A.A..T..GA..TCT.. .CT..A..T. AA......T Sp Се ..GTTTGG.. ..TTAT.G.. T.GTA..T.. ..AA.T.TT. ..T..T.AA. A.AAATAG.T CCTTCCCTTC GCCTTCTCTA CCTAATAGAC GAGATCTCT- --CAGCCCAC CCTTACAGTA Rp 291 DyAT.A. .AT.A..T.. TT..T....T ..A..TAA.- --G.A..AT. AG.A..TT.. ..C..T..A. ..A....A.. TA..... ..A...AAC- --A.C...GT AT.A..C..T Mm X1C. AA..C..T..G... ...G.TAAA- --G.C...TT .T.G..TA.T Sp СеA....A .G....T.A.. TTATTAC.GA TTA..AAA.T TAG.TAGA.A TT.A.....T AAAACAATTG GGCATCAATG ATATTGAAGA TATGAATACT CCGACTTCTT AAACTTAGAA Rp 351 Dy MmC..A.C..... ...C....C ...C....TA .T....ATGA .G..C..TGC X1 ...G....C. .C..C..... ...C....C ...C....TA .TA...ATGA GG.TC.CTC. ...GG.GT.C. .T.....G.. ...C..... ..C...G...A .G......AA .G..C.T... Sp Се TTTGATTCTT ACATGCTCCC TACCGAAGAA CTTCAAGATG GAGAATTCCG CTTATTAGAA Rp 411 DyA. .T..AA.T.. ...AA.T... T.AGC.AT.. AT.G...T.. A......CA. .T..AA.... A..AA.C..C ..AA..CC.. .T...C.A.. AC.GC..... Mm X1C..... T...AA.T.. A..TA.T..CACCCC.. ..C...... GC.GC..... ..C..C......T...G.A..TC....C G..TCCTT.. .TA.CCC... SpC......T..AAAAT. ACTA..TC.. T.AAGTTTA. .T...CCA.. T..... Се Rp GTAGACCATC GAATAGTAAT TCCCATGCAA ACAGAAGTCC GACTTCTAGT AACCGCTGCA 471 Dy ..T..TA... ..G..A.TT. A..A..AA.T T..C..A.T. ..A..T.... ...A..C... ..T..TA.C. ..G.C..TC. G..A..AG.. CTTCC.A... .TA.AT..A. TT.AT...A. Mm X1 ..T..TA...G. C..A..AG.. T.TCC.AC..T.... T..A..C.A. ..G...A.C. ..T.G..CC. ACCCCA.A. ..G..... GT..T.... Sp Се ..T..TA... .TTGT..T.. ...TTGTG.T ..TA.CA.T. .TT..TGTA. T..AT....T GACGTAATTC ACTCATGATG TGTACCTAGC CTAGGAATCA AACTAGACGG AATTCCGGGC Rp 531 DyCC.C.GC A..C..CTC.C.T. ..ACT..T.C C..C..A... Mm X1CC.C.G...GCCTC. T.G..TG... ..AC...T.C ...C..A..A Sp ..T...C.A.C...GC ...T..CTC. ..T...CT. .GA.G..T.C .G.C..A..A Се ..T..T.... .TG.T..GGC AT..AA.TCT T..TCTG.A. ..T....T.C T..AAGA..A

кр	LGLLIAAALL	AAALAALLLI	TICIATIAAC	CGGCCAGGAA	IIIICIAIGG	CCAAIGCICA	- 591
Dy	ATT.	T.ATT.	T	AGT	.AT	ΤΤ	
Mm	AT.	GAG.	AA.ATCA	AGT	.A	T	
X1	ATC.T.	T.AT.	.AT.GCCT	TGG	.ATC	AT	
Sp	C	.GCAT.	C.T.GCAGCT	CAG	.G	GC	
Ċe	ATTTGAA	C.TTT.GTTA	CAGGTCCT	ATAGTGG	T	ΤΤ	
Rp	GAAATATGCG	GAGCCAACCA	CTCATTTATA	CCAATTGCCC	TAGAAGTAAT	TGACCATCCC	651
Dy	T	.GTT	TAGTG	TAA	.TAGTG.	.CCTGTAAAT	
Mm	TT.	T.T	TAGCG	CT	A.GG.	.CCA.TAAAA	
X1	T	A	.AGC	TAG	.TC.G.	ACCG.TAA	
Sp	T	.GT	TAGCG	A.TTA	GTCTG.	GCCATT.AAT	
Ce	GTT.	AT	TAGT	TT	GC	ATTATTGGAT	
Rp	TCCTTCACCC	AATGAGTAAT	AACATTTAGA	GAA			684
Dy	AATT.TTA	A.TTC	T.G.AAAT	TCT			
Mm	.ATGAAA	.CTCTGC	TTA.A.TT				
X1	GATGAAA	.CTCTTC	.TA.ACT.	GCA			
Sp	ATGAAA	.CT.C	TCAACTT.	GAA			
Ce	AATT.AAA	GTGTT.	TGGTACT.				

.....

^

C. ATPase 8

Rp	ATGCCTCATC	TAGCCCCTCT	AAATTGAATC	стсстссстс	TTTTCTTTTT	ATTCTCCCTA	60
Dy		AAA.	T.GAT.A	T.AATT.A	G.TC	TA.TA.AT.T	
Mm	AA.	ATA.ATC	CAT.T	AACAAT.A	.C.CA.CAA.	.A.TA	
X1	AGT	AAAGG	CCCAT	AATAA	.CT.CC.G	.C.TGTT	
Sp	GAA.	AATT.GC	TTGA	G.AAA.TT.T	CCCAG	.GCTG	
•							
Rp	CTTTTACTCG	CTTCAATTAC	CTGATGAAAC	CAATTAATTT	CTGTCCC	TCAACTCAAA	117
Dy	AT.TT	GA	T.AT.ATTCA	T.TACCAA	TCA	.ATCTT	
Mm	TA.CT.AT	T.CA.C.A.A	AGTC.C.TCA	AC.T.CC	.AC.GGCA	.TCCA	
X1	T.AAC.T.TA	TCCCCA.A	AGTT.TA	CAA.GCA.	T.AATGAA	AACTACAC	
Sp	T.AAGA	TCT.ACT	A.T.AAT.G.	TTTCC.CC.A	ACAG.GCGGG	TC.TCT	
•							
Rp	TCTAAATCTA	AACAGGCC	-CATTCTATA	TCCCCTTGA-	AAATG	AAAC	162
Dy	GAATT.AAA.	.TATTAATTT	AA	AAC			
Mm	ACT.A.A.	CCATAAAAGT	AA.A	AG	AATTA	CGAAAATC	
X1	A.C.C.GAA.	TCTAAACC	TA.C	A	ACTGACC	C	
Sp	TCCTA.	CTTTAAAA	-A.GA.C.C.	A.TAA	C	.CTA	
-							
Rp							
Dy							
Mm	TATTTGCCTC	ATTCATTACC	CCAACAA				
X1							

36

-

D. COIII

Rp Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	ATGATCC TCT.CA. C GCA. GCTA	GCCAA A.TC.AATCA AACTCA AGCACA TTCA AT.TTTCA	-CCTTTCCAT CT TG.A.ATC CG.C.AC CA.AT TAAT	GTATTAGAAT TG.TT. AG.TA.TC AG.CCC TGCC A.TAG.C	ATAGACCATG C CAT CCCT .AC T.TC.AGG.A	ACCATTTCTA TAAC. AACT C.AACG CAGAC TGA.AAT	51
Rp Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	GTCGCCGTCG .GTTA.T. .GAT.TT .GAT.A. .GAAT.TA T.ATTTT.T.	GTGTTTTAGC .A.C.A.A. CA.CCC.CCT CA.C.C.CT .A.GCAT CCTCAGCC.G	CATTACATGC A.C.GTCA TC.ACA .CCA GGT.CA AGTT.A.A	GGTGCCGCAG ATA.T.A CTA.T.A CTA.TA CAAT.TA TC.TTA.T.A	CATGATTTCA A T T T GC TTTA.	CAATCACGGT TC.AT.T.A. .TA.TTCA .TT.GGATCA T.CCAAAG ATT.GGACTA	111
Rp Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	GCCCTATGCC ATTTCTAT ATTAC.CTAT ATAA.TCTTT A.TAAT.TAA TA.GATAT	TAATTATTGG .TT.AT.A CCC CCC.A CTT.AG.A .TTAC	TTTAACACTT .AAT.TTA CCCTCACC CCTTAC. CTTT.T.A ACTTTTC.	ACCACTTTAA T.T .AT.TCC.C. .TAGTAC TTA.TAAC GTGTTAT.	CTTCAATTAT .AGTTTA.CA .AAT.TA.CA ATCA AAATGGA TTTGC	CTGATGACGA A A A GC TG.TAAG	171
Rp Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	GATGTAATTC TTCA. C A A.TGC.A	GTGAAGGAAC .A .A .AA.G.CC.A TATTT	TTATCTAGGC C.AA CC.AA A.TC.AA C.TAG AAGAT	TTCCACAGAT AT.CT. CACTC CATCTC AGACTG .AT.AT.	CTGTAGTATC AC.CA. A.TCA .ACCCTCA A.TAA T.T.CTAT	TAGAGGGCTA TTTT A.AA A.AAT A.AGAA.G AGACT.T	231
Rp Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	CGCTGAGCAA AG A.AT.GT. A.AT.G A.AT.GC. AAA.TC.G.G	TAATTCAATT TT C.T .GC.T TT	TATTCTTTCA T.A CCG.CG ACA AACC .G.GTAGG	GAAGTACTCT TT.A. T.T. GTTG GT.TA.A.	TTTTCGCAGC T.TTAG .CTG .CTATT.G TTTC .CTTTTG	TTTCTTCTGA ATT A A CTTG .A.TT	291
Rp Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	GGCTTCTTTC .CAT .CGA. .CAT.ACA .CC. ACATG	ACAGAAGTCT .TT. .TTCTC. .TCCT. .TAT. .TGCTGC	GGCCCCTACT AT.TAG.A C.TAAA AA ACT.C A.TAAGTA	CCAGAAATTG ATTT.A. .ATTC.A. TATT.A. GTTA. .ACGT.G.	GGTGCACTTG .AGCTT.A .AGTGC GAATGC GTAG.A .AGAG	ACCCCCAACC TT.TG TA GAA G.GA .T.ATTTT	351
Rp Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	GGAATTAACC TTT TCA. A.C GCT	CTATCAACCC .AT.TT .AC.T .AT.A .CC.T TAG.TT.	ATTCTCCATC TCAAT TC.AGAAG TGAAG.T TCTAG.T TGGTG.A	CCCCTGCTAA TT.AT AAT. ATT TAT GT.AT	ACACAGCCGT .TTA. .TTT.A. .AG. .TATTA.	TCTTCTAGCA TT AAT.T T.T .T.ATAGG	411

TCAGGAGTCA CAGTAACTTG AGCCCACCAT AGGGTAATAA ACAAATCTCG AACAGAAACT Rp 471 DyT.T.T..T..T... ..AT.....G .A.G.AA..A TT..C.....T..TT ..A.T..A.. ...T..T... ..CC.T...G .AGGTAAA.. ..ACC.C.TA Mm X1T. .T..C..A.. ...T..... ..CA.C..GC .TGGCGA... ..A....G.A SpT. .TT...GA.. GT.....C ...AA.TC..G CAGGGAA... ...T...T. Се Rp CTTCAAGCCC TTTCCCTTAC AGTAATCCTA GGAGTTTACT TTACTTTCCT TCAAGCAGGA 531 AC.....GAT .A.TTT.... ...TT.A..T ..GA....T. .C..AA.TT. A.....TTAT Dy Mm AA..... ACTAA.... CA.T..A... ...C..... .C..CA.... C....TTC. X1 A.....T.A. .AA.TT.A.. CA.TC.T..T ...C....T.AGC...CAT. Sp A.....A. .A.TT..G.. ...GGCT..C ...TAGG..T.CGCG.. ...G..GT.. Се AC.A.TAGTA .AATTT.A.. .TGTT.AT.G .C..C...T.AGGAA.TT.AT. Rp GAATATATAG AAGCCCCTTT TACTATCGCC GATAGAGCCT ATGGTACCCT ATTTTATGTC 591 DyT.T..A..T..T ...TC..TT.T.AAC T.....A.G MmCT.T. ..A.AT.A.. CT.C..TT.A ...G.TAT..T.TACC.TCA.G X1TAC.A.. ...A..T..A ...G...TG. .C..AT.AACT...A SpT. .C....A.. ...C..T...T.TT.CT..AC C..C.T...T Се Rp TGTACAGGCT TCCACGGCAT ACATGTCCTA GTCGGAACTA TATTTTATC TATATACTTA 651 Dy GCC..T..A.T..AG. T....T... A.T....A. CT..C....T AG...GT... Mm GC...T..A.T..AC. C.....AA.T A.T...T.A. C...CC.TAT .G.T.G.C.. X1 GCA..T..T.TC. T....A.T A.T..CT.ATCC.... .G.T.GTC.T GC.....A. .T..T..TC. C..G..AA.T A.A....A. CT..CC.CAT GG...G.C.. Sp .C...G..A. .T....A.. T.....T.G TGT..TGG.T .G..C...G. AT.TA.T..T Ce 675 Rp ATTCGAACAT TTCTATATCA TTTC Dy T.A..TCAT. .AAATA.... ...T Mm C.A...CA.C .AAA..T... C... X1 C....CA.A ...A..... C... T....G...TG CAGGCCGC...C... Sp

E. Cyt B

Се

T.A..TCTTC .AAA.A.... ...T

Rp	AAGCTTGCAA	CAATGGTTGC	TCGGCGGTTA	TTCCGTGGGT	AATCCAACGT	TGCAACGCTT	60
Dy	.GAAGT.	AAT	GAAA.T	.G.TA.A.	G.TT.	.AACTA	
Mm	C.C.AGTC	GAA.TT	GAGC.T	CAA.AC	AG.CC.	ACCA	
X1	CGTAC.AGTC	AAGTT	.AAA.T	CTA.A.	CG.CT.	.AACCA	
Sp	T.TTA.AGTT	GAAT	GAGA.T	CC.AC	AG.CCC	.TACCA	
Ce	CTA.TGTT	ACTAA.TT	GAA.AT	.GGTTACA	GGGGA.	.AATT	
Rp	CTTCTCCCTG	CATTACCTCT	TGCCATTTAT	CATTGCGGCC	TTGGTTGGTT	TGCATGTGTG	120
Rp Dy	CTTCTCCCTG TA.AT.T	CATTACCTCT	TGCCATTTAT	CATTGCGGCC TGCTTT	TTGGTTGGTT A.AAC.ATAA	TGCATGTGTG .TC.ACT	120
Rp Dy Mm	CTTCTCCCTG TA.AT.T G.TT.C	CATTACCTCT TTA.T. C.T.A	TGCCATTTAT .AT	CATTGCGGCC TGCTTT TC	TTGGTTGGTT A.AAC.ATAA C.A.CAATCG	TGCATGTGTG .TC.ACT .TCC.CCT	120
Rp Dy Mm X1	CTTCTCCCTG TA.AT.T G.TT.C G.AT.T	CATTACCTCT TTA.T. C.T.A C.TC	TGCCATTTAT .AT .A	CATTGCGGCC TGCTTT TC TC.GA	TTGGTTGGTT A.AAC.ATAA C.A.CAATCG GCTAGCAT.C	TGCATGTGTG .TC.ACT .TCC.CCT .CC.T.T	120
Rp Dy Mm X1 Sp	CTTCTCCCTG TA.AT.T G.TT.C G.AT.T TTCT.T	CATTACCTCT TTA.T. C.T.A C.TC C.TT.	TGCCATTTAT .AT .A .TT .CC	CATTGCGGCC TGCTTT TC TC.GA AAA	TTGGTTGGTT A.AAC.ATAA C.A.CAATCG GCTAGCAT.C A.CG.T.A	TGCATGTGTG .TC.ACT .TCC.CCT .CC.T.T .ACT.AGT	120
Rp Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	CTTCTCCCTG TA.AT.T G.TT.C G.AT.T TTCT.T TTGTAT.A	CATTACCTCT TTA.T. C.T.A C.TC C.TT. TTT.A.	TGCCATTTAT .AT .A .TT .CC	CATTGCGGCC TGCTTT TC TC.GA AAA TCTA.TT	TTGGTTGGTT A.AAC.ATAA C.A.CAATCG GCTAGCAT.C A.CG.T.A A.TATTGG	TGCATGTGTG .TC.ACT .TCC.CCT .CC.T.T .ACT.AGT GT.AAT	120

38

GGCTGTGCAT CATGTGGGAC AAAACAACCC GATTGGCATC GACGTGAAAA CCAAGGAAGA 180 Rp ATT.T.A... .. AACA...T CT..T.... T....TT.A A.TTCT..T. TTG.TA..AT Dy CTTCC.C..C G.AACA...T C..... A.CA..AT.A A..TCAG.TG .AG.TA..AT Mm ATT.C.C..C G.AACT...T C..CA..... A.C...AT.A A..TCAG.CC .AG.TA...T X1 ATTCC.C..C A.CAGA...G CC..... TT...C.T.. A.AAGC..CT ATG.CA.G.C Sp TTT.T.A..C AGAACT..TA G..CATCTAG .T.ATATTG. C...GTG.TT ATG.TA...T Се Rp CACATTATCC TTCCATCCTT ATTACACCAT GAAAGACGGG TTTGCGATTG CCGTGTTCTT 240 TC.T----- ..T..C..A. .C.T...AT. T..G..TATT G.A.GAT..A TT..AA.AA. Dy TC..---- ..T..C..C. .C..T..A.. C.....TATC C.A.GT..CC TAA.CA.A.. Mm AC.T-----C..A. .C.T.T.TTA C.....CTT ..A.GCT.CC TTA.TA.AC. X1 .C.T-----CAT.. .C.T...G.C C..G...ACA G.C.G.T..A TTC.T..GG. Sp TTGT----- ...TAGA...G .G...TTAGG T.....T.CT .A.AAT---A TT..TA.T.G Се TATGATTTTC GCGCTGTTTG TGTTCTATCT CCCAGACGCG CTTGGACATG CAGACAATTA 300 Rp .T.T...C.A ATTTCA..A. .T..AAT.AG A...A.TTTA T.G...G.CCT..C.T Dy CT.A...C.. ATAACCC.A. .A..A.T.T.ATA ..A...G.CCC.. Mm ..CAGCAC.T A.T..CC.A. CCA.A.T.TCA..CTT T.A...G.CCT X1 AGCCGCAC.A TTTAGC..A. CCC..CTAT. T..T.G...C ..AAA.G.CCG..A.T Sp AT.AT.A..T ATTG....AA G...GAT.TA ...GTTTAAT T.A..TG...G.TG.T Се TCAGCGGGCT GATCCTATGA AAACACCGCC GCATATTGTC CCTGAATGGT ATTTCTTGCC 360 Rp .ATT.CT... A.....T.AG T.....AG. T..C...CAA ..A....A.T..ATT Dy CATA.CA... A....AC.A. .C..C..A.. C.....AAA ..C....A.C.ATT Mm .ACC.CA... A.....C.A. TC..C..T.. A.....AAA ..A....A. .C...C.ATT X1 CATT.CT..A A.C..AC..G TG..T..C.. A..C...CAG ..A..... .C....ATT Sp .ATTGAA... ..C.....A. TG.GG..AGT T.....T ..A..G..A.T..ATT Се 397 GTTCTACGCG ATTTTACGAG CTGTGCCTGA TAAGCTT Rp TGCT.....AC.T..TT .AA.T...A.AT.A Dy TGCA.....CCT .AA.C..CA. ...A..A Mm X1 CGC.....T ..CC.T...T .CA.A---A. C..A..A CGC.....C ...C.G...T ..A.C..CA. C...T.A Sp TGCT..T..AG..T. ..A.T..AA. ...AG.C Ce

39

FIGURE 6.

Inferred amino acid sequences of the vestimentiferan mitochondrial genes, aligned with their counterparts from other species. Gaps are indicated by dashes, residues identical to those of the vestimentiferan by dots. Published sequences used for comparison are *Drosophila yakuba* (Dy), mouse (Mm), frog (Xl), sea urchin (Sp) and nematode (Ce). Alignments are shown for A. COI; B. COII; C. ATPase 8; D. COIII; and E. Cyt B. Amino acid sequences are depicted using the standard 1-letter code.

A. COI

Rp	SSIGAFISFS	SLLFFIFLMW	EALASQRGVL	ASPHMPTALE	W-QETLPLDY	HMFQETGLIT	59
Dy	.TSTLL	GIFYII.	.S.VQ.I	YPIQLNSSI.	YQNT.PAE	.SYS.LP.L.	
Mm	M.SLT	AV.IMMI.	FK.E.M	SVSYAS.N	LHGC.PP.	.T.E.PTYVK	
X1	SLLV	AVIMMM.II.	F.AK.E.T	TYELTS.M	LQGC.TP.	.TLKTSLVQI	
Sp	STVV	AML.I.	FEGI	TPEFSHAS	.QYTSF.PSH	.T.DPSTM	
Ce	A.Y.SITA	G.FLYVLL	.SFF.Y.L.I	SDYYSNSSP.	Y-CMSNYVFG	.SY.SEIYFS	
Rp	SPSFSA						65

- SPSFSA N-----VK----Rp Dy Mm

- NHQMIK IIVK--
- X1 Sp Ce TT.LKN

B. COII

Rp Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	MAHWGQ-LMF .ST.ANGL YPFGL PSG. .GT.AFGL INNFF.GYNL	QDAASPIMIQ SL.E. TEE EE SL.EE LFQH.LFASY	LVALHDHALT .IFFL .MNFT.M .LHFT.M .TYFY.I MDWF.SFNCS	IMIMVVSLVL .LV.ITVG .VFLIS AVFLIST VLTLITMF LLLG.LVF.T	YMLY-SILTN .LMF-MLFF. .IIS-LMT .IIT-IMM.T .G.VL.VS LLFGYL.FGT	KFTCRTLLEA NYVN.FHG .L.HTSTMD. .L.NTN.MD. SN.N.FFF.G FYFKSKKI.Y	58
Rp Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	QEIETIWTVL .LMI. VI. MVIM LI .FG.LLCSIF	PATILVVLAL I.LFI VIMI IS.IMI L.ILI .TILMQMV	PSLRLLYLMD IM IM Q SYYG	EIS-QPTLTV N-E.SV.L N-N.V .VN-D.HI .VK-D.FI LMNLDSN	KTIGHQWYWS .S .A AF .VT	YEYSDFLNLE N.I. T.YED.C TNYED.S TKD IPG	117
Rp Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	FDSYMLPTEE IN. IND VSD KSLDQ	LQDGEFRLLE .AIDGD .KPL .TP.Q VSF.NP .SLP	VDHRMVIPMQ N.VILN N.V.LE N.V.E N.L.L N.CCD	TEVRLLVTAA SQI.I LPI.M.ISSE SPTE NPM.VSS. .NI.FCI.S.	DVIHSWCVPS TA LA LA LA A.ALN.	LGIKLDGIPG V.VT L.T.A V.T.A T.M.AV .SVAMS.	177
Rp Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	RLNQTTLSIN NFF A.VTS. HSFIAT FFAA I.STFSY.FP	RPGIFYGQCS L L V .T.V MV.V	EMCGANHSFM .I .IS .I .I	PIALEVIDHP VI.SVPVN VMVPLK VV.AVPLT .MVM.SVPFN TLLD	SFTQWVMTFS N.IK.ISSNN Y.EN.SASMI D.EN.SSSML T.ENTQYL N.KS.CFGTM	E S -	228

C. ATPase 8

RpMPHLAPLNWILLPLFFLFSLLLLASITWWNQLISV-PQLKSKSKQA-HSMSPW--KWN--54DyI.QM..IS.L..FIV.SITFI.FC..NYYSYMPTS-.KSNELKNINLN.-N.--.--54Mm..Q.DTST.FITIISSMIT.FI.FQLKVSS.TFPLA.SP..LTTMKVK--T.EL..TKIX1..Q.N.GP.F.ILI.SWLV..TFIPPKVLKHKAFNE.TTQTTE.SKPN---..NWP.T--SpV.Q.EFAW..VNFSLIWA.V.MVI.LLLNSFPPNSAG.SS.SLTLK-KTTTN.--Q.L--

- Rp -----Dy -----
- Mm YLPHSLPQQ
- X1 -----
- Sp -----

D. COIII

Rp Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	M-IRQPFH .STHSNH TH.THAY. AH.AHAY. AIH.Y. MFHN	VLEYSPWPFL LVDLT MVNPLT MVDPLT LVDQLD I.SL.SYAYN	VAVGVLAITC G.I.AMTTVS G.FSA.LL.S G.AA.LL.S G.FSG.MM.S LFFASAGMLS	GAAAWFHNHG .MVKQYD .LVMYNS .L.MFGS .NVLTQK SLVMF.KFGL	ALCLIIGLTL ISLFLL.NII ITL.TLLT MIL.TLIT TNLTLV.FL. YELF.FT.FS	TTLTSIIWWR .IVYQ NIMYQ MVM.Q LMTKMVN VLFI.FA.GK	57
Rp Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	DVIREGTYLG SQ. FQ. .MKANFQ. .IAMLS	FHSSVVSSGL L.TYA.TI H.TPI.QK H.TPP.QK S.TAI.KK.M Y.NFF.MD.F	RWAMIQFILS GL .YGLV. .YGLT. .YGL.MT. KFGV.L.VF.	EVLFFAAFFW VS FG FIG CF .FMFCI	GFFHSSLAPT AS.A A.YV A.YN AS TDAA.V.V	PEIGCTWPPT I.L.ASM HDL.GC Y.L.EC V.M.VAS H.L.ES.F	117
Rp Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	GINPINPFSI ISFQ. S.LLEV T.LEV .MT.LLV .MHLVGV	PLLNTAVLLA S K.GS IIS	SGVTVTWAHH	SVMNKSRTET .L.ESNHSQ. .L.EGK.NHM .I.HGD.K.A .ILAGNS .LL-SNKS-C	LQALSLTVIL T.G.FFL. NLI.IM. I.S.TIL. IFA. TNSMICL.	GVYFTFLQAG .IIY .LAM .SAW AAGI.LM	177
Rp Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	EYMEAPFTIA I F.TS.S.S Y ID S.S.	DSAYGTLFYV VSTM .GIST.FM .GVST.F. VST.F. .GVF.SIL	CTGFHGMHVL AV ALI ALI ALQ.I SI	VGTMFLSMYL I.T.LVC. I.ST.IVC. I.SL.VC. M.T.MVC. C.GL.AFNF	IRTFLYHF L.HLNN L.QLKF L.QIQ FAGR L.LLKN		225

P.

E. Cyt B

Rp	SLQQWLLGGY	SVGNPTLQRF	FSLHYLLPFI	IAALVGLHVW	AVHHVGQNNP	IGIDVKTKED	60
Dy	D.VWF	A.D.AT	.TF.FI	VL.MTMI.LL	FL.QT.S	LNSNIDKI	
Mm	T.VE.IWF	DKAT	.AF.FI	AIV.LL	FL.ET.S	T.LNSDADKI	
X1	V.VS F	D.AT	.AF.F	GASILL	FL.ET.ST	T.LNSDPDKV	
Sp	IMVWF	DKAT	.PF.F.FM	MAVM.LV	FL.NS.A	FAFKSNYDKA	
Ċe	TIVT.IWS.F	G.TGAKF.	.VFWA	.LVI.LG.LI	FL.ST.STSS	LYCHGDYDKV	
Rp	TLSFHPYYTM	KDGFAIAVFF	MIFALFVFYL	PDALGHADNY	ORADPMKTPP	HIVPEWYFLP	120
Dy	PF.F	IVGFI.MI	F.LISL.LIS	.NLDPF	ÌP.N.LVA	QF	
Mm	PI	ILG.LIM.	L.LMTL.LFF	MDP	MP.N.LN	F	
X1	PFSY	LLGFLIML	TALT.LAMFS	.NLDPF	TP.N.LI	KF	
Sp	PI.F.T	TVGFILLV	AALFSLALLF	.GKDPEKF	IP.N.LV	QF	
Ċe	CS.E.LG	AYN-I.IW	LL.IVLSLIY	.FND.EMF	IEMS.V	F	
Rp	FYAILRAVPD	KL					132
D.y	ASI.N	• •					
Mm	ASI.N						
۲N	A CM N						

- X1 A....SM-N .. Sp A....SI.N .. Ce A....I.N .V

to the corresponding mouse gene and by the loss of three nucleotides (one amino acid codon) from the corresponding *Xenopus* and sea urchin genes. Both of these changes have occurred at or near the 3' end of the gene. The length of the COII gene of the vestimentiferan is equal to that of *Drosophila yakuba*. The ATPase 8 gene of the vestimentiferan is 20% smaller than its mouse counterpart, lacking a segment of 11 codons at its 3' end (Figure 6).

In contrast to the mitochondrial genomes of other animal species, which occasionally use ATG, ATT or ATC codons as translational initiators, the three protein genes for which the 5' end was obtained (COII, ATPase 8, and COIII) in *Ridgeia* begin with the orthodox ATG codon. The 3' end was sequenced for three of the protein coding genes, ATPase 8, COI and COII. The ATPase 8 gene of *Ridgeia* appears to end in a complete TAA termination codon (Figure 3A). The COI gene apparently does not encode a complete stop codon but rather ends with T or TA (Figure 3A). The reading frame of the COI gene in *Ridgeia* extends 31-33 nucleotides into the tRNA^{sen} to the first in frame TAA. If the gene actually extends to that point, it would be lengthened, adding 15 amino acids and overlapping 33 nucleotides with the tRNAsm gene. The exact termination position of this gene cannot be determined from the DNA sequence alone. I hypothesize that the transcript is processed at either nucleotide 185 or 197 (Figure 3A), and that the termination codon is completed by polyadenylation. The former position would make the Ridgeia COI gene equal to that of mammals, the latter would make this gene four amino acids longer than that of mammals, but almost equal to that of the frog and sea urchin. Here I prefer the latter. It has been reported (Clary and Wolstenholme 1985) that the presence or absence of complete termination codons at 3' end of the mRNA genes is poorly conserved in mammals or flies.

43

n,

However, even here some rules seem to be followed. Because of the absence of a stop codon, a functional stop codon is presumably supplied by post-transcriptional polyadenylation at 3' terminal uridine residue, as in mammalian or amphibian mitochondria (Ojala et al., 1981).

The 3' end of the COII gene presents a similar problem. Whether or not the stop codon is coded in the DNA depends on the transcript processing. If the transcript is processed at the U (position 955 in Figure 3A) prior to the start of the tRNA^{ee} gene, then the TAA stop codon must be completed by polyadenylation. If the transcript is not processed at that point, a UAG stop codon is encoded in the DNA sequence, overlapping the tRNA^{ee} gene by two nucleotides.

A number of studies have suggested functional roles for the existence of stable secondary structure in mtDNA sequences. Such structures may be important for two reasons. First, since the transcripts are normally single stranded, secondary structures can form and may play a role in processing. Second, since the DNA may be single stranded for significant periods during replication (Clayton 1982), secondary structures can form during replication and may have an effect on replication.

Analysis of these protein genes reveals a number of potential secondary structures within each protein gene or between these protein genes which may be functional in the mitochondrial system. In the COI gene, I have identified a potential secondary structure (Figure 7C) located at 3' end of this gene. In the COII gene, a stem loop structure was found at two EcoRI restriction sites (Figure 7D). In the ATPase 8 gene, a stem loop structure was located at 22nd of nucleotide downstream from 5' end of this gene (Figure 7F). In the COIII gene, I have identified a stem loop structure which has a eight base stem and a 97 base loop (Figure 7G). A potential secondary structure was found in the cytochrome b sequence 103rd nucleotide of the 5' end of this gene, which has a 10 base stem including one unpaired base pair and a 28 base loop (Figure 7H). Two stem loop structures were found between the COI and tRNA^{am} genes and between the COII and ATPase 8 genes (Figure 7B and Figure 7E).

Another interesting stem loop in the mitochondrial sequence of *Ridgeia* occurs near the COI/tRNA^{III} junction. The alternative structure shown in Figure 7A has a 10 base stem and a 88 base loop.

Genetic Code

The codon AGA, which specifies rare termination codons in some vertebrate mtDNAs, human and bovine, and serine in *Drosophila* and sea urchin mtDNAs, is found frequently in vestimentiferan mitochondrial genes (Table 4). The triplet AGA specifies arginine in the universal genetic code. In the vestimentiferan mtDNA, internal AGA codons (a total of 8) are present in two of five protein genes, the COII and COIII genes. It is clear that these AGA codons do not specify arginine. None of the AGA codons in either protein gene corresponds in position to arginine-specifying codons (CGN) in the equivalent positions of mtDNAs of five species including both vertebrates (mouse and frog) and invertebrates (*Drosophila*, sea urchin and nematode).

Further analysis of those positions where AGA occurs in the vestimentiferan sequence supports the view that AGA specifies serine. Of the eight AGA codons found in the vestimentiferan COII and COIII genes, which have the greatest similarity to the equivalent genes from other species (Table 3), two correspond in position to serine-specifying codons

45

r (

FIGURE 7.

Secondary structures found within each protein gene or across gene junctions. Standard base pairs are designated by dashes. Asterisk denotes mispairing bases. The number in the centre of the loop is the nucleotide length of loop.



 Table 4. Codon usage in Phylum Vestimentifera mitochondrial DNA

												_
Phe	Π	20	Ser	тст	14	Tyr	TAT	16	Cys	TGT	3	
(F)	πс	31	(S)	тсс	13	(Υ)	TAC	9	(C)	TGC	5	
Leu	TTA	22		TCA	12	TER	TAA	1	Trp	TGA	21	
(L)	ΤΤG	7		TCG	1		TAG	1	(W)	TGG	3	
Leu	СТТ	24	Pro	ССТ	20	His	CAT	17	Arg	CGT	1	
(L)	СТС	13	(P)	CCC	6	(H)	CAC	12	(R)	CGC	6	
	СТА	25		CCA	11	Gln	CAA	23		CGA	8	
	CTG	5		CCG	5	(Q)	CAG	3		CGG	2	
lle	ATT	33	Thr	ACT	14	Asn	AAT	4	Ser	AGT	1	
(I)	ATC	16	(T)	ACC	12	(N)	AAC	13	(S)	AGC	2	
Met	ΑΤΑ	18		ACA	21	Lys	AAA	10		AGA	8	
(M)	ATG	10		ACG	1	(K)	AAG	3		AGG	1	
Val	GTT	7	Ala	GCT	10	Asp	GAT	6	Gly	GGT	10	
(V)	GTC	11	(A)	GCC	23	(D)	GAC	14	(G)	GGC	8	
	GTA	19		GCA	12	Glu	GAA	26		GGA	15	
	GTG	8		GCG	5	(E)	GAG	1		GGG	4	

.

in the genes from all five other species and two others specify serine in at least two of the other species. Other AGA codons in the COII and COIII genes correspond in position to codons specifying different amino acids including leucine, isoleucine, threonine, asparagine, lysine, glycine, aspartic acid, alanine, methionine and serine in the equivalent genes from the other five species. In view of this observation and the finding that AGA specifies serine in other invertebrate mitochondrial genetic codes (Wolstenholme and Clary 1985; Himeno et al. 1987; Wolstenholme et al. 1987; Garey and Wolstenholme 1989), it seems reasonable to conclude that, in vestimentiferan mtDNA, AGA specifies serine, as do AGC and AGT.

One codon, AGG, which does not occur in *Drosophila* or vertebrate mtDNAs, is found in *Ridgeia*, although much less frequently than AGA (Table 4). Only serine is found at the corresponding position in equivalent gene from the other five species. This observation suggests that codon AGG also specifies serine. Wolstenholme et al. (1985) drew similar conclusions for the assignment of the AGG codon in *Ascaris suum* mtDNA.

Internal TGA codons are found in four protein genes (all except for Cyt B gene) of the vestimentiferan mitochondrial DNA. Of a total of 21 TGA codons, 17 correspond in position to tryptophan-specifying codon (TGA or TGG) in equivalent genes from the other five species, indicating that in vestimentiferan mtDNA, as in mammalian, fungal, and *Drosophila* mtDNAs (Barrell et al. 1979, 1980; Fox 1979; Bonitz et al. 1980; Heckman et al.1980; Clary and Wolstenholme 1985), TGA specifies tryptophan.

Codon Usage

The codon usage among the *Ridgeia* mitochondrial protein genes is summarized in Table 4. All codons were used in the five protein genes. In a total of 705 codons, the frequencies of first positions with A, T, C, and G are almost equal. The frequency of codons ending in A, T, C, and G is 36.6%, 28.4%, 27.5%, and 8.5% respectively. The overall codon usage for four of five protein-encoded genes has a strong bias against the use of codons ending in G (Table 5). This infrequent use of G at the third position has been reported for other animal mtDNAs.

The pattern of codon bias is markedly different from that found in other taxa. In *Drosophila* an enormous preponderance of A or T residues in the third-base position has been reported. In vertebrates, C appears to be a preferred wobble base in human mtDNA, but A is more prevalent in the mouse. In sea urchin, the third base is 60% (A+T). In the vestimentiferan, the third base is 64% (A+T), which is almost equal to that of sea urchin, but in other respects no obvious rationale can be advanced for the particular pattern of bias observed. For example, GAA and GAG are used with quite different frequencies to specify glutamate. The former is used 26 times more frequently than the latter.

The frequency of leucine is high and remarkably constant, in the range 15.0 to 16.9%, among mitochondrial proteins of different metazoa. In *Ridgeia*, leucine accounts for 13.4% of all amino acids in five mitochondrial DNA-encoded proteins. This value is a slightly lower than that of other metazoa.

Table 5. Base composition at 3rd codon positions in vestimentiferan

mitochondrial protein genes

	Base composition % of total						
Gene	Guanine	Adenine	Thymine	Cytosine			
COI	6.2	43.1	24.6	26.2			
COII	4.0	42.5	25.0	28.5			
COIII	2.7	38.7	31.1	27.6			
ATPase8	3.7	35.2	33.3	27.8			
CytB	28.8	15.2	29.6	26.5			

50

Transfer RNA Genes

Each of the tRNA^T, tRNA^T, tRNA^T, tRNA^T, and tRNA^T genes identified in the vestimentiferan mitochondrial DNA sequence can be folded into the four-arm cloverleaf structure characteristic of almost all known tRNAs. The major structural features of these five vestimentiferan tRNA genes resemble those of tRNA genes from vertebrates and other invertebrates (Figure 8). The vestimentiferan mitochondrial tRNA genes range in size from 63 nucleotides for tRNA^T to 71 nucleotides for tRNA^T. They are generally smaller than their vertebrate and invertebrate counterparts. The sequence similarity to the corresponding mitochondrial tRNA genes from sea urchin, mouse, frog, and *Drosophila yakuba*, are summarized in Table 6. For all five tRNA genes, the highest mean similarity is between the vestimentiferan and sea urchin. The highest value of similarity between sea urchin and the vestimentiferan is 67.1%, in the tRNA^T gene.

The predicted structures of five tRNAs (Figure 8) are conventional clover-leafs. The aminoacyl stems contain seven nucleotide pairs for tRNATM and tRNATM, and eight pairs for tRNATM and tRNATM. The nine nucleotide stem in tRNATM is the longest of them. Complete pairing is observed in the aminoacyl stems of all five tRNAs. The dihydro-uridine (DHU) stems have three to five nucleotides and the DHU loops four to eight nucleotides. The anticodon stems of five tRNAs vary from five nucleotides to seven nucleotides in length, and the anticodon loops are of a constant seven nucleotides in all cases. For tRNATM, there is the potential for an additional base pairing interaction in the anticodon stem, which would reduce the anticodon loop to five nucleotides, as is the case with a small number of tRNAs encoded by vertebrate or invertebrate mitochondrial genomes. The extra loops are generally variable regions and range from one nucleotide for tRNATM to four for tRNATM.

FIGURE 8.

Sequence of five *Ridgeia* mitochondrial tRNA genes represented in the cloverleaf form. Standard base-pairings(G-C or A-T) are indicated by dashes. Non-standard base-pairings are shown by asterisks. A. tRNA^{am}; B. tRNA^{am}; C. tRNA^{sy}; D. tRNA^{sy}; and E. tRNA^{val}.



52b
Species	% Nucleotide similarity						
	tRNA	tRNA**	t RNA '''	tRNA ^{#7}	tRNA ^{wi}	MEAN	
URCHIN	52.8	67.1	63.0	53.9	60.0	59.4	
MOUSE	54.2	50.7	56.2	54.1	62.3	55.5	
FROG	48.6	46.6	54.8	54.4	42.3	49.3	
YAKUBA	43.1	49.3	47.9	50.0	60.0	50.1	
MEAN	50.0	53.4	55.5	53.1	56.2	53.6	

Table 6. Similarities between vestimentiferan tRNA genes to those from

different taxa

and tRNA^w. The ribothymidine pseudouridine cytosine (T Ψ C) stems are of three to five nucleotide pairs and T Ψ C loops of three to five nucleotides. Unorthodox base-pairings are found in all of five tRNAs and occur in all three stems. These include a total of five A-C pairs, two G-A pairs.

I have carried out sequence analysis by comparing similar tRNA genes in five different species. A comparison of five tRNAs with their counterparts from sea urchin, frog, mouse and Drosophila yakuba is presented in Figure 9. Anticodon loops are highly conserved compared with those of other species. For example, the anticodon loop of tRNA[#] is identical to that in all four of the other taxa. In tRNA^m, the vestimentiferan anticodon loop is identical to three of the other taxa, with only one nucleotide change from that of sea urchin. For the remaining tRNAs, they have at least 80% similarity to each other. The highly conserved nature of anticodon loop sequences allows us to unambiguously identify the homologous set of tRNAs in every kind of species studied. The best conserved regions besides the anticodon loop are DHU stems. This conclusion is consistent with analysis by Gadaleta et al (1989). In comparisons of mitochondrial tRNAs from five vertebrate species (rat, mouse, human, cow, and Xenopus), Gadaleta et al. (1989) showed that the degree of conservation of different functional regions within tRNAs varied, with the anticodon loop being the most conserved region, followed by the dihydrouridine (DHU) stem. The DHU loop, the T_VC loop and stem are the most variable regions. In general the degree of conservation of the 5' half is higher than that of the 3' half, suggesting that the 5' region contains stronger functional constraints. In closely related salmonid species, for tRNA⁴⁷⁸ and tRNA¹⁹, variation is concentrated in the DHU loop (Thomas and Beckenbach 1989). In nematodes, Ascaris suum and Caenorhabditis elegans (Wolstenholme et al., 1987), the T Ψ C

FIGURE 9.

Sequence comparison of vestimentiferan mitochondrial tRNA genes with those from sea urchin (Jacobs et al., 1988), mouse (Bibb et al., 1981), frog (Roe et al., 1985), and *Drosophila yakuba* (Clary and Wolstenholme 1985). On the top the different functional areas are indicated. In each case, the vestimentiferan sequence is shown in full. Nucleotides identical to those of *Ridgeia* are indicated by dots, insertions and deletions by dashes.

	11	63	64	65	67
T¢C AA STEM STEM	AAAT TTATTTTGAAA CG.GGG CGGC .TGAA C.C.C	CCAGA CCTGCTTAG TAT .T.C.C TAATC C.TTTC AACTAATTA	TAGT GAATTCTG CC .GC CTA. ATCT.A CG.C ACCTCA CG.C ATT.A	CC TCTTTTTAC .TT .TCACTA C. TC. T.TC.ATCA .T CT.AA.C.AT	AA- GAAAGTAA G ATAGC. C.GA AG.GAGT. G AGAGT. T AGT.TAG.TA
c Tykc M LOOP	TTTA CG.GCAATT CG.GCAATT CG.TAAACC A.GACCA	AG TCTT GA.AAATA GA.AAATA GTAAT-T GG.G A.CGAG	6	666 CTTT C V T.AGAC T. A TAAA TC A T.CAAG C. A T.CAAG C.	3 ACATT CA 76.AAAT TT 64.AAA C 61TAGAAT T 1 TA
STE	A 1.1.5.	616 A CI	ACT- 66 66 67	2882 	
LOOP LOOP	50111	0 6 1 A1 1 . 1 1 . 1 A11	GTT А А.А.	AT AT.	AG 1 TC
AC STEM	TGAAAAG GG.CC CCA CC.G	TT-AGAA CCA C.A.ATT C.A.ATT C.A.A .GATAT.	CCCTAA G. A AGT GG.G A.TA	CCTTCCC TA. T.TAA T.CGT TATT	GCAAT A TGA C TTG TCA . TTA .
AC LOOP	СТТАСАС Т СТ	СТGTTAA .С	СТGTCAG ТА ТА АА	TTGTAAT A CA CA 6C	сттссаа
AC STEM	CCTTTCA TT.CC 6 .A.C.GG	ATCTAA GC.TGG G.A.TTA(G.A.TTA(G.TG G.A.C.	ATAGGA T.T.G ACT CGCC- TA.T	AGAAGA G.TG .TT G.CG GAT	ATTGC TA .CA CGA TA
DHU	AATG ⁻ . A.	TGGC A(-A.G TT.A(TAAT 	A A	TACA
DHU	ATC-TAAAG TAGT.GT TCC T.AAT-T T.ATGT	ATTT A.G.AAA G.AA GGGA .AAGGA	AA-TAA- C.T TC CA.T. TA	GAGTT-ATA 66A 	AT AAAT TTG CCA T. A-A TC CA.
DHU Stem	CAGC T A	GCCA T T T T T 	VGTTA		AG1
AA STEM	TTCAAAATA 66C. 56. T.6.6.	TAAGCAGAA .GGT.T. GATT GATT GAAT	- AGAATTCT# 	TAAAAGA 1 6T6 -6GTA. -6GT6 -6.TT.A.	TTACTTTCT(GA.(CC
	trna VEST Urchin Frog Mouse Yakuba	VEST VEST URCHIN MOUSE FROG YAKUBA	VEST VEST URCHIN MOUSE YAKUBA	VEST VEST URCHIN MOUSE FROG YAKUBA	VEST VEST URCHIN MOUSE FROG YAKUBA

55b

loop is absent.

Mitochondrial tRNAs have been found to lack most of the conserved features of other tRNAs, especially those nucleotides in the DHU and T Ψ C stems which are believed to function as transcriptional control signals in nuclear DNA (Hall et al., 1982). In the vestimentiferan, the only universally conserved nucleotides are Py32 (C or T), Py33 (T in all cases) and Pu37 (A in all cases), the nucleotides flanking the anticodon (Figure 8). T8 occurs in three of five tRNAs, the tRNA^{∞}, tRNA^{∞} and tRNA^{∞}. The Py11-Pu24 base-pair in the DHU stem which is conserved in *Drosophila* and sea urchin, is also conserved in all these tRNAs except tRNA^{∞}. The conventional sequence T54- Ψ -C-Pu-A is not found in the T Ψ C loop of all tRNAs.

The trinucleotide sequence CCA, which occurs at the 3' end of prokaryotic and eukaryotic nuclear-encoded tRNA genes, is absent in this position from the vestimentiferan mitochondrial tRNA genes, as it is from mammalian and *Drosophila* mitochondrial tRNA genes.

Ribosomal RNA Genes

In the mitochondrial genome there are two ribosomal subunits, the small or 12S subunit and the large or 16S subunit (Attardi and Schatz 1988). Each subunit is divided into three or four sections or domains.

Sequences of length of 457 and 1,117 base pairs coding both 12S and 16S rRNA genes have been obtained (Figure 3B). Comparison with corresponding regions of their vertebrate and invertebrate counterparts shows that both 12S and 16S rRNA genes in *Ridgeia* appear to be shorter than those of vertebrates and may be equal to those of *Drosophila yakuba*, although the complete sequences of both ribosomal RNA were not obtained.

The 5' termini of the large ribosomal RNA and the 3' termini of the small ribosomal RNA have not been mapped directly by primer extension. Since tRNA^{wl} gene is located upstream of the large ribosomal RNA gene, the 5' termination of the large rRNA gene should follow the tRNA^{wl} assuming an absence of non-coding intergenic nucleotides and no overlap between the tRNArd and the large ribosomal RNA genes. Similarly, assuming the 12S RNA and tRNA^w genes are butt-joined, the terminus of the 12S rRNA gene should be located immediately upstream from the 5' end of the tRNA^{wl} gene. In order to locate both termini, the 5' end of 16S rRNA gene and the 3' end of 12S rRNA gene, I compared both the 5' end of the large ribosomal RNA gene and 3' end of the small rRNA gene of *Ridgeia* with their counterparts from other taxa. Figures 10 and 11 show these results. As shown in Figure 10, for the 12S rRNA gene, sequence similarity with both vertebrate and some invertebrate 12S sequences continues at least up to the second T residue upstream from the 5' end of the tRNA^w gene. Considering that the sequence similarity with vertebrate 12S rRNA sequences continues up to the second C residue upstream from the 5' end of the 12S rRNA gene, and the sequence similarity with Drosophila yakuba 12S sequence continues up to the first C residue upstream from the 5' end of the tRNA[™] gene immediately preceding the gene for tRNA^{¬,} it is reasonable that the 3' terminus of the 12S rRNA gene of Ridgeia is located at the first residue upstream from the 5' end of the tRNA^{**} gene. It is therefore likely that the 3' end of the 12S rRNA is generated by RNA processing event that concomitantly defines the terminus of the adjacent tRNA.

In contrast to the 3' end of the 12S rRNA gene, the region of the 5' end of the 16S rRNA gene is poorly conserved (Figure 11). The sequence similarity with vertebrate 16S

	$12S rRNA \rightarrow tRNA^{va} \rightarrow tRNA^$
VEST	AAGTCGTAACATAGCAGGTGTAATGGAAATTGTACC <u>TTCAAAAT</u> ************ * * ** *** *************
HUMAN	AAGTCGTAACATGGTAAGTGTACTGGAAAGTGCACTTGGACGAAC ********** * * * * * * *****
MOUSE	AAGTCGTAACAAGGTAAGCATACTGGAAAGTGTGCTTGGAATAAT ********** * * * * * * ** *****
BOVINE	AAGTCGTAACAAGGTAAGCATACTGGAAAGTGTGCTTGGATAAAT *****************************
YAKUBA	AAGTCGTAACATAGTAGATGTACTGGAAAGTGTATCTAGAATGA ********** * *** * * *** * **** *
URCHIN	AAGTCGTAACACAATAGGCACACCGGACGCGAAAAT

FIGURE 10. Sequence alignment of the 3' end of the 12S rRNA gene from *Ridgeia* (Figure 3B), human (Anderson et al., 1981), mouse (Bibb et al., 1981), cow (Anderson et al., 1982), *Drosophila yakuba* (Clary and Wolstenholme 1985), and sea urchin (Jacobs et al., 1988). The sequence for the tRNATM gene that follows is underlined. Gaps are denoted by dashes, nucleotides identical to those of *Ridgeia* by asterisks, above the sequence to which they refer. The names and direction of tRNA and rRNA are included at the top of the sequences.

	tRNA ^{val} -> 16S rRNA->
VEST	ATTTTGAAA TATCCTAAACCCTCTATTTTTCTTTAAACTTGAATAAAAATCTATCT
HUMAN	GCTAAACCTAGCCCCAAACCCACTCCACCTTACTACCAGACAACC ***** **
MOUSE	ACTAATCCTAGCCCTAGCCCTACACAAATATAATTATACTATTATATAAAAT **** **
COW	ACTAGACCTAGCCCAAAGATACCCTCTCGACTAAACAACCAAGATAGAATA
FROG	TCCAAAAACCTAGCATTCCAATTATAATAACAATAACCTCATATTC

FIGURE 11. Sequence alignment of the 5' end of the 16S rRNA gene from *Ridgeia* (Fig. 2), human (Anderson et al., 1981), mouse (Bibb et al., 1981), cow (Anderson et al., 1982), and frog (Roe et al., 1985). The locations and direction of the mitochondrial tRNA and rRNA genes are indicated above the sequence. The nucleotides identical to those of *Ridgeia* are indicated by asterisks (only those nearest to the 5' end are shown). The sequence for the tRNA^{wl} gene that is upstream from 5' end of 16S rRNA gene is underlined.

rRNA sequences is only found in a few of bases downstream from the 3' end of the tRNA^{mi}. Localizing the 5' terminus of the 16S rRNA gene to the first residue downstream from the 3' end of the tRNA^{mi} is reasonable.

The vestimentiferan small and large rRNA genes are higher in G+C content (36.1% for 12S rRNA gene and 34.8% for 16S rRNA gene respectively) than is observed in *Drosophila* yakuba mtDNA. The G+C contents for 12S and 16S rRNA genes are approximately those of sea urchin (44% for 12S and 38% for 16S).

In spite of the small size of the vestimentiferan mitochondrial rRNA genes, segments throughout the entire lengths of both of these rRNA genes may be folded into secondary structures analogous to those proposed for mouse (Zweib et al., 1981, Glotz et al., 1981), *Drosophila* (Clary and Wolstenholme 1985b), and *Xenopus* (Roe et al., 1985) mitochondrial rRNAs. According to Simon et al. (1990), the stems that hold those sections together are particularly well conserved, and some of the short range stems are poorly conserved, some of them are not. I have observed a number of very conserved regions in both ribosomal RNA genes, these structurally conserved sequence blocks may be important for maintaining the characteristic secondary and tertiary structures of the rRNA molecules.

Differences in size between corresponding the vestimentiferan and vertebrate and invertebrate mitochondrial rRNA genes may result from the absence of specific blocks in the vestimentiferan rRNA genes. Indeed, I have found a number of deletion events in both sequences of the ribosomal RNA genes (Figure 12 and Figure 13). In the small ribosomal RNA gene, at least six deletion events have been observed among four species (Figure 12). The longest deletion segment consists of 45 nucleotides in the small ribosomal RNA gene

FIGURE 12.

Partial nucleotide sequence of the *Ridgeia* mitochondrial 12S rRNA (546 base pairs), aligned with its counterparts from other species: human (Anderson et al., 1981), frog (Roe et al., 1985) and sea urchin (Jacobs et al., 1988). Sequences are: *Ridgeia* (top); human (second); frog (third) and urchin (bottom). Gaps are indicated by dashes, residues identical to those of *Ridgeia* by dots. The positions for deletions are shown by asterisks, above the sequence. The positions for more than three bases of deletions are indicated by using DEL+numbers.

12S rRNA ->

TCTCGGAAATTATGGCTTCAGATAATAACCTTTTCAAAAGAAGTCTAATTCTATCAATAT 60 C...CCC...A.A.CTAAA.CTC.CCTGAG..G.A...ACTCCAGTTGA.ACAA....G A..A.AGTCAA.CTC.AA.CA.GCTGTCG.ACGCTTTCGTTG..T.G.AGAACA.TCACG .G.TA...AGT.CAT.GGTTG..GCTTTGGGC.AGCGGT.TAAT.TTAATCCCA-CACG

TTCAAATCCAAACATATCTTT---ATAACAGTCCCATGAA-AGCCTAAA-TAAAATCAAG 115 ACT.---.G...G-.GG....AAC...T.T.AA.ACAC..T...TA.G.CCC...-.TG. AAAGT.A.TCT..CC..A..ACAC--TTG.A-.T..C..CC-..TAGG.AAC...-.TG. A.ACCC.T-.CC.CC.AA..AAGC..TTG.AG.-..C...ATCTAAGGCC-T...C.-..

	* <- DEL.1	->*	
GATTAGATACCCTTTTATATCTAGGCCCA	\AA	TT	149
CACGCTT.	CCTCAACAGTTAAA	TCAACAAAACTGC.	
	CTTTGACTACTTA	CGCAAAAATCC-	
GCT			
*		*	
ATCCAGGGCACTACAACCACAGGTTT-AA	ACCACAAAGAAATTGG	CGGTACCTAA-ATC	207

CG....AA.....G.G.CACA.C..-....T....G.CC.....G.T.C.T... -G...-A....G.G.CT.A.C..-...G.C.....G.TCC.A.C. --AAGT.TA..-..C--.CT.AAG..C....T-T....G.T.....TTTCC.A.C.

*DEL.	2	*	
-------	---	---	--

**

- CAATCAGGGGAACCTGTCCTTTAACTCGAAAATT----ACCTCTTTG--AATATAC 257 .CTCT..A...G....T..G...T..ACCCCGATCA....ACCA..CC.C.TG ..CCT..A...G....T..G...TCGAT.CCCCTCGCTA-A....ACCACTTC.TGC. TCCCTG.A.AGTTTGCCAT.G-..TCGAT..CCCACGATC-C....ACCAATTT.TGTA
- ** *DEL.3* --CTCAGCTTGTATACTGCCGTCGTCAGCCCACC----ATAAAAATGTAAGTGAGCT 308 --...C.A...C.A.T.AA.CTGAT--GA.GGCTACA...A.G AAAC.C.C.A...CA...CA...C.TCGTGAG--.G.TT-C.T.AG... ACAC....CAT...A.T.T.T.TTCTTGAG.A.GTTGAC.TTA-AG.GA

*	*
AACAGATTTTTATCTT-CACGTCAGGTCAAAGT	GCAGCCTATGAGAAGG-AAGAGATGGG 366
C.AGT.CCCACG.AAAGTG	.TCGTCA
T.ATGG	.TAAGTGA
G.ACCC.GGAG	ATTGG.TGA.

	DEL.4	**	~	~ ~ ~	-		
TTACAATT	ТАААТТ	CTAA	A-TA	Г <mark>GAATT</mark> ATTA-ATG	алаа-тала	TATA 4	112
ст	.CTACCCC	GA	.c(CTAGCCCT	Ст	GGGTCG	
СТ	.CTATACCT.A	GAA	.CG.1	AAG CTC	CC.G.	.CG.G.	
CG	.TT	GAAC	.cc.d	GTTGGA.GGAGGG	TACCCC	CG-G.	

*		**	* * *	
AAAGT-GGACTT	'GAAAGTAATTAA	ААСТААСАТ	ACTTTTATGAATAT	GG 460
GT	AGCACT	AGGAG.	GAGTC.G.	• •
GCT	C.G.A	AGAA	GAGAG. TCCTCTTTA. AZ	AC
T.TT.C	C.G.AGGCCC	ACTAGA.TGGG	GGAA.AGAGCTC.GGA	AA
* *			*<-DEL.5	
CAACC-GAAG-G	TGTGCACACATCGCC	CGTCACTCTCGCCG	;	499
.CCTC.	CA	CCT.A	AGTATACTTCAAAGGAC	AT
GGCT.GC.	C	CTT.T	AC-AAAAATCAACCAACC	 ST
TGCGT		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · T	AGTTAAGATTACAC	
	->*		*	
	A	AAGGGGAGATAAGT	CGTA-ACATAGCA	526
ттаастаааасс	CCTACGCATTTAT	ТАС		
CTATAAACAC	ACAATTAACACAAAG	ACC	GCACTG.GATCO	G G
			···· ·····	J
DEL.6	->*			
	·GGTGTAATGGAA	ATTGTACC		546
	AC	.GCTTGGACG	AAC	
GATCACCAGCCG	GAAGC.T.G.			
GCACACCG	GACGC	.A.		

FIGURE 13.

Partial nucleotide sequence of the *Ridgeia* mitochondrial 16S rRNA (1115 base pairs), aligned with those from frog (Roe et al., 1985) and sea urchin (Jacobs et al., 1988). The sequences are: *Ridgeia* (top); frog (middle) and urchin (bottom). Gaps are indicated by dashes, nucleotides identical to those of *Ridgeia* by dots. The positions for insertions and deletions are shown by letter X and asterisks respectively. The positions for more than three bases of insertion or deletion are indicated by using IN+numbers or DEL+numbers.

b

XX	IN.1 IN	
TATCCTAAACCCTCTATTTTTCTTTAAA	СТТБААТАААААТСТАТСТАСААСТСТАТСА	Т 60
AAAGCACCAAT.	CAACCTC.T.TTCTC	-
AAAGTTATGAC.AGG.GC	GATCCAAACA.T	-
2 * <-)	DEL.1 ->	
CCCAAATCTCCGCTATCTT		- 79
TTAA.TAAACCATTCTAAA	ATTTTAGTATAGGCGATAGAACAATCATAAT	λ
T. TATA.AA.AGAAAACACT	CTTACTCTCTAGTAAATTCATTTGAAATCTT	A
. 🖈	*<-DEL.2	
Agtactgcaaa	GGAAATTATAAATTATTAATAAG	- 113
GCTATAGAAAAC.TG	.AGATGAGAA.TGATAATTAAC	Т
TTTTAACCAAAAGAAGCG	GATGACCC.TA.TTAAACAAAC	С
-> *	DEL.3	
ТАААААТААААССТТАТАССТТС	STGCATTATGGCTTAGCAAGCCAACTCT	A 165
AAGCAACAGC.GAGAAC.TA.C	A.CTCA.A.TGGTCTGTCA.	•
AGGAGACTA.A.C T	ACC.GTA.A.TGGATT.A.G.GAAA.	•
*<-DEL.4->	* X DEL	•
ATTCTAGCCTAT	-CCCGAAATCTTCACGAGCTGATAAACA	- 204
CAAGCAAA. CGAATTTCAGTTTGACT	ACTAAGTAC.CCGAGACA	G
TAAGAAAA-CTAGTCTAAT	ACTGGGACTT.CCTC	-
5* II	1.3	
TTTGTATAAGAACTCACTACCGCATG	ГТТСААААТGCCTAGAAAAATTTTATCAGAA	G 262
CTTAGAGCAC.GTCT.T.TGG-	GAGTGGG.TC.CCGAGTAGG	•
CTTAGA.GTAC.C.CT.TTG	T.GTGAAGGGAAGATT	A
** * *		
CTACATACCTAC-CGCGCAGACT-ATA	AGCTGGTTCCCTAAAAGCTTCACATTAGTGA	A 318
GTGGA.AACT.G.G	G.TC.GG.AA.GA.TATC	Г
GATGTG.A.TACCC.GAG		•
	*	
ACAAGATATATTCTCTGATAAATAATAA	AGGAAAAGCTCTA-TTATAAAAGCTAATTTC	G 377
CCT.AAGAT.TTCA.T	.TAGCGG.TTTA.TCAA	A
G.CTCAAG	AATACTAT.TTATAAAGA	A
*<-DEL.6-> *	**	
AATCCTACCCC	CCTAAAGTAAGCTTAGAAACTGCTAACTT	r 417
GGGAG	G.TTGA.AGGATACCTATAC	•
TC.TTTAATTTTTAAGCAGAGGTGG.	TG.TAAGCT-TAA.G.CCACTGG	A
_	_	
* * < DEL.	.7	404
TAAATAACG-TTATAGTA		- 434
GGGA.AA.CTTCAAGGAAAG	STTGAGTCAGTG	-
	'AAGCCCCAAAATAGCTATTCTCGAAGGAAT	A

DEL.7

GGCCTAAAAGCAGCCACCTGTAAAGACAGCGTCAAAGCTCACTCA	- Г А
DEL.7	
AATTAGTATAACTAATTCTAAACCCCCCAAACAATACTGAGCTATTCTATAAACTATAGAA AATTTTTGGGCAATCATCTCTAACACTACAAATTATTGGGACATTCTGTAATCAGAAGA	- 4 3
DEL.7	
GCACTTATGCTAGAACTAGTAATGTGATACACGATTCTCC АСААТGTTAATATAAGTAAGATAACTATACCTAGCGTTTTATACGCTTTTAACCATGGA	- - -
DEL.7> * ** XXX* IN.4 TAAAAACTCTTTTTACA-AAATCATAAACAAATTGG TAAACAAATTGGTAAACAAATTGG GAAAAACATTGAAACTCTCA.GGTCTTCCCTC.GGA.	2 46 4 4
TACAACCTATTAGGGATTATTTATCAACTTTCCTAAATAAA	1 52 [°]
IN.5 -> TTCATTCCCTCCTACAACACCTATAAAACCCCCCTTTCCCCCC	589 - -
X * * * ATAAGGAACTCGGCAAA-TACAAGCTCCGACTGTTTAACAAAAACATT-GCCTCTTGATT CTG.A.CCCCCC	: 64°
DEL.8 *** TATAAATAAGAGGTTCATCCTGCCCAATGACTTTAGTTCAATGGCCGCGC A.AC.TTGTATAAGC.GGTGAC-GTATATGCT. .TGCCTGGGGAC.TGGTGAC.AGAGGT.ACT.	; 697
XXX *** TACCCTGACCGTGCAAAGGTAGCATAATCACTTGCCCCCTTAATTAGGGGGCTGGCATGTGGTAAAT	; 754
** AATGGACACACGAAAGCTTAACTGTCTCATAATAACTAATAAAAATTAATCTTTAAG7 CCG.T.CC.GCATC.A.TCC.TT.AACTGACC.CC CA.G.G.G.ATAA.TGACAT.TT.TCTGCCCTT.AC.ACC.CCCC.	? 812

64

'n

GAAAAAGCTTAAATTCCATTGCAGGACAAGAAGACCCCCGTTGAGCTTTATTCTCTATAGA .C.G.GGGGGAGA.CCATAGTA.GAAA G.GGGGGAAA.CG.TTAGTGTAAGCGG.AGTT	872
* <- DEL.9 CCACCACTAATATTATACTATATCATAAAACCTAAAAAAGAATTTAA.TG.CAAGT.GAACCTAAACCGGT.CA.ACAAGCAGAAACTGA AA.TTTTA.CACACTACCT.GTG.CTAACTT.TACCATCCAACAGT	917
DEL.9 -> * *	
GTTGGGGTGACTAAGGAACATCAAAA- CCTAAAGTTTTCGGC.C.C.GAAA AAGTTTTAAACATTTTAGCAAAAGCTTTGCAG-CGT.AGG	943
* * <- DEL.10 -> *	
TCTTCCTTTTATTAACCAGGGC-TATTACCC	973
* DEL.11 * *	
AAAACAATTGACCCATAACCA-TGAACAAAAAAAAAA	1022
TAACAGGCTAATCTTTCTCAAGAGCCCCAAATTGTCAGAAAGGATTGGCACCTCGATGTTG CGCCA.TATT.CTC.AA.TGTACG CG.TTCTGTTCA.GATCG	1082

GCTTAGGGGCCCCTAATAGTGCAGAAGCTATTA	1115
.AA.CAATAGGCCC	
.A.CGACATC.TAAGGT	

(Figure 12). In the large ribosomal RNA gene, at least 11 deletion events can be observed among three species, the longest deletion consisting of 237 nucleotides (Figure 13). A number of deletion events in the ribosomal RNA genes result in sizes of both rRNAs much shorter than those of vertebrates and some invertebrates. These observations imply that varying sizes of ribosomal RNA genes can serve the same function in different animal species. How long a sequence is necessary for the function of both ribosomal RNA genes? Is there a novel mechanism for this function in the mitochondrial genomes?

Sequence analysis of both 12S rRNA and 16S rRNA and protein genes in *Ridgeia* revealed a number of examples of complementarity between ribosomal RNA and protein genes. In the 12S rRNA gene I identified a number of interesting sites, some of which are illustrated in Figure 14. Some of them are very conserved regions, some of them are not located in the conserved regions of the small ribosomal gene. At position 175 from the 5' end, a sequence that is conserved almost perfectly in organisms ranging from vertebrate to invertebrate mitochondria is present. It is found complementary to a region in the Cytochrome b protein gene. At position 322 from the 5' end, a sequence which is highly conserved in all small ribosomal RNA genes, is complementary to a sequence from the COIII protein gene. Another sequence, from 360 to 375 of the 5' end of this small rRNA genes, is complementary to a region in the COIII protein gene, which is also located in the very conserved regions in almost all animal small rRNA genes, is complementary to a region in the COII protein gene. In rat mitochondrial genome, a similar case was found (Gadaleta et al. 1989).

In the 16S rRNA gene I also identified a number of interesting sites, some of which are illustrated in Figure 15. Like those observed for the 12S rRNA, some of them are conserved regions while some are not, in the 16S rRNA gene. At position 587 from the 5'

	179
COII	5'-AAATTGAAACC-ATCT-3'
1 2S	3'-TTTAACATTGGGTAGA-5'
	360
	236
Cyt b	5'-TTCTTTATGATTTT-3'
125	3'-0060000000000-5'
169	17£
	220
0111	JLO 5/ ATTOCOTOCACTT CACC 3/
COTT	5 -AIIGGGIGLALII-GALL-3
100	
125	3' - TATULGALGIGAAALIGG-5'
	332
	169
COI	5'-TCTAATTACTTCC-3'
	* *****
12S	3'-AAATTAATGAAAG-5'
	424
	344
COII	5'-ACTTAGAATTT-GATTCTTAC-3'
	* ******* *** * **
12S	3'-TAAATCTTAAATTTAACATTG-5'
	366
	500

FIGURE 14. Complementary sequences found between the small ribosomal RNA and protein genes. Standard base pairs are designated by asterisks.

	98	
COI	5'-CCCCATATGCCAACAGC-3'	
1 6 S	3'-GGGG-ATTCGGTTGTAG-5' 1076	
	320	
COII	5'-GATATGAATACT-3'	
1 6 S	3'-CT-TACTTATGA-5' 526	
	525	
COIII	5'-AGCAGGAGAATATAT-3'	
16S	3'-TAGT-CTCTTATATA-5' 324	
	228	
Cyt b	5'-TTGCCGTGTTCTTTATGAT-3'	
1 6 S	3'-AACGGCTCAAGGAATATTA-5' 587	
	89	
COI	5'-TTAGCTTCACCCCA-3'	
16S	3'-AATCAGTGGGGT-5' 920	
	334	
Cyt b	5'-TATTGTCCCTG-AATGGTATTT-3'	
1 6 S	3'-AGAACAGG-ACGTTACCTTAAA-5' 823	

FIGURE 15. Complementary sequences found between the large ribosomal RNA and protein genes. Standard base pairs are designated by asterisks.

end of the 16S rRNA gene, a sequence that is very conserved in comparison to that of frog and sea urchin, is found to be complementary to a region in the Cytochrome b gene. Another sequence, located from 1076 to 1090 from the 5' end of the 16S rRNA gene, is very conserved in almost all large ribosomal RNA genes, and is complementary to part of the COI protein gene. The degree of complementarity of these sequences varies from gene to gene. The evolutionary conservation and these interactions strongly suggest an important function in the regulation of the translation.

Summary

Prior to this study, there was no information available concerning the gene organization or sequences of genes from any member of this phylum. Comparisons of sequences of funtional genes from a variety of animal phyla revealed regions of sequence conservation. Using primers based on these sequences, I have amplified and sequenced several fragments coding various functional classes of genes from *Ridgeia*, a deep sea vent representative of the Phylum Vestimentifera.

Analysis of sequence of about one third of the genome from *Ridgeia* mitochondrial DNA reveals that the mitochondrial genome of this species has a novel organization. In the vestimentiferan, the ATPase 6 gene does not occur between the ATPase 8 and COIII genes. This position is occupied by two tRNA genes. Further analysis of this gene order shows that the kind and number of those tRNA genes lying among protein genes are quite different. In *Ridgeia*, AGA and AGG specify serine and TGA specifies tryptophan.

Many insertion or deletion events ranging from a single amino acid codon to a 12 amino acid domain can be observed in these five protein genes of the vestimentiferan. The COI gene of the vestimentiferan mtDNA does not encode a complete stop codon but rather ends with T or TA. A number of potential secondary structures within each protein gene or across gene junctions have been observed. They may be functional in the mitochondrial system.

Five tRNA genes were identified in the vestimentiferan mtDNA. Each of them can be folded into the four-arm cloverleaf structure characteristic of almost all known tRNAs. Sequence similarities of the tRNA genes with those of members of other animal phyla ranged from 49% with *Xenopus* to over 59% with sea urchin.

A number of deletion events in the ribosomal RNA genes of the vestimentiferan mtDNA result in the reduction of sizes of both rRNAs compared to those of vertebrates and some invertebrates. Sequence analysis revealed a number of examples of complementarity between ribosomal RNA and protein genes. This suggests that they might play an important role in the regulation of mitochondrial translation and transcription mechanisms.

SECTION II

EVOLUTION OF MITOCHONDRIAL DNA FROM *RIDGELA* (PHYLUM VESTIMENTIFERA)

INTRODUCTION

A paradigm of molecular evolution is that rate of genetic change is negatively correlated with degree of functional constraint. Gene or nucleotide positions whose physiological functions are least disrupted by genetic alterations are those that typically evolve rapidly (Nei 1987). MtDNA is generally considered to provide an extreme example of genetic economy arising through functional constraint (Attardi 1985). Before 1980, it was widely assumed that functional constraint on mtDNA would be so severe that most genetic changes would likely be lethal (Brown 1985). Therefore, the first report (Brown et al. 1979) that mtDNA evolves rapidly (about 1-2% sequence divergence per lineage per million years, or perhaps 5-10 times faster than typical single-copy nuclear DNA) came as a great surprise. A rapid pace for mtDNA nucleotide substitution was subsequently confirmed in many animal groups, although particular rate estimates vary considerably among different portions of the molecule and perhaps among taxa.

Two general explanations have been advanced to account for rapid evolution of mtDNA (Wilson et al. 1985): (a) relaxation of functional constraint; and (b) inefficiency in the repair mechanisms of mtDNA. The former suggestion arises in part because mtDNA does not code for the proteins involved directly in its own replication, transcription, or translation, and because a molecule of mtDNA that produces only 13 kinds of polypeptide chain might tolerate less accuracy in the translation machinery. It is also consistent with inferred "drift" in the mtDNA code, which implies a role for inaccuracy during shifts from one code to another (Wilson et al. 1985). This explanation may apply with particular force to mitochondrial tRNA and rRNA genes, where rates of evolution are accelerated as much as 100-fold relative their nuclear counterparts (Brown 1985; Cann et al. 1984).

The second class of explanation arises because of an enhanced mutation rate in mtDNA. The silent nucleotide substitution rate in mammalian mtDNA has been estimated at 4.7×10^4 per site per year (Brown and Simpson 1982), or about 10 times higher than in nuclear pseudogenes (Nei 1987). A likely reason is that mitochondria may lack a mismatch repair system that could otherwise repair the transitions characteristic of much mtDNA evolution (Wilson et al. 1985). Unfortunately, very little is known of how any potential repair enzymes actually operate or function in mitochondria, including γ -DNA polymerase, the only eukaryotic DNA polymerase known to be present in mitochondria (Lewin 1990). As Brown (1985) noted, "Lack of information about the enzymology of mtDNA replication and gene expression is presently the single greatest barrier to better understanding of the evolution and molecular biology of mtDNA".

In all likelihood, both selection and mutation are involved in rapid evolution of mtDNA. An enhanced evolutionary rate due solely to inefficient DNA repair should result in uniform divergence at all mtDNA nucleotide positions, but observed genetic changes are concentrated disproportionately where relaxed selection seems likely on functional grounds, e.g., at synonymous positions in protein-coding genes, in the noncoding D-loop, and in certain regions of the rRNA and tRNA genes.

Variable selective constraints can be imposed by functional considerations such as amino acid codon specificity, active sites of proteins, tRNA attachment sites in rRNA, or structural considerations such as secondary and tertiary structure in rRNA, tRNA and proteins and can affect the rate of evolution of the region under consideration. The degree of constraint varies among genes. A clear demonstration of variability of constraint among different mitochondrial protein coding regions can be seen by comparing rates of evolution calculated for the "slowly evolving" COII gene versus the "rapidly evolving" ATPase 8 gene (Pumo et al. 1992).

The 22 mitochondrial tRNA genes are less constrained by structure and function than their highly conserved nuclear counterparts; they evolve at a higher rate (Wilson et al. 1985). Nevertheless, mitochondrial tRNAs evolve more slowly than mitochondrial protein coding genes (Wolstenholme and Clary 1985), an indication that they are structurally or functionally more constrained than these protein genes. An excellent demonstration of the effect of structure and function on the rate of evolution of mitochondrial tRNAs is the study of Cantatore et al. (1987) and Thomas et al. (1989) who showed that in sea urchin, the tRNA leucine CUN gene appears to have lost its function, having been incorporated into the ND5 protein subunit gene, it is now diverging at the typically higher rate of the ND5 gene.

Using information from comparing gene organization and sequences of various functional genes, I examine the evolutionary features of the *Ridgeia* (Phylum Vestimentifera) mitochondrial DNA. For evolutionary change in the mitochondrial genome, I have found that the ATPase 6 gene of the vestimentiferan mtDNA has been independently translocated during evolution; also, several tRNA genes appear to have been translocated as a single segment. For the ribosomal RNA genes, the evolution involves mainly a number of deletion events and substitutions. Different protein genes have different rates of evolution.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Gene Rearrangement

The analysis of sequence from Ridgeia (Phylum Vestimentifera) mtDNA revealed that gene rearrangement has occurred. The ATPase 6 gene that follows the ATPase 8 gene and overlaps with it in all vertebrates and some invertebrates (Drosophila yakuba, sea urchin, and sea star) mtDNAs was not found between the COII and COIII genes. Two tRNAs, tRNA^{by} and tRNA^{by}, were located in this region of *Ridgeia* (Phylum Vestimentifera) mitochondrial genome. The relative arrangement of tRNA and protein genes in the sequenced segment of the Ridgeia mtDNA molecule suggests that there is a considerable difference in relative gene order between the mtDNAs of vestimentiferan, vertebrates, and In contrast with the relatively conserved organization of the some invertebrates. mitochondrial genome within the vertebrates, sequence data from invertebrates such as Drosophila (Clary and Wolstenholme 1985), sea urchin (Jacobs et al., 1988; Cantatore et al., 1989), sea star (Himeno et al., 1987; Jacobs et al. 1989; Smith et al., 1989; Smith et al., 1990), the mollusc, Mytilis (Hoffmann et al., 1992) and Ascaris (Wolstenholme et al., 1987) mtDNAs reveal that many rearrangements, including inversions and transpositions, have occurred during the evolution of phyla. Gene rearrangement has also been observed by Desjardins and Morais (1990) in chicken mtDNA and by Pääbo et al., (1991) in marsupials. These are the first indication that mtDNA gene transpositions have occurred in higher vertebrate lineages. In bird mtDNA, the contiguous tRNA[#] and ND6 genes which are encoded on the light strand (L-strand), are located immediately adjacent to the D-loop region; the Cytochrome b and ND5 genes, which border the tRNA[#], and the ND6 genes

in other vertebrate mtDNAs are contiguous and separated only by a few nucleotides. Between vertebrate and *Drosophila* mtDNAs differences in organization of protein coding genes and rRNA genes can be accounted for by three inversion events. In addition, 11 of the 22 tRNAs occupy different relative positions. In contrast, extensive reorganization involving all functional classes of genes is evident in comparisons of vertebrates, mollusc and nematode sequences.

Mitochondrial DNA exhibits a seemingly paradoxical combination of rapid evolutionary change and extreme conservatism: its high rate of sequence evolution (Ferris et al., 1983; Brown, 1983) contrasts with the relatively slow rate of genome reorganization. Since animal mtDNA is a highly economical genetic system in which there is almost no non-coding information, random break-points for rearrangements are almost certain to interrupt an essential function. Data from comparable genomes, such as plant and fungal mtDNAs and chloroplast DNAs, suggest that the degree of organizational plasticity of organelle genomes is largely a function of their compactness, supporting the view that selection has maintained the structure of animal mtDNA. Transpositions could also occur by some recombination events. Comparison of the vestimentiferan gene order with those of other animals (Figure 4) indicates that the ATPase 6 gene has been independently translocated during evolution. Also, the tRNA^T gene, tRNA^T gene, and both of tRNA^T and tRNAth genes appear to have been translocated as a single segment. However, there is no evidence for intermolecular recombination in animal mtDNA; hence the modes of rearrangement are restricted.

Protein-Coding Genes, Mode and Tempo of Evolution

Partial sequence coding for five protein genes (COI, COII, COIII, ATPase 8, and Cyt B) from Ridgeia mtDNA was obtained (Figure 3). Comparisons of DNA and predicted amino acid sequences for these genes with those from Drosophila, mouse, frog, sea urchin and nematodes are presented in Figures 5 and 6. Although some of these genes only have partial sequence, the comparisons show that both insertions and deletions have occurred. In the COIII gene, a two codon deletion is evident near the 5' end of the gene; in the cytochrome b gene, a two codon insertion is evident. The Ridgeia COII gene is three nucleotides (one codon) longer the 3' end compared to the mammalian sequence, and three nucleotides (one codon) shorter compared to those of frog and sea urchin. The COII gene is 687 nucleotides (including stop codon) in length in Ridgeia which is equal to that of Drosophila. The ATPase 8 gene is 165 nucleotides in length in Ridgeia, compared with 204 nucleotides in mouse, 168 nucleotides in sea urchin and frog, and 162 nucleotides in Drosophila yakuba. The ATPase 8 gene is 20% smaller than its mammalian counterpart, lacking a segment of about 11 codons at its 3' end. In this gene, there are several 1-2 codon insertion/deletion events evident in addition to those at the 3' end (Figure 6C). The coding strand of *Ridgeia*, like other sequenced vertebrates and some invertebrates, exhibits a strong nucleotide bias against G except for cytochrome b (Table 3).

Many amino acid replacements in these protein genes in the vestimentiferan mtDNA are non-conservative. For example, single amino acid mutations are found in many sites of these protein genes, and blocks containing multi-amino acid mutations were also observed in these protein genes. In the COII gene, at position 18 downstream from the 5' end of this gene, there is a isoleucine in the vestimentiferan, a glutamic acid is found in the

corresponding sites of the COII gene of most other species (Figure 6B). At position 23 downstream from the 5' end of this gene, a leucine occurs in the vestimentiferan where a phenylalanine is found in the corresponding sites of the COII gene of the other species (Figure 6B). In a conserved region of this gene, from the 134th to 141st codon from the 5' end, there is a histidine at position 140 in the vestimentiferan where a asparagine is found in the corresponding sites of the other species (Figure 6B).

In the COIII gene, a block containing three amino acid differences was located at a position 16 codons from the 5' end (Figure 6D). In this conserved domain, there are usually three amino acids, leucine, threonine (aspartic acid for sea urchin), and glycine. These three amino acids were replaced with phenylalanine, leucine, and valine in the vestimentiferan (Figure 6D). There is a leucine at codon position 66 from the 5' end of this gene where a glutamine is found at the corresponding sites in most other species. Only the nematode carries a leucine at this position. There is usually a leucine at codon position 83 from the 5' end of this gene where is an alanine at codon position 80 where a glycine occurs in the corresponding site of the other species. Only a few of these kinds of examples are found. It seems likely that these changes represent amino acid replacements rather than a genetic code change between the mtDNAs of the vestimentiferan and other animal species.

In the cytochrome b gene, several multi-amino acid changes were found in addition to single amino acid replacements. The longest altered amino acid domain was located at codon position 39, and includes four codons (Figure 6E). At these sites, the amino acids, valine, tryptophan, alanine, and valine are inferred in the vestimentiferan, the four amino acids, leucine, leucine (valine for sea urchin), phenylalanine, and leucine were found in the

corresponding sites of the other species. Another two-codon-change domain was found in the most conserved region of the cytochrome b gene, two amino acids, phenylalanine and alanine located in the other species mtDNAs, were replaced with amino acids proline and phenylalanine in the vestimentiferan mtDNA (codon position 120-121; Figure 6E). These observations suggest that some of the amino acids which are completely conserved in the protein genes of vertebrate and some invertebrate mtDNAs, have been changed in the vestimentiferan during evolution.

Table 7 shows the numbers and frequencies of specific base substitutions for the five protein coding genes included in this study. The divergences between *Ridgeia* and representives of other taxa are extensive. Corrected divergence estimates (Jukes and Cantor 1969) range from about 50% to complete saturation. For divergences as great as these, estimates are highly dependent on the accuracy of the alignment. Where alignment is uncertain, part of the divergence estimates may be due to comparisons at non-homologous sites. This problem is particularly acute at the 3' ends of genes, where alignment is often difficult. Divergences of the COI gene appear quite high, from 64% to saturated (corrected divergences- Table 7), but may just reflect the fact that only 195 residues of the 3' end are included for comparison.

Since complete sequences were obtained for the COII and ATPase 8 genes, I will focus on analysis of these two protein genes. As shown in Table 4, the degree of similarity to most species is different for the two genes. For the COII gene, there is a mean of 60% nucleotide similarity, and a mean of 56% amino acid similarity compared to those of five species. In contrast, the ATPase 8 gene has a lower similarity with four species compared, having a mean of 47% for nucleotide similarity and a mean of 29% for amino acid

Table 7. Nature and frequency of specific base substitutions in five protein coding genes between *Ridgeia*, a vestimentiferan and *Drosophila*, mouse, frog, sea urchin and nematode worm

A. COI

	Species compared					
Type of changes	Drosophila	mouse	frog	urchin	nematode	
Transitions						
AG	5	8	12	9	17	
CT	26	20	22	32	24	
Total	31	28	34	41	41	
Transversions						
AC	14	14	28	16	17	
AT	26	19	22	14	39	
GC	7	8	12	8	11	
GT	9	10	6	9	16	
Total	56	51	68	47	83	
Indels	1	1	0	2	0	
Number of sites	181	184	1 95	191	1 95	
Total changes	88	80	102	90	124	
% changes	48.6	43.5	52.3	47. 1	63.6	

Table 7(2). Nature and frequency of specific base substitutions in five protein coding genes between *Ridgeia*, a vestimentiferan and *Drosophila*, mouse, frog, sea urchin and nematode worm

B. COII

	Species compared					
Type of changes	Drosophila	mouse	frog	urchin	nematode	
Transitions			<u></u>			
AG	33	38	37	45	42	
CT	71	59	68	72	81	
Total	104	97	105	117	123	
Transversions						
AC	41	67	59	55	56	
AT	79	56	54	56	109	
GC	18	14	21	19	29	
GT	15	14	14	19	40	
Total	153	151	1 48	149	234	
Indels	0	1	0	0	3	
Number of sites	684	682	684	684	687	
Total changes	257	249	253	266	360	
% changes	37.6	36.5	37.0	38.9	52.4	

Table 7(3). Nature and frequency of specific base substitutions in five protein coding genes between *Ridgeia*, a vestimentiferan and *Drosophila*, mouse, frog, sea urchin and nematode worm

C. ATPase 8

	Species compared				
Type of changes	Drosophila	mouse	frog	urchin	nematode
Transitions					
AG	4	2	5	8	-
CT	18	19	24	26	-
Total	22	21	29	34	-
Transversions					
AC	22	28	26	21	-
AT	26	22	18	25	-
GC	1	4	1	6	-
GT	6	3	9	5	-
Total	55	57	54	57	-
Indels	3	4	4	1	-
Number of sites	159	160	157	163	-
Total changes	80	82	87	92	-
% changes	50.3	51.2	55.4	56.4	-

Table 7(4). Nature and frequency of specific base substitutions in five protein coding genes between *Ridgeia*, a vestimentiferan and *Drosophila*, mouse, frog, sea urchin and nematode worm

D. COIII

	Species compared				
Type of changes	Drosophila	mouse	frog	urchin	nematode
Transitions					
AG	26	25	27	47	50
CT	85	81	71	76	79
Total	111	106	98	123	129
Transversions					
AC	34	55	58	51	50
AT	76	73	65	62	86
GC	12	22	17	15	32
GT	12	12	13	28	35
Total	134	162	153	156	203
Indels	2	1	1	1	5
Number of sites	677	676	676	676	662
Total changes	247	269	252	280	337
% changes	36.5	39.8	37.3	41.4	50.9

Table 7(5). Nature and frequency of specific base substitutions in five protein coding genes between *Ridgeia*, a vestimentiferan and *Drosophila*, mouse, frog, sea urchin and nematode worm

E. Cyt B

		Species	compare	ed		
Type of changes	Drosophila	mouse	frog	urchin	nematode	
Transitions						
AG	41	36	32	34	43	
CT	45	49	45	46	43	
Total	86	85	77	80	86	
Transversions						
AC	18	26	29	21	17	
AT	38	22	29	32	45	
GC	10	25	22	32	18	
GT	31	15	26	23	44	
Total	97	88	106	108	126	
Indels	1	1	2	1	2	
Number of sites	391	391	389	391	389	
Total changes	184	174	185	189	214	
% changes	47.1	44.5	47.6	48.3	55.0	

similarity.

Further comparison of both COII and ATPase 8 genes with their counterparts revealed the nature and frequency of specific base substitutions (Table 7). The data presented in Table 7 suggest that the two genes exhibit strikingly different patterns, or modes of evolution. For example, in comparisons of the COII gene, more than 60% of the detectable base pair differences are transversions, and more than 75% of these are A-C or A-T transversions. In comparisons of ATPase 8 genes about 68% of the detectable base pair differences are transversions, and more than 84% of these are A-C or A-T transversions. In comparisons, and more than 84% of these are A-C or A-T transversions. In the COII gene, the content of A-G transitions is about 37% of total transitions; thus the frequency of C-T transitions is about 1.8 times that of A-G transitions. In contrast, in the ATPase 8 gene, A-G transitions comprise only 18% of total transitions; the frequency of C-T transitions is 5 times that of A-G transitions. Although the number of G-C transversions from both COII and ATPase 8 genes is low, the number of G-C transversions from the ATPase 8 gene is lower and is less than half that observed in the COII gene.

Base substitutions in all five protein coding genes, relative to five taxa are summarized in Table 8. Assuming the alignments are reasonably accurate, about 60% of all substitutions are transversions. The most common type of substitution is C-T transitions while the most common transversions are A-T. This latter result probably reflects the general high A+Tcontent in these mtDNAs.

Aquadro et al. (1984) modeled the dynamics of the substitution process. They showed that the decrease in the proportion of transitions observed as divergence increases is consequence of transversions obscuring transitions. They further suggest that although a portion of the mtDNA molecule evolves at an extremely rapid rate, a significant portion
Table 8. Summary of mutation types for protein coding genes,

between Ridgeia and members of five other taxa

		Species	compare	d	
Type of changes	Drosophila	mouse	frog	urchin	nematode
Transitions					
AG	109	1 09	113	143	152
CT	245	228	230	252	227
Total	354	337	343	395	379
Transversions					
AC	129	1 90	200	1 64	142
AT	245	192	1 88	189	279
GC	48	73	73	80	90
GT	73	54	68	84	135
Total	495	509	529	517	646
Indels	7	8	7	5	10
Number of sites	2092	2093	2101	2105	1933
Total changes	856	854	879	917	1035
% changes	40.9	40.8	41.8	43.6	53.5
Jukes-Cantor Divergence	58.7	58.4	60.8	64.9	93.0

Γγη.

is under strong selective constraints. Variable selective constraints can be imposed by functional considerations or structural considerations and can affect the rate of evolution of the region under consideration. The degree of constraint varies among genes as can be seen by comparing rates of evolution calculated for the "slowly evolving" COII gene versus the "rapidly evolving" ATPase 8 gene. The extreme differences in substitution rates for the COII and ATPase 8 genes was previously noted by Clary and Wolstenholme (1985).

Transfer RNA Genes

Five potential tRNA genes were identified. All of these sequences can be folded into the cloverleaf structure characteristic of almost all known tRNAs (Figure 8). Sequence comparison indicated that these genes are homologous to their sea urchin, mouse, frog, and *Drosophila yakuba* counterparts (Figure 9) with similarity ranging from 50% for tRNA^{am} up to 56.2% for tRNA^{am} (Table 6). They are generally smaller than their vertebrate and invertebrate counterparts in size.

Comparisons of mitochondrial tRNAs from five vertebrate and invertebrate species (mouse, frog, *Drosophila yakuba*, sea urchin, and *Ridgeia*) show that the degree of conservation of different functional regions within tRNAs varied. The most conserved region is anticodon loop, there are 100% identity for tRNA[#] among five taxa. The other tRNA genes are more than 80% similar in anticodon loop. The most conserved regions besides the anticodon loop are the dihydrouridine (DHU) stems. The DHU loop, the ribothymidine pseudouridine cytosine (T Ψ C) loop and T Ψ C stem were the most variable regions. The degree of conservation of the 5' half was higher than that of the 3' half.

The differences between the mitochondrial tRNA genes of Ridgeia and those of other

taxa involve mainly substitutions, although small insertion/deletion events of 1-5 nucleotides in length also occur in the different functional regions (Figure 9). Detailed comparison of these five tRNA genes with their counterparts shows the nature and frequency of specific base substitutions (Table 9). The data presented in Table 9 suggest that these tRNA genes exhibit strikingly different pattern, or modes of evolution. Of all five tRNA genes, three (tRNA^{val}, tRNA^{sen}, and tRNA^{sy}) have similar numbers (39, 42, and 41 respectively) and frequencies (40%, 43%, and 42% respectively) of transitions. In the remaining two tRNA genes, more than half (52% and 60%) of the detectable base pair differences are transitions. For all five tRNA genes, the number of A-G and C-T transitions is almost same. In all five tRNA genes, the number and frequency of A-C transversions are much higher than those of A-T, G-C, and G-T transversions, ranging from 45% for tRNA^{**1} up to 74% for tRNA^{**} of total transversions. The number and frequency of A-T and G-T transversions is approximately same, the lowest is that of G-C transversions, ranging from 7% for tRNA* to 1% for tRNA^T of total substitutions. These results suggest that the rate of evolution varies among as well as within mitochondrial tRNA genes. In the rat, mouse, cow and frog comparison, Gadaleta et al. (1989) demonstrated that the tRNAs which coded for the most commonly used amino acids were most conserved. Comparisons among humans showed that tRNA genes that recognize four-fold degenerate codons are generally more variable than tRNA genes that recognize two-fold degenerate codons (Cann et al. 1984).

In the attempt to identify common features, Gadaleta et al. (1989) found that many tRNAs possess the triplet TAG at positions 8, 9, and 10. A second TAG is present also in 11 genes at a fixed distance (20-27 bases) from the 3' terminus. TAG at positions 8, 9, and 10 is also found at high frequency in prokaryotic and eukaryotic tRNAs (ref. in Sprinzl et

••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••		t	RNA genes		
Type of changes	tRNA ^{wi}	tRNA	tRNA P	tRNA [™]	tRNA [#]
Transitions				<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	
AG	18	22	26	25	22
CT	21	20	25	31	19
Total	39	42	51	56	41
Transversions					
AC	26	27	31	28	31
A T	13	15	7	4	11
GC	6	3	7	1	2
GT	13	11	3	5	13
Total	58	56	48	38	57
Total substitutions	97	98	99	94	98

Table 9. Nature and frequency of specific base substitutions in tRNAs in mitochondrial DNA of vestimentiferan, human, mouse, yakuba, frog, and sea urchin

al. 1987), although only T at position 8 is considered invariant. In the tRNA[®] gene of the vestimentiferan, the triplet TAG is also present at positions 8, 9, and 10, the remaining two triplets TAG were found at positions 24, 25, and 26 and positions 53, 54, and 55. The position of second triplet TAG is not located at a fixed distance (20-27 bases) from the 3' terminus, as described by Gadaleta et al. (1989). In the tRNA[®] gene, three sets of triplet TAG were found. However, all positions of three TAG are quite different from that of rat, the first triplet TAG is found at positions 36, 37, and 38 downstream from 5' end, the second TAG is located at positions 19, 20 and 21 upstream from the 3' end, and last TAG occurs at the 3' end of this gene. In the tRNA[®] gene, the sequence TAGTTAAA occurs, starting from the position 8 downstream from 5' end of this gene. This sequence is at the start of the A block of the Pol III enzyme and is probably important for the evolution of the tRNAs in general. The same sequence has not been found in the protein, ribosomal RNA genes, and intergenic sequences.

Ribosomal RNA Genes

Although complete sequences for both ribosomal RNA genes were not determined, partial sequences (Figure 3B) of both small and large ribosomal RNA genes show some features of these two genes. Alignment of the vestimentiferan small and large ribosomal RNA genes with the corresponding parts from vertebrates and invertebrates is presented in Figures 12 and 13. Both small and large ribosomal RNA genes in the vestimentiferan are shorter than those of vertebrates and some invertebrates (sea urchin).

The differences in size between corresponding vestimentiferan and vertebrate and invertebrate mitochondrial ribosomal RNA genes may result from the absence in the vestimentiferan rRNA genes of specific blocks. Indeed, as shown in Figure 12, there are at least six major deletion events in addition to those of one to two nucleotides in the small ribosomal RNA gene. Similarly, there are at least 11 major deletion events and three insertion events besides those of one to two nucleotides in the large ribosomal RNA gene (Figure 13). It is surprising that a region of 237 nucleotides, located at position 434 from the 5' end of this gene, accounts for more than half of the total nucleotide deletions in vestimentiferan large ribosomal RNA gene (Figure 13). In contrast, the longest deletion in the vestimentiferan small ribosomal RNA gene is a region of 45 nucleotides in length (Figure 12). These addition and deletion blocks are variable in length, and range from single, up to 237 nucleotides. Although a small number of insertions are evident in both small and large ribosomal RNA genes, the majority are deletions. The differences result in the variation in size of some loops or stems and in the addition or deletion of some domains. This situation agrees with the view of Gray et al. (1984) who consider addition or deletion of rRNA pieces a common feature of rRNA evolution.

Detailed comparison of the vestimentiferan small RNA primary sequence with those reported from human (Anderson et al. 1981), frog (Roe et al. 1985), and sea urchin (Jacobs et al. 1988) mtDNAs reveals the presence of structural domains that are conserved among these species (Figure 12). Similarly, detailed comparison of the vestimentiferan large rRNA primary sequence with those reported from frog (Roe et al. 1985) and sea urchin (Jacobs et al. 1988) mtDNAa shows the presence of structural domains that are conserved among these species (Figure 13). It is found that in both small and large rRNA genes, the regions near the 3' end of these genes are more highly conserved than those near the 5' end of these genes. Although the sequences of both small and large rRNA have not been folded into

the secondary structures, detailed comparisons of these secondary structures with those from various vertebrates and invertebrates have also not been finished, the data from these primary sequences of two rRNA genes reveal that the presence of primary structural domains that are conserved among all organelle and even nuclear rRNAs and define a universal core structure presumably essential for ribosomal functions.

Further comparison of both small and large rRNA genes with those from other taxa revealed the nature and frequency of specific base substitutions (Table 10 and Table 11). In the small ribosomal RNA gene, the number of transitions in comparisons to human, frog and sea urchin are very similar, comprising 42% of total base substitutions. The numbers of A-G and C-T transitions are also equal. More than 57% of base substitutions are transversions. The frequencies of A-C and A-T transversions are high 66% (sea urchin), 75% (human), and 82% (frog) of observed transversions. The number of G-C transversions is less than 5% of total base substitutions.

In the large ribosomal RNA gene, transitions comprise 34-37% of total base substitutions with the frequencies of A-G and C-T transitions being almost equal. More than 63-66% of the detectable base pair differences are transversions, more than 71-73% of transversions occurred in A-C and A-T transversions. Like that of small ribosomal RNA gene, the number of G-C transversions is less than 6-7.6% of total base substitutions. The ratios of transversion to transition are 1.7 and 1.9 respectively for frog and sea urchin.

		Species compare	ed
Type of changes	HUMAN	FROG	SEA URCHIN
Transitions			
AG	37	39	44
CT	46	44	49
Total	83	83	93
Transversions			
AC	38	37	36
AT	45	54	47
GC	13	10	12
GT	15	16	30
Total	111	117	125
Insertions	15	28	64
Deletions	115	114	75
Total substitutions	194	200	218

.

Table 10. Nature and frequency of specific base substitutions in 12S rRNAs in mitochondrial DNA of vestimentiferan, human, frog, and sea urchin

	Specie	s compared
Type of changes	FROG	SEA URCHIN
Transitions		
AG	72	64
CT	80	76
Total	152	140
Transversions		
AC	88	76
AT	104	114
GC	26	31
GT	46	46
Total	264	267
Insertions	66	181
Deletions	363	442
Total substitutions	416	407

Table 11. Nature and frequency of specific base substitutions in 16S rRNAs in mitochondrial DNA of *Ridgeia* compared to frog and sea urchin

Summary

The relative arrangement of tRNA and protein genes in the sequenced segment of *Ridgeia* (Phylum Vestimentifera) mtDNA molecule suggests that there is a considerable different in relative gene order between the mtDNAs of *Ridgeia*, vertebrates, and some invertebrates. This study has demonstrated that the ATPase 6 gene has been independently translocated during evolution. Also, the tRNA^{am} gene, tRNA^{am} gene, and both of tRNA^{br} and tRNA^{br} genes appear to have been translocated as a single segment.

In addition to a few insertions and deletions, a number of single and multi-codon mutations were observed in the protein coding genes of *Ridgeia* mtDNA. This result suggests that those amino acids which are completely conserved in the corresponding protein genes of vertebrate and some invertebrate mtDNAs, have accepted non-conservative replacements in the vestimentiferan evolution. The data from comparison of both COII and ATPase 8 genes with those from other taxa reveals that the two genes exhibit strikingly different patterns, or modes of evolution. A clear demonstration of variability of constraint among different mitochondrial protein coding regions has been seen by comparing rates of evolution calculated for the "slowly evolving" COII gene versus the "rapidly evolving" ATPase 8 gene.

The differences between vestimentiferan mitochondrial tRNA genes and those of other taxa involve mainly substitutions, although small insertion/deletion events also occur in the different functional regions. The most conserved region is anticodon loop. The degree of conservation of the 5' half was higher than that of the 3' half. The DHU loop and T Ψ C loop and T Ψ C stem were the most variable regions. Data on the nature and frequency of specific base substitutions of these tRNA genes suggest that the rate of evolution varies

among as well as within mitochondrial tRNA genes.

A number of deletion events in both ribosomal RNA genes result in both rRNA genes much shorter than those of vertebrates and some invertebrates. These differences reflect mainly the addition or deletion of entire domains, a common feature of rRNA evolution. Besides a number of deletion events, the evolution of both ribosomal RNA genes involves specific base substitutions. These results show that two ribosomal genes exhibit different patterns.

SECTION III

GENE ORGANIZATION IN THE MITOCHONDRIAL GENOME OF SAGITTA ELEGANS, (PHYLUM CHAETOGNATHA)

INTRODUCTION

Complete nucleotide sequences of the mitochondrial DNA genome are available for several animal species. These genomes, each representing different metazoan taxa, encode the same genes for 12 or 13 polypeptides, two ribosomal RNAs and 22 transfer RNAs, as well as a control region containing the initiation sites for mtDNA replication and transcription. These and other similarities support the general view that the mtDNAs of animals are highly conserved in terms of their gene content, structure, and function.

Vertebrate mitochondrial genomes have a relatively constant organization. The gene arrangement of eutherian mammals and the frog, *Xenopus* is identical. Only two gene rearrangements are known among the vertebrates. A transposition has been demonstrated in the chicken sequence, relative to that of mammals (Desjardins and Morais 1990), and a transposition of two tRNAs has been observed in marsupials, compared to the eutherian arrangement (Pääbo et al., 1991).

In contrast with the relatively constant gene organization within the Phylum Chordata, sequence data from various invertebrate groups reveal that many rearrangements, including inversions and transpositions, have occurred between these phyla. Between vertebrate and *Drosophila* mtDNAs there is a difference in gene order for 11 tRNA genes, the 2 ribosomal RNA genes, and 5 protein genes. In sea urchin, there are novel gene arrangements as compared to the pattern found in the vertebrates. The order of genes in sea urchin mtDNA shows two major differences from that of vertebrates: the genes for 16S rRNA and for ND4L are in new positions, though they remain encoded on the same strand. The 16S rRNA gene is located between the genes for ND2 and COI, rather than between the 12S rRNA gene and the ND1 gene; the ND4L gene is between the genes for COI and COII,

rather between those for ND3 and ND4. In contrast to the two rearrangements involving the protein-coding and ribosomal genes, since the divergence of the vertebrate and echinoid lines up to 15 independent transpositions and inversions of tRNA genes have taken place. A major inversion in the mtDNA of the sea star versus the sea urchin has been observed by Smith et al. (1989). Between mtDNAs of nematodes and *Drosophila*, and nematodes and mammals extensive rearrangements involving almost all tRNA, rRNA, and protein genes have occurred.

Protein genes of metazoan mtDNAs use genetic codes that are modified (Barrell et al. 1979, 1980; Bibb et al. 1981). In all metazoan mtDNAs, TGA specifies tryptophan rather than being a stop codon. ATA has been interpreted as specifying methionine rather isoleucine in all metazoan mitochondrial genetic codes except those of echinoderms (Jacobs et al. 1988; Cantatore et al. 1989). In vertebrate mitochondrial protein genes, AGA and AGG are absent (Bibb et al. 1981) or are used as rare stop codons (Anderson et al. 1981, 1982; Roe et al. 1985). However, in *Drosophila yakuba*, AGA (but not AGG) specifies serine and, in nematode, platyhelminth, and echinoderm mtDNAs both AGA and AGG specify serine (Wolstenholme and Clary 1985; Wolstenholme et al. 1987; Himeno et al. 1987; Garey and Wolstenholme 1989; Okimoto et al. 1992).

Both translation initiation and translation termination of metazoan mitochondrial protein genes have unusual features. Among many of these protein genes, triplets other than ATG (AUG) are used as translation initiation codons. These include ATA, ATT (except sea urchin), ATC (except *Drosophila yakuba*), GTG, GTT and TTG. Also, ATAA has been suggested as the translation initiation codon of the *Drosophila* COI gene. Some intergenic sequences have been found within the mitochondrial genomes from various animal species. Some of them have been assigned functions related to replication and transcription (Bibb et al. 1981; Roe et al. 1985). However, in most cases other than vertebrates the function of the intergenic sequence is poorly understood as is the mechanism of replication and transcription in these organelles.

PCR has recently been devoloped as a standard laboratory technique, with applications in all areas of molecular biology research. Highly conserved regions of mtDNA can be chosen as primers for PCR amplification.

Although many sequences of mtDNA from vertebrates and invertebrates are available, information about mtDNA from the Phylum Chaetognatha has never been reported. Members of the phylum, known as arrow worms, are common animals found in marine plankton. About 65 species have been described. The adults possess none of the features common to the other deuterostome phyla, and they are like aschelminths in many respects. Only the embryogeny of arrowworms would suggest a deuterostome position for these animals. Chaetognatha are an ancient and conservative phylum. Some of their fossils are five hundred million years old, indicating that arrowworms had already evolved by Cambrian times. Chaetognatha are a very enigmatic group, and nobody has ever felt confident of their status; de Beauchamp described them as 'possibly the most isolated group in the animal kingdom', and they have at various times been allied with molluscs, nematodes, spiders, or brachiopods. The chaetognatha were in fact considered as pseudocoelomic; but the muscles are very different in structure to those of nematodes, and the cuticle is not moulted. Their nervous system is described as more like that of protostomes than deuterostomes (Rehkamper & Welsch 1985). In some respects the chaetognatha are quite unique.

Independent evolution of the peculiar chaetognatha design from a very early stage, probably no further advanced than the earlist eucoelomate form, seems the most plausible explanation for this phylum's origins. The phylogenetic relationships of chaetognatha to other animal phyla are still not certain. In order to gain the information on gene organization and evolution of this mitochondrial genome, I chose *Sagitta* (Phylum Chaetognatha) for analysis. Using PCR, two major segments coding three functional classes of genes as well as some intergenic sequences were amplified and sequenced. Sequence analysis of this mitochondrial genome shows substantial differences from those of all vertebrates and invertebrates.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The Polymerase Chain Reaction

Several pairs of primers were used for PCR amplification of Sagitta mitochondrial DNA. Their sequences are listed in Table 1. The location of the genes and PCR amplification and sequencing strategy for Sagitta mtDNA are shown in Figure 16. Two of same pairs of primers used for the vestimentiferan, Ridgeia, also amplified fragments in the chaetognath. No information on gene organization from the chaetognath mitochondrial DNA was known, and it turned out to be radically different. The first pair of primers, COIF and COIIIR, amplified a fragment of 1,397 base pairs, containing partial ND2 and COIII genes of the chaetognath mitochondrial DNA (Figure 16). Using the same pair of primers, a fragment of 1,985 base pairs long was obtained from the vestimentiferan, Ridgeia, encoding COI, COII, ATPase 8, COIII, and four tRNA genes. It can be inferred that COIF primer had sufficient similarity to a site in ND2, to allow amplification and that COI is either located too far from COIII to efficiently amplify a fragment or its transcriptional orientation is reversed relative to COIII. The sequence shows that the COI gene is not located between ND2 and the 5' end of COIII. The second pair of primers, 12SF and 16SR, amplified a segment of the chaetognath mitochondrial DNA, encoding cytochrome B, the large ribosomal RNA, and a tRNA gene. As described above, using this pair of primers, a segment across both small and large ribosomal RNA genes and tRNArd gene was obtained in case of the vestimentiferan mitochondria. It can be inferred that 12S rRNA has moved from position near 5' end of 16S rRNA, where it occurs in vertebrates, insects and vestimentiferans. These results demonstrate that specificity imposed by a single primer is

FIGURE 16.

Location of the genes and PCR amplification and sequencing strategy for Sagitta (Phylum Chaetognatha). Abbreviations of protein names are as used elsewhere in text. The transcriptional polarity is shown by arrows. The tRNA[#] is designated with the single-letter amino-acid code G. The names and sequences of PCR primers are listed in Table 1. PCR conditions are described in text. A. A fragment containing cytochrome B, tRNA[#], 16S rRNA, COI, and COII genes; B. A segment coding both ND2 and COIII genes amplified by using a pair of primers COIF and COIIIR.

rb G 16SrRNA-> COI-> COI-> COII-> -> -> -> -> -> -> -> -> -> -> -> -> -	12SF		16SF 16SF3			
<pre><- If the second s</pre>	ytb	U	-> -> 16SrRNA->	C0I->	COII-	
			<- 16SR		Spacer	<pre><- CollR</pre>

Α.





often sufficient to allow amplification of the mitochondrial gene for which it was designed, if a secondary priming site for the paired primer is present. The third pair of primers, COIF and COIIR (used only for the chaetognath), was used for amplification of another fragment from *Sagitta*. When the sequence of all these fragments was determined completely, a set of new primers was designed for finding the relationships between these fragments. The fourth pair of primers, 16SF3 and COIIR, was used for amplification of the longest fragment of about 3 kilobase long, which joins the two fragments together. Therefore, a large fragment was obtained, which codes for cytochrome B, tRNAth, large ribosomal RNA, COI, and COII genes.

In this study, using adults of the chaetognath as source material, preparation of total cellular DNA is sufficient for PCR amplification. It was not necessary to purify mitochondrial DNA prior to amplification. In all cases, double strands of mitochondrial DNA were amplified. The longest fragment amplified was about 3 kilobases in the chaetognath using the normal buffer system under general conditions.

Sequence and Location of Structure Genes

A total of 5,183 base pairs from the *Sagitta* mitochondrial genome was determined. Figure 17 shows the complete nucleotide sequence of two fragments amplified by PCR. The first fragment of 3,786 base pairs in length contains three open reading frames that, from comparisons of inferred amino acid sequences to those of previously identified mitochondrial genes of human, mouse, cow, *Drosophila yakuba*, frog, and sea urchin, were identified as the genes for cytochrome B (most), COI, COII (most). This fragment also encodes the entire large ribosomal RNA gene. The second segment of 1,397 base pairs, 1**05**a

FIGURE 17.

Nucleotide sequence of two coding regions from *Sagitta* mitochondrial genome. The PCR amplification and sequencing strategy for these two fragments is shown in Figure 16. The transcriptional polarity of individual genes is indicated by the arrows (->). Translation of the mitochondrial protein genes is indicated below or above the sequence using the 1-letter amino acid code. Abbreviations of protein names are as used elsewhere in text. Stop codons are designated by asterisks. The limits of the tRNA genes are enclosed with brackets. The tRNA anticodon is underlined. The non-coding sequences between genes are indicated as "spacer". A. A fragment containing cytochrome B, tRNA[#], COI and COII genes. Both strands of this fragment are shown. B. A segment coding ND2 and COIII genes.

5 ' TTG(GCGC	GCGZ	таа	AGT	тат	CCG	GTI	CTC	CCA	AG?	AAI	TCC	GAG	CAA	AAZ	TA			CA	60
AAC	CGC	CGCI	'ATT	TCA	АТА	GGC	CAA	GAG	GGT	TCI	TT	AGC	СТС	GTI	TTT	'AT	[GC]	TTT	GT	
3'P	P	S	L	Т	Ι	R	N	Е	W	S	I	R	L	L	F	L	S	F	L	
<.	- c}	rtoc	hro	me	B															
GAA	GCGI		CAT	TAC	AAC	AAA	ACC	TAA	CAT	ATC	TT	TAC	CACI	GTA	ATA	TCA	ATG	GAA	AG	120
CTT	CGC	ATTI	GTA	ATG	TTG	TTT	TGG	ATI	'GTA	TAC	;AAA	ATG	FTGA	CAT	TAT	'AG1	TAC	CTT	ТС	
L	Т	F	M	V	V	F	G	L	M	D	K	V	S	Y	Y	W	H	F	P	
.																				
GAA'	rcr		TGA	AGT	AGA	GTI			CAA	TGG	ATI	GTI	GCI	ACC	TGI	CTC	ATG	таа	GA	180
CTT	AGAA	ALAC	ACT	TCA	TCT		VTTG	FTGG	GTT	ACC	TAA	CAA	CGA	TGG	ACA	GAG	TAC	ATT	CT	
T	K	D	S	Т	S	N	V	G	Г	Р	N	N	S	G	Т	E	H	L	L	
CAN				m ~~	100		mac		100	~ > ~				.	<u></u>					
COMM	ngai nomi		MAAG	ACC	AGC				AGC	GAI					GAA	GTG	GAA	AGT	AA	240
CIT.	rur T		TTC	AGG	TCG	ATA		ACT	TCG	CTA		TCC.	:ATG	ATT	CLI	CAC	CLL	TCA	TT	
r	T	п	ىل	G	A	T	A	S	A	T	F	Р	V	Г	F	H	F	Т	F	
ACA		2ACT	286	እርሞ	200	ста		~~~~	200	~ > >	000	moo		~	~~>	-		~ . ~	— —	~~~
		MCY		TC N	AGC MCC		CAC								CCA	GTG			TC	300
TCI:		.IC7	T	TCH m	ICG	NT N	UGAU T	110	TCG			AGG	1991 17	GTT T	66.T		GTG	ATC	AG	
r	R	1	Ц	Ŧ	A	N	E.	v	A	r	G	G	W	ىل	W	н	V	Ц	R	
тссс	2ጥሮር	יראר	גידעי	ACC	63 3	ጥርር	גאי		ጥ እ እ	እጥባ	ጥርባ	דגגי	<u>ה גי</u>	ACT	360		ማሮአ	~ > >	~~	260
	2200	CTC	ጠልጥ	TCC	СЛЛ (СППП		лод тот	мририр Мамалар	1 6 6	ጠነነ	101			TC 2	AGC TCC			Omm		200
D	2000	V	V	D	E E	ACG A	C C	 F	T.	M	т Т	T	110	т С.А. Т	X X	- -	MGI W		99 G	
F	G	v	Ŧ	F	Ŧ	п	5	Ŧ.	Ц	14	+	Ŧ	v	T	л	G		t	R	
ጥጥልባ	ኮጥጥር	GCC	тса	AGG	CAA	CAC	GTA	GCC	AAG	2 Z Z	ACC	יההר	ירבר	ርልጥ	ጥልሮ	ጥልል	እእጥ	ጥልል	~ 2	420
2 A A T	A A A (AGT	TCC	GTT	GTG	САТ	הכככ	TTC	тт	TCG	CCG	2000	GTA	ATC	አጥጥ	עידיידי	አጥጥ	CR CT	720
T	0	С	W	P	T.	v	V		T.	F	Δ	λ	ΔCG λ	M	V	T.	T	Π. Τ.	T.	
-	×	U		-		•	-	9		*	А		A	1.7	•		-	Ц	Ц	
AAGO	стая	AAC	ССТ		CCA	тст	CTT	יאאי		Сат	גידעי	тст	222	ата	ልጥል	እልጥ	ACC	ጥርር	тс	480
TTC	SATT	ттG	GGA	 ጥጥጥ	GGT	ACA	GAA	ТТА	ጥጥጥ	GTA	ТАТ	AGA	CGG	ፐልጥ	ТАТ	ጥጥል	TGG	AGC	AG	400
	Τ.	v	R	F	W	T	K	T	F	M	v	R	G	v	v	T	G	R	G	
••	-	•	- •	-	••	-	••	-	-	••	-	•	-	-	-	-	U	•	U	
CGA	IGT G	ACA	GTA	AAG	ACA	TAT	AAA	GAA	ААА	AGA	AGC	ccc	GTT	TGC	GTG	TAC	тст	GCG	GA	540
GCT	ACAC	TGT	CAT	TTC	TGT	ATA	TTT	CTT	TTT	TCT	TCG	GGG	CAA	ACG	CAC	ATG	AGA	CGC	СТ	•••
I	H	C	Y	L	C	I	F	F	F	s	À	G	N	A	H	v	R	R	L	
-		•	-	-	•	-	-	-	-	-						•		-	-	
GGA		TCC	TCT	ATT	TAC	GTC	CCG	GAA	ААТ	ATG	ATC	CAC	AGA	AGA	AAA	AGC	CAT	ATT	CA	600
CCTT	rggī	'AGG	AGA	TAA	ATG	CAG	GGC	CTT	TTA	TAC	TAG	GTG	TCT	TCT	TTT	TCG	GTA	TAA	GT	
F	W	G	R	N	V	D	R	F	I	H	D	V	S	S	F	A	M	N	V	
CATO	CACA	TGT	GTA	ATG	TAT	AGC	TAA	ААА	AAG	ACC	TGT	TGC	AAG	TTG	GAT	TAC	CAA	GAC	ГА	660
GTAC	STGI	'ACA	CAT	TAC	ATA	TCG	ATT	TTT	TTC	TGG	ACA	ACG	TTC	AAC	СТА	ATG	GTT	CTG	AT	
D	С	Т	Y	H	I	A	L	F	L	G	Т	A	L	Q	I	V	L	V	\mathbf{L}	
														-						
AACO	TAA	TAG	ACT	ACC	AAA	ATT	TCA	CCA	TAC	тст	AAT	ATT	GAT	TGGʻ	TGA	AGG	CAA	ATC	AA	720
TTGO	GATI	ATC	TGA	TGG	TTT	ТАА	AGT	GGT	ATG.	AGA	TTA	TAA	CTA	ACC	ACT	TCC	GTT	TAG	ГT	
G	Ľ	L	S	G	F	N	W	W	V	R	I	N	I	Ρ	S	Ρ	L	D	Ι	

TCAGAGTATTATTAATAATTTTCAAGCTAGGCTCGCTCAGCCGTGTTCGTTTTTGTGTAA 780 AGTCTCATAATAATTATTAAAAGTTCGATCCGAGCGAGTCGGCACAAGCAAAAACACATT L T N N I I K L S P E S L R T R K Q T <- cytochrome B <-

AGTCCTATAGTAGTATGTTTGTAAATATATTCTGATGCTGCTTTTCGTCTGGAATAAGAA 840 TCAGGATATCATCATACAAACATTTATATAAGACTACGACGAAAAGCAGACCTTATTCTT Spacer ->{ <- tRNA^{gly}

16S rRNA ->

TAGTTTATTTGAACATATTTTTGAAAAAGATAAAGACCTGTTAAGTGATTGTAAATCTAG 900 ATCAAATAAACTTGTATAAAAACTTTTTCTATTTCTGGACAATTCACTAACATTTAGATC }

- TTTAACGTCAAACATGTTTTTTACACAGACATAAACTTCAACCGGTGCATTCTATCCTTT 960 AAATTGCAGTTTGTACAAAAAATGTGTCTGTATTTGAAGTTGGCCACGTAAGATAGGAAA
- TGTATAATGAAAGTAGGATAGAATTTGTGGGATCTCTGTTTAAAGGATACATTAAATATT 1020 ACATATTACTTTCATCCTATCTTAAACACCCCTAGAGACAAATTTCCTATGTAATTTATAA
- GAAAGAAAAGCTTAATCTTAAAAAACCTAGGTAAAACGATCTAGACCTTTAAGATATACTT 1140 CTTTCTTTTCGAATTAGAATTTTTGGATCCATTTTGCTAGATCTGGAAATTCTATATGAA
- АТТТАТТТААССТТСАТАТТАGGTTTATAACATTAACCATTTACAATATAGGATTTAATA 1200 ТАААТАААТТGGAAGTATAATCCAAATATTGTAATTGGTAAATGTTATATCCTAAATTAT
- TAATTAATAGTTTCGATATAGCATCTACTTTGAAAATAAAAATTTAAAAGTAAAATAAAAT 1260 ATTAATTATCAAAGCTATATCGTAGATGAAACTTTATTTTTAAATTTTCATTTTATTTTA
- GGACTTCCGAAAGTTTCACAAAAACCTTTCCTTATAATATACAAGGTACACCCTGCTAAA 1320 CCTGAAGGCTTTCAAAGTGTTTTTGGAAAGGAATATTATATGTTCCATGTGGGACGATTT
- GAAAAGATGTAGCATAATTAATAGCCACTTTATTGGTGGAGAGTCTGAAAGGGCACTCGA 1380 CTTTTCTACATCGTATTAATTATCGGTGAAATAACCACCTCTCAGACTTTCCCGTGAGCT
- GAAGGCGAAAATACCTCTACAATGAATAAAGGCGATAAGACCCTAAAAGCTCTATCAATA 1500 CTTCCGCTTTTATGGAGATGTTACTTATTTCCGCTATTCTGGGATTTTCGAGATAGTTAT
- GTTGTTGGGGGCAACGAGAAATATAACATTTCTTTCTTCTAGCTATTTATACTAGTTACTT 1560 CAACAACCCCGTTGCTCTTTATATTGTAAAGAAAGAAGATCGATAAATATGATCAATGAA
- TAGGGATAACAGCGCAATATCCATTAACAAGATCATATTTATAATGGAGAGTGTGACCTC 1620 ATCCCTATTGTCGCGTTATAGGTAATTGTTCTAGTATAAATATTACCTCTCACACTGGAG

107

CTAC	CAA	CTTO	GAT	TTC	CTT	TTG.	ATC	ТСА	TAT	GTG	ATC	ACA	GAT	'AGC	AGA	CAA	GCG	GCT	AAA	
TACO ATGO	CTT.	FAC(ATG(gtg. Cac'	атт: Таа	rga(Act(GTT CAA	CAA GTT	ACC TGG	GGT CCA	'GTA САТ	AAC TTG	CAG GTC	GTT CAA	'GG'I LCCA	TTC AAG	CAAC TTG	CTT GAA	СТТ Сал	таа Атт	1740
TATI Atai	rat: Atai	TAT ATA	rtg Aac	GAT) CTA'	AGT) FCA'	ACG. TGC	ааа ТТТ	GGA CCT	аат Тта	TCG AGC	GTT CAA	AGT TCA	TAC ATG	TGA ACI	TTI	' AA G	тта Аат	TTT AAA	TTA AAT	1800
ATAT TAT	rtt" AAA	ICT AGA	rgt Aca	CGA GCT	GAA CTT	AAA TTT	GAA CTT	СТТ GAA	СТА GAT	атт Таа	CTG GAC	CGT GCA	ата Тат	TAG ATC	тта Алт	TCA AGT	AAA TTT	ТАТ Ата	ТТТ ААА	1860
						со	I -	>												
TCTT AGAI	rgt/ Aca:	16: AAA TTT	s r: Aaa FTT	RNA AAG TTC	-> CTA GAT	M ATG TAC	T ACC TGG	R CGT GCA	W TGG ACC	L TTA AAT	F TTT AAA	S TCC AGG	T ACT TGA	N 'AAT TTA	H 'CAT GTA	K 'AAA TTT	D GAC CTG	I ATC TAG	G GGT CCA	14 1920
m	Ŧ	v	10	17	-	~	-	T.T	c	2	D	Ŧ	~	т	•	-	5	1	-	24
ACT		I FAT	r FTC	GTA	L TTG	GGT.	ATC	TGA	TCT	A GCA	TTC	CTG	GGC		A GCT	CTC	TCA	A GCA	CTA	34 1980
TGA	GAA	ATA/	AAG	CAT	AAC	CCA	TAG	ACT	AGA	CGT	'AAG	GAC	CCG	TGG	CGA	GAG	AGT	CGT	GAT	
I ATTO	R CGA	L CTA	E GAG'	L TTA	G GGT/	N AAT	A GCA	G GGA	S TCG	L TTG	L TTG	G GGT	D GAT	D GAT	Q CAG	L CTA	Y TAC	N AAC	V GTG	54 2040
TAAC	GCT	GAT	CTC.	AAT	CCA	TTA	CGT	ССТ	AGC	AAC	AAC	CCA	СТА	CTA	GTC	GAT	ATG	TTG	CAC	
I	v	Т	A	H	A	F	I	M	I	F	F	F	v	M	Р	Т	M	I	G	74
ATT(GTC/		GCA	CAT(GCA'	TTT.	ATT מאד	ATG TAC	ATT TAA	TTT AAA	TTC AAG	TTT	GTT CAA	'ATG TAC	CCG	ACC	ATG TAC	АТА Тат	GGA CCT	2100
		LON		U I II			****													
G	F	G	N	W	L	V	P	L	I	V	N	A	P	D	I גשגי	A	F	P	R	94
CCA	AAG	CCT	rat" PTA	ACC	AAC	CAA	GGC	GAT	TATA	CAA	TTG	CGA	GGG	CTG	TAT	CGA	AAA	GGA	GCA	2100
L	N	N	I	R	F	W	L	L	Р	Р	А	L	м	L	L	L	L	S	G	114
TTG	AAC	AAT	ATA	AGA	TTT	TGG	CTT	TTG	CCA	CCT	GCT	CTA	ATG	TTA	CTA	TTA	CTA	TCG	GGT	2220
AAC	r tgʻ	rta'	TAT	TCT	AAA	ACC	GAA	AAC	GGT	GGA	CGA	GAT	TAC	TAA	GAT	'AAT	GAT	AGC	CCA	
M	V	Ε	S	G	V	G	Т	G	W	Т	V	Y	P	P	L	S	T	V	G	134
ATG	GTT(GAA	AGC	GGT	GTG	GGC	ACT TCA	GGT	TGG	ACT	GTC	TAC	CCC		TTG	AGC TCC	АСА Тст	GTA Cat	GGC	2280
TAC		C1.1.	ICG	LLA	CAC	LLG	IGN	CCA	ACC	IGA	CAG	AIG	666	GGA	me	.100	101	uni		
H	T	G	G	A	V	D	L	G	I	F	S	L	H	L	A	G	V CTTC	R	S	154
CAT/ GTA	ACA TGT	GGA CCT	GGC CCG	GCT CGA	GTT CAA	GAT CTA	TTG AAC	GGT	ATC TAG	AAA	AGA	GAT	GTG	AAC	CGC	CCC	CAG	AGG TCC	TCA	2340
								_	_				_		-	_	-	-	_	
I NOT		G	S	А С <i>о</i> т	N N	F	I ADT	T ACT	T DO AV	I זיידיני	V CTC	N דע גי	I געע	К . 2 2 2	G GCA	E Gag	G ССТ	ן אדא	T ACA	2400
TAA	GAA	CCG	TCA	CGA	TTA	AAA	TAA	TGA	TGC	TAA	CAC	TTA	TAT	TTI	CCI	CTC	CCA	TAT	TGT	
т	F	Т.	м	S	т.	F	v	W	S	v	L	L	т	А	I	L	L	L	L	194
ATA	GAA	CTT	ATG	TCC	CTG	- TTT	GTA	TGA	TCG	GTT	TTG	TTA	ACG	GCC	ATT	TTG	СТА	TTG	TTG	2460
TAT	CTT	GAA	TAC	AGG	GAC	ала	CAT	ACI	AGC	CAA	AAC	AAT	TGC	CGG	TAA	AAC	GAT	AAC	AAC	

GATGTTGAACTAAAGGAAAACTAGAGTATACACTAGTGTCTATCGTCTGTTCGCCGATTT 1680

S L P V L A G A I T M L L T D R N F N T 214 TCACTCCCGGTATTGGCTGGTGCAATTACTATGCTTCTAACTGACCGCAATTTCAATACA 2520 AGTGAGGGCCATAACCGACCACGTTAATGATACGAAGATTGACTGGCGTTAAAGTTATGT SFFDPAGGGDPILYQHLFWF234 AGGAAGAAACTAGGCCGACCCCCGCCCCTAGGTTAAAATATAGTTGTAGAAAAAACCAAA FGHPEVYILILPGFGIVSQI254 TTTGGACATCCTGAAGTTTATATTCTCATTCTTCCGGGTTTCGGTATAGTGTCGCAGATT 2640 AAACCTGTAGGACTTCAAATATAAGAGTAAGAAGGCCCAAAGCCATATCACAGCGTCTAA Ι NHYSAKGNRFGALGIIYAM 274 ATTAATCACTATTCCGCTAAAGGGAATAGGTTTGGAGCTTTAGGCATAATTTATGCCATG 2700 TAATTAGTGATAAGGCGATTTCCCCTTATCCAAACCTCGAAATCCGTATTAAATACGGTAC IALLGFVVWAHHMFTVGI 294 RS AGGTCCATTGCGTTGTTAGGTTTCGTTGTGGGGCCCACCATATGTTCACGGTGGGTATA 2760 TCCAGGTAACGCAACAATCCAAAAGCAACACCCCGGGTGGTATACAAGTGCCACCCATAT D V D T R A Y F T S A T I I A V P T G 314 GACGTTGATACCCGGGGCTTATTTTACATCTGCTACTATAATTATTGCAGTACCTACTGGC 2820 CTGCAACTATGGGCCCGAATAAAATGTAGACGATGATATTAATAACGTCATGGATGACCG KIFSWLATLHGTPSLLETP334 Ι ATTAAGATTTTCTCTTGATTAGCCACGCTACATGGTACTCCCTCTTTGCTCGAGACTCCT 2880 TAATTCTAAAAGAGAACTAATCGGTGCGATGTACCATGAGGGAGAAACGAGCTCTGAGGA L M W V L G F L F L F T V G G L T G V V 354 TTGATGTGAGTTTTGGGCTTTCTGTTCCTTTTTACAGTTGGCGGTCTCACTGGCGTAGTC 2940 AACTACACTCAAAAACCCGAAAGACAAGGAAAAATGTCAACCGCCAGAGTGACCGCATCAG LANSSLDIRLHDTYYVVAHF 374 TTAGCCAATAGTTCTTTAGATATTAGACTGCATGACACTTATTATGTAGTAGCCCATTTC 3000 AATCGGTTATCAAGAAATCTATAATCTGACGTACTGTGAATAATACATCATCGGGTAAAG Y V L S I G A V F A I F A G V T F W Y 394 H CACTACGTATTGTCAATAGGTGCAGTATTCGCCATTTTCGCGGGGGGTCACTTTTTGGTAT 3060 GTGATGCATAACAGTTATCCACGTCATAAGCGGTAAAAGCGCCCCCAGTGAAAAACCATA PVISGMTMSARGTQVQFAII 414 CCTGTGATTAGTGGGATGACTATGTCCGCTCGTGGTACTCAAGTACAATTCGCGATTATA 3120 GGACACTAATCACCCTACTGATACAGGCGAGCACCATGAGTTCATGTTAAGCGCTAATAT FIGVNLTFFPQHFLGLQGIP434 TTTATTGGTGTAAATCTGACTTTTTTTCCACAACACTTTTTAGGTTTACAAGGAATACCA 3180 AAATAACCACATTTAGACTGAAAAAAGGTGTTGTGAAAAATCCAAATGTTCCTTATGGT YSDYPDSFSTWNVVSSSG454 RR CGACGGTATTCGGACTACCCTGACTCGTTCTCTACTTGGAACGTAGTGAGTTCATCAGGT 3240 **GCTGCCATAAGCCTGATGGGACTGAGCAAGAGATGAACCTTGCATCACTCAAGTAGTCCA**

R L V R I V G V F M F V G V I W K S L S 474 AGACTAGTTAGGATTGTTGGAGTTTTTATGTTTGTAGGTGTAATATGAAAATCTTTATCG 3300 **TCTGATCAATCCTAACAACCTCAAAAATACAAACATCCACATTATACTTTTAGAAATAGC** NARGDVDNLSVE I F RP RL P 494 A GCTATTAATGCCAGGGGAGACGTAGACAACTTGTCTGTAGAGTTTAGACCTCGTCTACCT 3360 CGATAATTACGGTCCCCTCTGCATCTGTTGAACAGACATCTCAAATCTGGAGCAGATGGA COI -> <- Spacer TVLG 507 WHSFN E S v S GTCTCTTGACACTCTTTTAACGAGAGCACAGTATTAGGTTAGAGAGGTGTATAGCACATT 3420 CAGAGAACTGTGAGAAAATTGCTCTCGTGTCATAATCCAATCTCCCACATATCGTGTAA -> COII -> Spacer M S L N F Q N R N S P L M E ATTTTTTGGTAGTAAGGGATGTCTTTAAACTTCCAGAACAGGAATTCGCCCTTAATGGAA 3480 TAAAAAACCATCATTCCCTACAGAAATTTGAAGGTCTTGTCCTTAAGCGGGAATTACCTT O L I F F H D W V I V F V S R I T V G Y CAGTTAATTTTTTTCATGATTGGGTTATAGTTTTGTTAGTAGAATCACTGTGGGATAC 3540 GTCAATTAAAAAAAGTACTAACCCAATATCAAAAACAATCATCTTAGTGACACCCTATG I V S N K P T H R V L L E S Q G V L LI CTGATTCTCATTGTTTCAAACAAACCTACTCATCGTGTTTTGTTAGAGTCTCAAGGTGTG 3600 GACTAAGAGTAACAAAGTTTGTTTGGATGAGTAGCACAAAACAATCTCAGAGTTCCACAC FAWTALPCLVLVAIALPSL E GAGTTCGCCTGGACAGCCCTCCCTTGTCTCGTTCTGGTCGCTATTGCTCTTCCATCTCTA 3660 CTCAAGCGGACCTGTCGGGAGGGAACAGAGCAAGACCAGCGATAACGAGAAGGTAGAGAT IKAIG R L L Y S M D E I I D P S L T CGATTATTGTATTCAATGGATGAAATTATTGACCCTTCTTTAACTATTAAAGCAATAGGT 3720 GCTAATAACATAAGTTACCTACTTTAATAACTGGGAAGAAATTGATAATTTCGTTATCCA DVDEE EF D SYEYS S T H O W Y W CATCAATGATACTGATCTTATGAATATTCTGATGTAGATGAAGAATCCATAGAATTCGAC 3780 GTAGTTACTATGACTAGAATACTTATAAGACTACATCTACTTCTTAGGTATCTTAAGCTG COII-> S Y 3' 3786 TCTTAT AGAATA 51

TTGTATCTCAATCTTGCGGTTCTCTAATGATTTTGTTGGGTGGTATAGTAGCCGATTCTA 60 V S Q S C G S L M I L L G G I V A D S GTTTTTTTTCTGTGTCTTTACTTTTGCATGGCGTGGTTTTTAAGATGGGCCTTATGCCTC 120 S F F S V S L L L H G V V F K M G L M P TTCATTTTTGGGTGCCTTGTGTAGTTATAAATTTAACTCGTTTCAACTTATATCTACTCA 180 L H F W V P C V V I N L T R F N L Y L L TATCTTGGCAAAAGATTGGTCCTATTGTCATGTCATGACCGCTTCGGTGGGGTATACTG 240 I S W Q K I G P I V I V M T A S V G Y T TGTTGTGTCTAGTCAATGCTGTTGGCGGGTCGTTAGCTATGAGCGGTGTTACCGTGTTGC 300 V L C L V N A V G G S L A M S G V T V L CGTTGCTTCTTATTTTTAGAGGAATAGTTCAGATAGGTTGAGTGTTCATAACCACCGGGG 360 P L L I F R G I V Q I G W V F I T T G TTTTCACCTTCTATTATCTTTTGTTTACTACATTGTCTTAAGTGCTGTTGTCCTATACA 420 **V F T F Y Y L F V Y Y I V L S A V V L Y** GGGCAGTCGCTTCGGTTCAATTCGGTTGGGCACTGCTCAACGCAGGGGGGGTTACCTCCTT 480 R A V A S V Q F G W A L L N A G G L P P TCTCTGGTTTTATAATCAAACTAAAAGCGATTTTACATATTAAGGGGAGTATAGTGGTAC 540 FSGFIIKLKAILHIKGSIVV TGTTGGTTGGTGCAAGAGGATTGGCTCTAACTTCTTATATCCGCTTACTGTTGAATACAC 600 L L V G A R G L A L T S Y I R L L N T GTTTGAAGTCGGGCCCCAGCTCTGGTTTTCTTGTAGCCACTATGGTTGCTGGTAGAGTTT 660 R L K S G P S S G F L V A T M V A G R V COIII-> AAATACCTTTGATTTCCAATCTATTGTATCTGATTCTTTGTGGCTGAATATATGAACAAA 720 M N K CACCCGTTCCATATCGTAGACGTAAGACCTTGACCACTGATAGGTTCTGTGGGGGAGTTTG 780 H P F H I V D V R P W P L I G S V G S L TGTCTGGTCGGAGGGCTGGTGACGACCATGCACCGTTACGGTAGCTCTCTTTTCTGGTTG 840 C L V G G L V T T M H R Y G S S L F W L GGTATTGCTCTCATTCTTGCCACTATGTTCCAGTGGTGGCGTGATGTTACACGTGAAGCT 900 GIALILATMFQWWRDVTREA ACGTTTCAAGGCAAACACACTGCGAAGGTAGAAAGAGGCATGCGATATGGTATACTACTA 960 T F Q G K H T A K V E R G M R Y G I L L

в.

ND2->

TTC	ATC	AGT	TCC	CGAG	GTT	TTT	TTC	TTI	TTA	GCT	TTT	TTI	TGG	GCA	TTC	TTC	CAC	TCA	GCA	1020
F	I	S	S	E	V	F	F	F	L	A	F	F	W	A	F	F	H	S	A	
TTG	AGG	CCI	' AA C	GTG	GAG	GTC	GGG	TCI	GTI	TGG	CCI	CCG	TT	GGI	'ATI	TCA	GCI	'ATI	AAC	1080
L	R	P	N	V	E	V	G	S	V	W	P	P	L	G	I	S	A	I	N	
ССТ	TTT	'GAT	GTC	CCI	TTA	CTC	:AA1	'ACA	TCI	ATC	CTA	TTG	TCI	TCC	GGI	GCC	ACT	'ATI	'ACA	1140
P	F	D	V	P	L	L	N	Т	S	I	L	L	S	S	G	A	Т	I	Т	
TGA	GCA	CAC	AGA	GCC	TTA	CTA	GAA		CGG	TGA	TTG	GAG	TCI	CAA	CTA	AGC	TTG	ATI	ATC	1200
W	A	H	R	A	L	L	E	N	R	W	L	E	S	Q	L	S	L	I	I	
ACT	GTC	GTI	CTC	GGI	TTI	TAT	TTT	TCI	'ATA	TTG	CAA	GGC	TTA	GAG	TAT	GTG	TGA	GCI	GGT	1260
Т	V	V	L	G	F	Y	F	S	I	L	Q	G	L	E	Y	V	W	A	G	
TTT	TCG	CTI	TC	GAC	GGT	'ATI	TAC	GGI	'AGT	'ACT	TTT	TAC	GTI	GCI	'ACT	GGI	TTT	CAC	GGT	1320
F	S	L	S	D	G	I	Y	G	S	T	F	Y	V	A	Т	G	F	H	G	
TTA	CAT	GTI	CTC	CATI	GGC		сто	TTT	'ATI	GCG	GTG	ATG	GCI	TAC	CGA	AAC	TTA	TAT	'CAC	1380
L	H	V	L	I	G	Т	L	F	I	A	V	M	A	Y	R	N	L	Y	H	
CAT	TTC	AGA	TGC	CAGG	CA															1397
H	F	R	С	R																

shown in Figure 17B, contains two open reading frames, that from comparisons of inferred amino acid sequences were identified as the protein genes, ND2 and COIII. The sequence lying between the cytochrome B and large ribosomal RNA genes can be folded into the characteristic secondary structure of mitochondrial tRNA gene that contains anticodon expected for tRNAth. The large ribosomal RNA, COI, and COII genes are transcribed in the same direction, while the transcriptional polarty of the cytochrome B and tRNAth genes is reversed (Figure 17A). The ND2 and COIII genes share the same transcriptional polarity (Figure 17B). The base composition of these protein genes and large ribosomal RNA gene from the *Sagitta* mitochondrial DNA is shown in Table 12. In all cases, a high percent of T residue is found.

Unlike those of the vestimentiferan (*Ridgeia*), the majority of the protein genes and the ribosomal gene are not punctuated by tRNA genes. The secondary structure provided by tRNA genes is thought to act as a recognition signal(s) for mitochondrial RNA processing (Ojala et al., 1981). Intergenic spaces of variable length from 23 to 49 nucleotides are found between the rRNA[#] and cytochrome B, COI and COII, and ND2 and COIII genes. The 16S rRNA and COI genes are butt-joined (Figure 17A). No gene overlap is observed in these sequences.

Genomic Organization

Analysis of the sequence from these two regions reveals that there is a novel gene organization in chaetognath mitochondria. As shown in Figure 17A, the gene order of the first fragment is the cytochrome B, tRNAth, large ribosomal RNA, COI and COII genes; the ND2 and COIII genes located in second fragment are adjacent to one another. This order N.

	B	ase composit	tion % of tot	al
Gene	Guanine	Adenine	Thymine	Cytosine
ND2	24.0	19.0	39.3	17.7
COI	22.5	22.2	36.0	19.3
COII	17.8	26.2	37.4	18.7
COIII	22.7	21.0	34.8	21.4
CytB	20.7	24.2	36.8	18.4
16S rRNA	15.2	38.0	32.8	14.0

Table 12. Base composition in Sagitta mitochondrial genes

of genes in the chaetognath mitochondrial DNA shows no similarity to the organization observed in other animal groups.

Comparison of this region with corresponding regions from other animal species is shown in Figure 18. In all vertebrates and in Drosophila, the order of genes for this region is similar: ND2, tRNA(s), COI, tRNA(s), and COII. In sea stars, this order of genes has been changed. The first change is observed at the 5' end of the COI gene, where the ND2 and tRNA genes are replaced by ND1 and a cluster of 13 tRNA genes. The second change is located in the region between COI and COII genes, where the ND4L gene is inserted. The order of genes in the corresponding sea urchin mitochondrial genome also shows two major differences from that of vertebrates: the genes for large ribosomal RNA and ND4L are in new positions. The large ribosomal RNA gene is found between the ND2 and COI genes, rather than between the small ribosomal RNA gene and the ND1 gene; the ND4L gene is added between the COI and COII genes. In two nematodes, Caenorhabditis elegans and Ascaris suum, the order of genes for corresponding region is ND4, COI, tRNAs, COII, and large ribosomal RNA (Okimoto et al. 1992). Further analysis of these orders of genes shows that in all vertebrates and some invertebrates including sea urchin, Drosophila, and nematodes, these corresponding genes are transcribed in same direction. In sea star, a gene inversion has been observed. In the chaetognath, the cytochrome B gene and large ribosomal RNA genes are adjacent. This is the first finding this order of genes. Another major difference of the order of genes in chaetognath is the finding that the ND2 and COIII genes are contiguous, which has never been observed in all previously reported mitochondrial genomes.

FIGURE 18.

A comparison of gene order in linear mitochondrial molecules containing cytochrome b, 16S rRNA, COI, and COII genes. Abbreviations of protein names are as used elsewhere in text. The transcriptional polarity is shown by arrows. The tRNAs are designated with the single-letter amino-acid code. The single-letter amino-acid codes were not shown in D, because the number and kind of those tRNAs were different from each other. The transcriptional polarity of tRNA from chaetognath is shown in Figure 17A. A. Phylum Chaetognatha; B. sea urchin; C. sea star; D. vertebrates or *Drosophila yakuba*; E. nematodes.

	<- cytb	IJ	16SrRNA->			coI->		COII->	
В.	SEA URCHIN								
I	ND2->		.6SrRNA->		coI->	R	ND4L	COII->	
່ ບໍ	SEA STAR								
1	<- ND1 L	ΣD	M V C W A L N G	P P	COI->		R ND4L	COII->	•
D.	VERTEBRATES	OR I	ROSOPHILA						
1 1	ND2->				COI->			COII->	
ਸ਼ ਸ	NEMATODES								
1 1	ND4->		COI->		C M D G	coII->		16S rrna->	
ţ									

A. PHYLUM CHAETOGNATHA

115b

Protein-Coding Genes

The sequence of one entire protein gene (COI) and partial sequence of four other protein genes (COII, COIII, Cyt B, and ND2) are given in Figure 17.

Similarities of the nucleotide sequences and predicted amino acid sequences of the five chaetognath mitochondrial protein genes and the corresponding genes of human, mouse, cow, frog, *Drosophila yakuba*, and sea urchin are summarized in Table 13. The degree of similarity of the different protein coding genes with their vertebrate and invertebrate homologues shows a broadly similar pattern of relative conservation. The order of similarity for the nucleotide sequences of these protein genes is COI=Cyt B>COII>=COIII>ND2. When inferred amino acid sequences are compared, COI is the most highly conserved: COI>Cyt B>COII=COIII>ND2. The highest similarity for nucleotide sequences is 66% of the COI gene from *Drosophila yakuba*; the lowest is 37% of the ND2 gene from the nematode. The highest similarity for amino acid sequences is 72% of COI gene from *Drosophila yakuba*; the lowest is only 30% of the ND2 gene from mouse.

Alignment of the chaetognath nucleotide sequences and protein sequences with those present in *Drosophila*, mouse, frog, sea urchin and nematode mtDNAs is shown in Figures 19 and 20. The COI gene is 1,524 nucleotides in length in *Sagitta*, compared with 1,540 nucleotides in *Drosophila*, 1,545 nucleotides in mouse, 1,554 nucleotides in sea urchin, and 1,555 nucleotides in frog. The COI gene of the chaetognath mitochondria is the shortest among these species. It is surprising that two nematodes, *Caenorhabditis elegans* and *Ascaris suum*, have the longest sequence of 525 amino acids for the COI gene. Lengths of other protein genes are shorter in nematodes than in all vertebrates and some invertebrates (Okimoto et al. 1992). This difference reflects mainly deletion of codons for amino acids

	Protein genes of Sagitta												
	C	OI	СОП	COIII	CytB	ND2'							
Species	N%	A%	N% A%	N% A%	N% A%	N% A%							
MOUSE	61.1	68.3	56.9 55.2	55.5 54.8	62.2 64.0	38.7 30.1							
YAKUBA	65.6	72.0	64.4 58.6	56.3 56.1	67.8 69.4	40.8 34.2							
FROG	60.9	67.7	57.5 53.4	55.8 54.4	59.0 63.6	38.9 32.4							
URCHIN	60.7	64.2	55.5 51.7	54.7 52.6	57.6 57.4	40.9 37.0							
C. elegans	60.3	61.2	45.8 32.8	47.6 43.3	52.6 45.9	37.4 40.6							

Table 13. Similarities between mitochondrial protein genes in different taxa

Notes: N%: Nucleotide sequence similarity %.

A%: Amino acid sequence similarity %.

* Parts of the gene could not be reliably aligned.

NVI I

A comparison of the nucleotide sequences of chaetognath (Se) and other animal mitochondria: A. COI; B. ND2; C. COIII; D. COII; and E. Cyt B. The comparisons include *Drosophila* (Dy), mouse (Mm), frog (Xl), sea urchin (Sp), and nematode (Ce). All nucleotide sequences from the chaetognath were aligned so as to maximize the similarity of sequences conserved in the other genomes. Nucleotide identities to chaetognath are indicated by (.). Gaps are indicated by dashes.
F

Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	ATTAATCTTT	атааааата	ATGACC A TT. G.A CAA TCAAGGAGGA	CGTT TCGCGA.AA. ATTAAT ATTACT CTAAGAA. TTGGCAGT	GGTTATTTTC .AC .AC .AGAGAG	CACTAATCAT TA ACC AAC TC.C AT	30
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	AAAGACATCG TT. T T. T. 	GTACTCTTTA .AT.A .ACC .CC .AA .A	TTTCGTATTG A.TT .C.ACC CATT AA.TT TA.TT	GGTATCTGAT AGCTG AGCG GCTG GGCG AC.T	CTGCATTCCT .C.G.A.AG. .G.G.A.AG. .A.GGCG. GCA.GG. GTA.GG.	GGGCACCGCT AAAT TTA CA AA TTTAGA	90
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	CTCTCAGCAC T.AAG.ATTT AAGTATTT TAGCTT.T A.GAGT.TGA T.TTTT.T	TAATTCGACT GC GC GC .TCTGC TT.	AGAGTTAGGT A TAC.TA.C CG.CA AC.	AATGCAGGAT CCG C.ACTG C.GC.CA C.AC.TT. ACT.	CGTTGTTGGG .AAA.T .AC.TA .AC.AC.T CC.AAA TTTC.TA.	TGATGATCAG AA ACA ACA AC GAGA	150
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	CTATACAACG A.TTT. A.TT. A.TT. A.TT. A. T.GTTT	TGATTGTCAC .AT .TCA .TCT .G.CT CAGA.T	TGCACATGCA T CT AT CAT.G ATT	TTTATTATGA GA. A. C.AG.C AT.AA.	TTTTTTTCTT TA. CA. CA. CA. TA.	TGTTATGCCG AAAT AAAA AGT GAAA GAAT	210
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	ACCATGATAG .TTAT. .TAAT. .TTAC. .TAT. TAC.	GAGGTTTCGG .GGT .TAT .TAT .TAT	AAATTGGTTG AA CAC.T GCAA GAC.C TCAA	GTTCCGCTAA GTT CA AAT T.AAT.	TAGTTAACGC T.AGGA A.CGGA AGGA .GA.CGGT .GT.AGGA	TCCCGACATA T CAT GAT GATG ATT	270
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	GCTTTTCCTC ACA. ACA. AG. CCC. AGAA.	GTTTGAACAA .AA.AT .AA.AT .AA.AT .CAA AT	TATAAGATTT T C GT	TGGCTTTTGC AT.AC.A. ACC.A. AC.T. AA.T. T.AA.	CACCTGCTCT .TAT.AT. .CAT.AT. .CT.AT. .TA.ATA.	AATGTTACTA TTCTT TC.CC.TC TC.TT TAT .T.AA.T	330
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	TTACTATCGG GAGAA CGCAT CGCAT GCGC. GATG.TT	GTATGGTTGA .AA CAAA C.GG CAGGAA .T.TA	AAGCGGTGTG AA.CT .GCAA.CA .GCAA.CC AAA.CA T.TATGT	GGCACTGGTT TA AAA. AC. GA.G.	GGACTGTCTA .AT .AA .AG .AA	CCCCCCTTTG TA AC.A GA TC.C AA	390

Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	AGCACAG TCTTGGTA GC.GG.AATC GCTGG.AACC TCT.GTAAAA AA	TAGGCCATAC .C.CTGG CTG. CAG. ACACG. .GGCC.	AGGAGGCGCT TCTT CAT.A TCAT.A CTA.GT.C TA.TAGA	GTTGATTTGG AA. ACC.AA CC.AA A. AA.	GTATCTTTTC CT CATC CATC CAC CTAG	TCTACACTTG TTA CTTA CTA CTA CTC. .TTGCA	447
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	GCGGGGGGTCA TAA.TT TAGT TTA.TT CT.C.T AT.A.	GGAGTATTCT CTTCAT. CATCT. CATCT. CTTCCCT. .ATCCT.	TGGCAGTGCT AAGCTA ATGCAAT. AAGCAAT. GCTCAT. ATGAT.	AATTTTATTA CCC. AA. GT	CTACGATTGT .GTG.AA. .CTA. .AA.CAA. .AA.CAA. GT.C.AA	GAATATAAAA TCG. CCG TC TGCGG ATCGT	507
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	GGAGAGGGTA TC.ACTA. CCCCCA.CC. CC.CCA.C AC.CCG. AAGTTC	TAACAATAGA .TT CAGT. T.TCA.T. .GT.TT.G .TTT	ACTTATGTCC C.GAAC.T T.AA.CTC.A C.AA.CCC.A T.G.C.TC.T AAA.T	CTGTTTGTAT T.AC. AT. T.AC.C. T.AT.	GATCGGTTTT AAG. CAC. AA CC A.TA	GTTAACGGCC TA.TT.T TA.TA AA.CAT TG.CT TGA.TG	567
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	ATTTTGCTAT T.AAT. G.ACCC G.AC.TTC T.CCC TAGG	TGTTGTCACT .AC.ATT. .AA .TC.TT. .CC.TT. .TAT.	CCCGGTATTG AATC.T AAGC.A TT.C.A TAA AT.A	GCTGGTGCAA CAT. C.CA.GC. C.CA.G AA AGT.	TTACTATGCT AT. A. .CAT. A	TCTAACTGAC ATA AA ATAT CAT GTT	627
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	CGCAATTTCA AA. CC.A. TC.G. TAA.A. TA.	ATACATCCTT TT .CA.T A.T .CA.T TA	CTTTGATCCG TA CT C.T TA	GCTGGGGGGCG A.A. A.A. C.A.A. A.A.G. AGAACT.A.	GGGATCCAAT .AT .TCG. .A .TATC.	TTTATATCAA GC .C.CCG AC.TC .CT .A.T	687
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	CATCTTTTTT GC. CGC. CAC. T.G	GGTTTTTTGG .A .AC .AC .C .A	ACATCCTGAA TC GCA GCA CCG T	GTTTATATTC T GC GT	TCATTCTTCC .AT.A .TCC .TCT.A .TCT.A .GT.A	GGGTTTCGGT ATA AATA AGTC AT A.CT	747
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	ATAGTGTCGC A.TT. TA.TA. GA.CC. GA.CA. TCAGA.	AGATTATTAA .TG .TG.AGC .TCG.A.C .CGAGC .ATCCACT	TCACTATTCC AAG.AT .TC .T.TCA CT .T.T.TAA.A	GCTAAAGGGA .GAA.G .GAAAAG .GAAAAG .GGC.AG .GAAAAG	ATAGGTTTGG .A.CTC .ACCTC .ACCTC .GCCTC .AGTT	AGCTTTAGGC TTA CTA.AA CTA.AA .TACC.GG TGT	807

ATAATTTATG CCATGAGGTC CATTGCGTTG TTAGGTTTCG TTGTGTGGGC CCACCATATG Se 867C..... T..ACTTG. T....GA..AA..TAT.A.. T..T..A. Dv ...G.A.GA. .A..A.T... T....GC..T C....C..TAA..A..C..A Mm ...G.C.GG. .A..A.TA.. A....GAC.T C....C..TAC..A.. ...T..C..A X1 Sp ...G..... .A.. TTTAAG A....GT..A A.T....GT. .A..A..A.. T...... Се TTCACGGTGG GTATAGACGT TGATACCCGG GCTTATTTTA CATCTGCTAC TATAATTATT Se 927 Dy MmA...A. .AT.....T.. A...C...A...AGC.....A...C..C X1 ..T....T. A.C..A.... A.....T..AC..C.A..A.. A....C..C ..T..A..A. .G..G..T..A..A ..A..C..C. .TG.C..C.. A..G..... Sp Ce .AT..A..A.TT. G...T.A..TT .GG......G.... GCAGTACCTA CTGGCATTAA GATTTTCTCT TGATTAGCCA CGCTACATGG TACTCCCTCT Se 987 ..G..T.... A..A.... A.....TAGAT. .TT..... A....AACT. Dy ...A.T.... .C..TG.C.. AG.A..TAGC ...C.T..A. .C.....C.. AGG.AATAT. Mm X1 Sp ..T..C..A. .A..AT.A.. .G.....AGA ...A.G..A. A...C..A.. GT..AATCTAG..A. .A..TG.... AG.G..TAGAG..T. .AT..TT... ..TAAAAATG Се TTGCTCGAGA CTCCTTTGAT GTGAGTTTTG GGCTTTCTGT TCCTTTTAC AGTTGGCGGT 1047 Se Dy .CTTATTCTC .AG..A.TT. A....C...A ..A...G.T. .TT.A..C.. ...A..A..A AAATGATCTC .AG..A.AC. A....CC..AA.T. ..T.A.....T... Mm AAATGA..CG .C..AA.AC. T....CC..ACA.T. ..T.G..... T..A..A... X1 CAATGAAGAC TC....AT. A...ACC... ..GA..G.A. .TT.A..C.. .T.A..A..A SD G.AT.TA.TC .A.T...AT.A... ..T...A.T. .TT.G..... TT.A..T..G Ce CTCACTGGCG TAGTCTTAGC CAATAGTTCT TTAGATATTA GACTGCATGA CACTTATTAT 1107 Se T.A..A. A. .T..A..... T...TCA..A G.T..... TTT.A.... T.... Dy ..A..C..AA .T..T...T. ...CTCA..C C.T..C..CG TG..T..C.. T..A..C... Mm T.A. A. TA .T. TC.T. ... CTCA. A C.T. T. .. A. .C. T. .C. .C. .. X1A..TA .T..TC.T..TCC..C A.T..CT..G TT..T..... T..C..C..C Sp T.G..A..T. .T..A...T. T...TCAAGA ..G...... TTT.A..... T..... Се GTAGTAGCCC ATTTCCACTA CGTATTGTCA ATAGGTGCAG TATTCGCCAT TTTCGCGGGG 1167 Se Dy Mm X1 ...G....T. .C..T.... ...TC.T... ...G..G..T.T.A.. C....T..TTAGA.T..T.. T..T..AAGT T....A..T. .T..T.GG..A....T Sp Се GTCACTTTTT GGTATCCTGT GATTAGTGGG ATGACTATGT CCGCTCGTGG TACTCAAGTA 1227 Se T.T.T.CAC. .A..C..AT. AT...C...A T....AT.AA ATAA.AAAT. GTTAA..AGT Dy T.TGT.CAC. .A.TC..AT. AT..TCA..C T.C..CC.AG AT.ACACAT. AG.AA...CC Mm T...T.CAC. .A.TC..GT. AT...C...T TAT..AC.AC AT.AAACAT. AG.AA..A.C X1 T.....CAC. ...T...CC. CT.CTC...T TAT.GCC.AC A.C.ATTAT. AGGAA.G..T Sp ..T..AC.A. .A.GAAGAT. T....CA... TATGTGT.AG ATAAA.T.AT G.TATCT.C. Се

CAATTCGCGA TTATATTTAT TGGTGTAAAT CTGACTTTTT TTCCACAACA CTTTTTAGGT 1287 SeTATT.G..... ...A..... T.A..A.... .C..C..... T.....A Dy ..C....C. .C....CG. A..A....C A.A..A..C. .C..T.... T..CC.G..C Mm ..T..T.GAG .A.....GCT... T.A..C..C. .C..T..... T...C....C X1 ..C...TTC. .A..G...G. ...A..C..C T.A..C... .C..T..... ...C.... SD GT...TATTT .AT.....G..... T.A..A.... .C..G.T... T...GC...A Ce TTACAAGGAA TACCACGACG GTATTCGGAC TACCCTGACT CGTTCTCTAC TTGGAACGTA 1347 Se Dy C.TTC..... C..C..A... A..TG .T.A.A.C.. A..A..ACT Mm X1 ...AGC.C..T..... A..C..T... A...G .T.ATA.ATT A..A..TACC C..GCC.... .G......C..A... ..T..A...G .C.ATA.ACT ...A..TACT Sp Ce C....C..GT .C....TAA A....TA..TTG TT.AT..GGT A..A..TA.T GTGAGTTCAT CAGGTAGACT AGTTAGGATT GTTGGAGTTT TTATGTTTGT AGGTGTAATA 1407 Se ...TC.A.TA TT..GTC.AC TA..TCAT.A T.A...A... AT.T...T. CTA.A.T..T Dy .. CTC...TA T...ATC.T. TA..TCAC.A ACA.CT...C .C..CA.GA. CTT.A....T Mm ..CTCA..TA TC..GTCCT. .A..TCTC..CC..AAA.AA. .TTCA.T..C X1 A.CTCC...A TT..ATC.AC CA.CTCCG.A ..G.CTA.GC .AT.T..CC. CTTCT....C Sp A.TGCC..T. AT...TCTA. TA....A.C. .CA...C.A. .CT.A...A. TTA....T. Ce TGAAAATCTT TATCGGCT-- ---ATTAAT GCCAGGGGAG ACGTAGACAA CTTGTCTGTA 1461 Se ...G..AG.. ..GT.T..CA ACGACAAGTA ATTTATCC.A TTCA.TTA.. T.CA...A.T Dv ...G.GG.C. .TG.TT.AAA ACGAGAAGTA ATATCA.T.T CGTAT.CTTC AACAAA.T.. Mm ...G..G.A. .TG.A...AA ACGAGAAGT. A...CTTAC. .AT..ACATC AACCATAT.G X1 .. GG.GG.C. .CG.TT..CA ACGGGAAGGA AT..CCCC.. .GT.CTCAC. .GCC..AC.. Sp .T.G.G.... .C.TTAG.TA TCGTT.AGTA ATT..A.ATT .TTATTCT.. TAGAAGACCT Ce GAGTTTAGAC CTCGTCTACC TGTCTCTTGA CACTCTTTTA ACGAGAGCAC AGTATTAGGT 1521 Se ...A.GATAT. AAAA.AC... CCCAG..GA. ..TAGA.A.T CT..ATTAC. .C.T...ACA Dy ..A.GACTT. A.G.CTGC.. .CCAC.A.AT ...A.A..CG .G..ACCA.. CTATG..AAA MmGACTT. AAG.CTGC.. CACTC...AC ..TA.C..G. .GACC...CT C..TCA.ATC X1 GACA.T ACACCTCCTT .CC.C...CT ...CACACCT T...TGAA.. .CCC.CTACC SDA.T.TA TGA..AATTA ...A.T.G.T ...AG..A.C .GTCTGAG.T TTAT..TA.A Ce TAG-----1524 Se A.T-----Dy GTAAAA-----Mm A.CCATCAAA TAATTAAA X1 ATAATTATTG TAAAG---SD

Ce ACTACTAGAT TAAAAAAT

50	TTOTATOTO	ATCTTCCCCT	TOTOTAATCA	TTTTCTTCCC	TCCTATACTA		50
26	LIGIAICICA	AICIIGUGGI	TUTUTAATUA		Iddinindin		•••
Dv	TA.C	.GTG.CA	AACTG.TT	.AATTC	.TCATT	CTTA	
Min	.CCA.A	.G.AACA.CC	AA T.	000 . 0 .	CATCGC.C	AACTATAAAC	
X1	TA.A	.G.AGCA.CA	GC.C.TC	DTD2.D2.	.ATAAT	AATGCCTGAC	
Sp	C.TGT	.GCAA.G	GGC.C.TT	.GC.AAAA	C.CCC.T.G.	CAAGCTTGGT	
Ċe	TAT	.GAG.CTTTA	GG.TT.AT	C.TC.TT.	.A.A		

B. ND2

122

Т

Se			GCCGATT	CTAGTTTTTT	TTCTGTGTCT	TTACTTTTGC	87
Dy	TATTGGCAAA	TAATTTAAAT	AAT.AAAT.A	A.GAA.C	.A.ATCAATA	A.TAA.AT	
Mm	AACTAGGAAC	ATGAATATTT	CAACAAC.AA	.A.ACGG.C.	.ATCC.TAAC	AACAAA	
X1	TCACCGGAGA	ATGGTCAATT	TTA.ATTTAA	.A.ACCC.C.	GATGCG.A	ACTA.AACCA	
Sp	TGACGGGATC	ATGATCAATC	CTA.ATCC.G	TAAGAGG.	AA.CTCCAT.	.GCAAGAA	
Ce			****	•••••	-GGA.GTCTA	AATT	
Se	ATGGCGTGGT	TTTTAAGATG	GGCCTTATGC	CTCTTCATTT	TTGGGTGCCT	TGTGTAGTTA	147
Dy	CG.C.T.AT.	AAAGA	AGCCGCT.	T	ATT	AA.AA.AG	
Mm	TA.C.C.ATC	CA.AAC.A	CGCC.	.AT.CC	CAT.AA	GAAAC.C	
X1	TCAA.CTG	.A.AAC.A	AGCA.	T.CC	CAT.A	GAACCC	
SD	TA.C.C.T.C	AA	GCC.	G.CC	CAT.TA	GATT.AC	
Ce	T.ATTA.TT.	AGAT	TG.AGCA.	.GCC	AA.TTT.	AAACA.	
Se	TAAATTTAAC	TCGTTTCAAC	TTATATCTA-	CTCATATC	TTGGCAAAAG	ATTGGTCCTA	204
Dv .	A GGA	ΔΤ.ΔΔ.Δ.Τ	GCT.TGA	T.AA.	A A	CAT	
Mm	A GGGA CC	A TGCA. TA	GG.CT.A.T-	TCTA.	A A A		
Y1	A GGAC T G	ΔΟ ΔΟΔΑΤΤ	GG TAA C-	ATCCA	Α.ΑΑ	A	
Sn			GGGCTAA -	A AGCCA		0	
		ΔΔ ΔΤ	GGGCTAA GT	GGT TT A	A TT A	T.ACCATT.T	
66	A10A.111		dude i /vi. di	dd1.11	/		
Se	TTGTCATTGT	C	ATGA	CCGCTTCGGT	GGGGTATACT	GTGTTGTGTC	249
Dy	.AA.AT.AA.	TTCTTAT	T.A.	ATAT.AAAAA	TTTA.TATTA	A.TAGTGTAA	
Mm	.ATCAT.	AATTCAAATT	TACCCGC.AC	T.AACTAC	TATCAT.TTA	A.AC.AGCAA	
X1	.A.CTCT.	ATATCAAATC	GCTCCAAT	TAAA.A.ACC	ACTTCT.CTC	ACTC.AG	
Sp	.AA.AC.AA.	GTTTTATTTT	AGCCAGT.AG	GTTTTTA	CCTACTTA	ACACCTA.GT	
Ċe	.AACTT.	ATTACAAATT	TTTTG.T	TAAGAC	.TATAT.TTG	T.ATGT	
Se	TAGTCAATGC	TGTTGGCGGG	TCGTTAGCTA	TGAGCGGTGT	TACCGTGTTG	CCGTTGCTTC	309
Dv	TT ATCA.T	.AATTA	G.AA.T.GAG	GTTTAAACCA	A. TTCAC.C	.GAAAAT.AA	
Mm	TACTTC.AT	T.CATA	G.A.G. GAG	GACTTAACCA	A. ACAAA.A	.GAAAAAA	
X1	CACATCAA	AC AT C	GGA.GGGG	GACT.AA.CA	A. TCAAC.A	.GAAAAA.CT	
Sn	Δ ΤΤΟ Τ	GC GATA	GGC.GG.GAG	G. CTAAA. CA	G. GCAAG.	.GTAA.AT	
Ce	T.G.T.TG	.TATTCAA	ATT	TTT.TCA.	A.AAAGT.AT	AAAAATT.GT	
50	TTATTTTAC	ACCANTACTT	CACATACCTT	GAGTGTTCAT	AACC	ACCGGGG	360
35 Dv		TTCT TAA			T TTTAATG	ATT.GA.AAT	
U y Mun			с л		ТЭЭТТЭТТ	TAC A CCAT	
	AGUL.A.TU						
A I				T AC	ΤΟΟΟΤΑ		
Sp	AGUALLIU		M.MUU.		CCCACTATTT	ΤΤΤΤ ΔΔΤ Τ	
ιe	.AAIU	. ILL.LAG	ICII.184	. u	GUAGIATIT	1111.00111	
Se	TTTTCACCTT	CTATTATCTT	TTTGTTTACT	ACATTGTCTT	AAGTGCTGTT	GTCCTATAC-	419
Dy	CAA.TTGA	AATT	ATT.	CAT.CT.A.C	TTTTAT.A	ACAT. TATAT	
Mm	СССТС.	ACTCA.CC	A.AA.CTA	TTC.TAC	.GCCCA.A	T.A.GCAC	
XĨ	AGA.TAA.	T.TAA.CT.A	ACAA	TAA.GAC	CTCCA.GA.A	TTGTAC	
Sp	ACGCTG.GA.	.AT.ATGT.A	GA	TAA.TAA	C.C.TT.G	T.TTTGT	
Ċe	AATA	ΤΤ.Α	AT .	TA	TA.T.T.A	T.AA.T.CTA	

Se ------ -----AGG GCAGTCGCTT CGGTTCAATT CGGTTGG--- ------449 Dy TTAATATTTT TAAATTATTT CATT.AAA.C AAT.ATTT.C TT.A.TTGTA AACAGAAAAA TTATACTAAA TAACTCT.TA A.CA..AAC. .AA.CTC.C. TCTA..AAAT AAAACTCCAG Min TAAAAACTAT CTCATCC.CA AA.A.TT... .TT.AGCTAC .TCG..ATCT AAAACCCCAT TTGACCACTT AAAGGTCTCC A..T.G.GAC ACT.AA..AC TAT..CTCAG CTTTCACCAA X1 SD AG----- TTTCT AAAACTAGGG Се ----- --- GCACTGC TCAACGCAGG GGGGTTACCT CCTTTCTCTG Se 486 ΤΤΤΤΑΑΑΑΤΤ ΤΤCATTATTT ΑΤΑΑΑΤΤ.ΤΤ .ΑΤCTTT... Τ..Α..... ..Α..Τ.ΤΑ. Dy CAATACTAAC TATAATCTCA CTGAT.T.A. .ATC.CT... A..CC.T..A ..AC.AA.A. Mm CCACTACGGC ACTCTCACTT TTAA.T..T. .TTCTTT... T..CC.T..A ...C.T..A. X1 TTAGAGTTGC TCTTGTTCTC CTA.TGA... ..TCTCT... A..CC.T..C ..A..AA.C. SD GTTATAATTT TATTAATTGA GAAA..ACAT .AGTATTTTT AAATA.T..A TT.AGAGT.T Се GTTTTATAAT CAAACTAAAA GCGATTTTAC ATATTAAGGG GAGT----- ----ATAG 534 Se .A...T..CC A...TG.TT. .TA...CA.. .AT.A.CAAT AT..AATCAA TATTTTT..T Dv .A..CT..CC A...TG..TT ATC..CAC.G .AC...TAAA A.ACAACTGT CTAATT.... Mm .G...G..CC A...TG.TTT ATT...CA.G .AT.G.CAA. CCAAAACACA ACTATTC... X1 .G....CC. A..GT.T.CC T.CC...ATT TCT.GGTT.C C.AAAATTTT ATCATTT..T SD CA...T.TG. A...A.TTTC T.AT.GAGGG .A...TTTAA ATA.GATAGA TTCTTT.CTC Се TGGTACTGTT GGTTGGTGCA AGAGGATTGG CTCTAACTTC TTATATCCGC TTACTGTTGA 594 Se .AAC.T.AA. AA.AATAT.. .CTTT.A.TA .AT..TT..TT.A..A A.TTGT.ACT Dy CAAC...CA. A.CAATAAT. GCTCT.C.AA AC...TTC.TT... C..A.T.ATT Mm X1 CCAC.ACAC. A.C.CTGT.. GC.CT.C.CA GC...TT..T C..CC.T... C..ACT.AT. CTTCTA.TA. .A.AAT..G. .ATCTTCAA. A.TATTT..TC....A A.TTC...T. SD .AT.TT..C. TT..ACAAT. TTTTT..CT. TAT.GG.A.T .AGAT.TT.A ...A.TAACT Се Se ATACACGTTT GAAGTCGGGC CCCAGCTCTG GTTTTCTTGT AGCCACTATG GTTGCTGGTA 654 CAG.TTT.A. ATTAAATTAT TT.GAAAA.A AC.GAA.CA. G.AA.TA.AT A.AAA.A... Dy CC..TTCAC. A.CAATATTT ..A.C.AACA A.AACTCAAA .ATA.TA.CT CACCAAACA. Mm T.GTCACAC. A.CA..ATCA ..A.ATA.AT CAAACGCATC .TTA..ATGA CGACACCACT X1 .A..TA.C.. ATTTCT.TTT ...CAACACA T.A..AGATC C...T.ATG. CGAAA.A.G. SD TG.G.ATGAA A..TAAT.AA GAA.CT..AA A.AA.AA.AA .ATA.A.TAT T..AT.AT.T Се 659 Se GAGTT----- ----ATAA.ACTAA TTTATATTTA ATTATAACTT TTTTTCAAT TTTCGGATTA TTTTTAATTT Dy A.AC.AAACC CAACCTAATA TTTTCCACCC TAGCTATCAT AAGCACAATA ACCCTACCCC Mm CTAAACAACC ATCACTTTTA TTATCAATCG CATTAATCCT ATCCTCATTT ATTATTCCAA X1 C.A.AATTTC ACCTCTCGCC CCAAAGGCAT GATTAAGTTC GGTCTCCACT GTGTTGAGTA SD Ce TTCCGTTAAT AGTTATTTCT ATTATT Se ---- -CTTTATTTTT TTTTATACTT Dy TAGCCCCCCA ACTAATTACC Mm X1 TTTCACCATT AACTTTAACA SD CTCTTGCAAT ACCCCTTACC CTCCCCTTAT ATATAATTAC A

C. COIII

Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	ATGAACAAA- TCT.C.C CCC GC.C GCTA A	ACTCAAAT ACCAAACT ACCAAACT ACCAAGCA TTCAA	CCCGTTCCAT TT TG.A.ATC .G.C.AC A.AT TAATT	ATCGTAGACG T.ATTT ATA.TC ACC T.AC TTAGAC	TAAGACCTTG ATCA CTA CCC ACA .TTC.AGG.A	ACCACTGATA TT.A.C. T.A.CT A.CG CT.AGAC TGTAT.AT	51
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	GGTTCTGTGG GA.T. AG.CT.TT AGA. AG.AT.TA TTA.T.T.T.	GGAGTTTGTG .AGC.A.AAC CAGCCC.CCT CAGC.C.ACT .AG.CAAT CCTCAGCCG.	TCTGGTCGGA AACTATC. AACATC. CTACATC. GAACTTC. AAT.AA	GGGCTGGTGA TA.AA. TAA. CT.A.CT. CAATCC TCTT.AA.	CGACCATGCA AATGAT.T TATGAT.T TATGAT.T TATGGT.C TATTTT.TA.	CCGTTACGGT T.AAT.A. .TA.A.TTCA .TT.GGATCA TACCC.AAAG ATT.GGACTA	111
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	AGCTCTCTTT .TTAT.A. .TTA.AA. .TAAT .CTAA.T.AA TA.GAAT.A.	TCTGGTTGGG .T.TAA .AACCC.T .AACCC.A CT.TAG.A .TATTTAC	TATTGCTCTC A.AT.A.T CC.ACTCAC. CC.AAT.ACT CTTTAT.A AC.ATT.TCT	ATTCTTGCCA .C.ATTA. .A.A.CCT AG.ACTA. T.AA.AA.A. G.GT.ATTT.	CTATGTTCCA .AG.T.AT .AA.AT AA.T AAG.TA. T.TCTTGC	GTGGTGGCGT AAAA AAAA AAAA CAC TAG.TAAG	171
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	GATGTTACAC T CA.TT. A.A.TT. A.G.TA	GTGAAGCTAC .AGA .AGA .AGA .AA.GC.A TAG	GTTTCAAGGC T.ACA C.ACA ACA CG AAGT	AAACACACTG TTT C.CC C.TC .G T.CT.A.T	CGAAGGTAGA ACGCAAC .T.TTC. .ACCCTC. .T.TTA. TTTTCTAT	AAGAGGCATG T.TTTT.A AAC.A AAT.A AGA .GACGT.T	231
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	CGATATGGTA GAA. A. C. AATCAG	TACTACTATT A.TT A.C .GA.C A.TT	CATCAGTTCC TTTTAA GTCG TT.CAA TA.CCA TG.GTT.AGG	GAGGTTTTTT AA. AA AAC. GC. TA.A.	TCTTTTTAGC .TG.TAG GCG A.T.G .TC CTTG	TTTTTTTGG AA ACCA ACCA CA	291
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	GCATTCTTCC TT. GAT. T.A.A C ATTG	ACTCAGCATT .TAG.AGT .TTAGCC. AGC .TAG.AG .TG.TTC.	GAGGCCTAAC ATCTAGCA CGTAA.CA AGCCCA AGCCCTC. AGTAAGTA	GTGGAGGTCG A.TAT.A. CATTC.A. TATAT.A. TAA.A. CACT.G.	GGTCTGTTTG .AGTCA .AGGCTGC GAATGC GTA.CA .AGAGAC	GCCTCCGTTA ATA.G AAAC. A.AAC. ACAG. AT.ATT	351
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	GGTATTTCAG AATTT AC AA.CC AAA.CC AGCACT	CTATTAACCC .ATT .AC .AT.A .CC TAGT.	TTTTGATGTC AC.AA.T .C.A.A AA.T CCTA.T AG.A	CCTTTACTCA T.A. ACT. AC.TT.A. CT.A. GT.A.	ATACATCTAT G .CG.AG. .AGGCG. AT	CCTATTGTCT TTAG ATC.AG.A ATC.AG.A TTC.A TTAAGG	411

Г

Se	TCCGGTGCCA	CTATTACATG	AGCACACAGA	GCCTTACTAG	AAAACCGGTG	ATTGGAGTCT	471
Dy	AA.TT.	.AG.AT	TTCAT	AGAA	GAAATCA	T.CAC.AA	
Mm	ATTT	.A	TTCAT	AG.C.TA	GGTAAAC.	.AACC.CATA	
X1	AA.TT.	.G.C	TCAT	AG.A.CA.GC	.TGG.GATC.	.AAAAG.A	
Sp	AA.TT.	.T.A.G	GT.CCAC	AGAA.T	C.GGGAATC.	.ACTA	
Ce	AGTTT.	.AG.AT	TCAC	AGATA	GTAAA	AGA.G.	
Se	CAACTAAGCT	TGATTATCAC	TGTCGTTCTC	GGTTTTTATT	TTTCTATATT	GCAAGGCTTA	531
Dy	ACT.A.G.A.	.ATT.T	ATT.AT	GA	.CA.AT	ACT.AT	
Mm	A.T.A.GC.C	.AC.AT	CA.TA.AA	ACC.	.CA.CCC.	CCT.C.	
X1	ATT.A.TCAC	.A.C.T.A	CA.TCT	AC	A.AGCCC.	TC.A	
Sp	ATT.A.GCAC	.ATC.G	AG.C	AGG	A.CGCGC.	TG.CG.G.	
Ce	ACTAATTA	.AT.A	ATGTT.AT.G	.CAGC	A.AGG.A.	TTTAA	
Se	GAGTATGTGT	GAGCTGGTTT	TTCGCTTTCA	GACGGTATTT	ACGGTAGTAC	TTTTTACGTT	591
Dy	AA.TG	ACCA	.A.TAG.T	TTCAG	.TTCA	TA.G	
Mm	ACT.TG	A.A.ATCA	CCA	TC.	.TTC	AC.T.A.G	
X1	ATACG	ACCCA	.A.AAG	TAG.G.	ATCA	ATTA	
Sp	AA.TG	ACCCCA	.A.CAG.C	TAG	.TCTCC	CC.TT	
Ce	A.AG	AA.A	TAG.	AG.A.	TTAG.T	TT.A	
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	GCTACTGGTT CA. AA. A TG.A.	TTCACGGTTT .CTAG. .CTAC. .CC. TC. AA.	ACATGTTCTC TA CAA.T TCA.T CGAA.T TCT.G	ATTGGCACCC AAA AT.AA T.AT AAAA TGTGGTT	TCTTTATTGC CTCT.ATT CACC.AT .ACC.AT. CTCC.CAT .GCT.A	GGTGATGGCT AATGTTTA TTTGCCTA TTTGTCT. ATGCCTA AT.T.ATTT.	651
Se Dy	TACCGAAACT	TATATCACCA	TTTCAGATGC	AGGCA .AT			686

Dy	.TATC.T.	AA.T	TTC.AAA	.AT
Mm	CTAC.AC		CCCA	.AA
X1	CTTC.AA	.TC.AT.T	CCCA	.AA
Sp	.TTG.CTG	C.GGC.G	CTC.AC.	CAT
Če	.TATCTTC	A.AA.T	T.AT.AT	.AT

D. COII

Se	ATGTCT		TTA	AACTTCCAGA	ACAGGAATTC	GCCCTTAATG	39
Dy	ACAT	GAGCTAAT		GGTAAG	.TAGC	Τ	
Mm	G.CTACC	CATTCCAA	C.T	GGTC.AAG	GCC.CA	CTA.TA	
X1	G.ACACC	CATCACAA		GGTTAG	GCAGCC	TAA.TA	
Sp	GGAACTT	GAGCACAG	T	GGTC.AAG	.TGCATCC.	CTCT	
Ce	TAA.AATT	TTTTTCAAGG	ATATAAT	CTATC	.TTTTA.T	TG.TAGTTAT	
50	GAACAGTTAA	TTTTTTTCA	TGATTGGGTT		ATAGTTTT	TGTTAGTAGA	87
Dv			CAT.CA	TTATTA	TT.AG.	AA.A.TC.	
Mm	GC	.AAAC	CACACA	CTAATA	T	CC.A.TC	
X1	G.AC	CACC	CCCATACC	CTCATA	GCC	.CTT	
Sp	GGC.C.	CA.ACC	CAT.CA	TTAATT	GCAC	CC.C.TC.	
Ce	AT.G.T.G.T	CA.AGGTT	.ATAG.	TTATTGTTGG	GAG.TT.AG.	GIGICI	

Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	ATCACTGTGG G.ATTAA. TC.TTACC .CGCTATC ACTATT T.ATTGT.T.	GATACCTGAT TT.A TCTA.C TTA.T TTTGG.T. TT.A	TCTCATT GTTTA.AT.A CTCGAA .ACTA.TA AGTTTC.T.G .TTTGGT.C.	GTTTCAAACA TTTT. T.AACA. A.AA.T.CT. CGT.TC.T TATTTT.	AACCTACTCA .TTA.GTAA. TAA. TAA. CTAAA. AGA.AAA.	TCGTGTTTTG ATC.T .ACAAGCACA .ACAAACC.A CATC AATAG.AT	144
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	TTAGAGTCTC C.TGGA. ATG.A. A.GCG.A. .TGGA. CAGTTTGG.G	AAGGTGTGGA CT.A.T AAT AGA.C AGT.A TTATTG	GTTCGCCTGG AA.AATTA AAC.ATTA AA.A.TGA AACAATTA TAGTATT.TT	ACAGCCCTCC TATT TATTA. TATTA.A. TGA.T. CA.TA.TA	CTTGTCTCGT .AGC.A.TA. .AGC.G.AA. .AGC.A.TAG .GCAA. TTAT.AA.	TCTGGTCGCT .T.AT.ATT. CTAATA CCAATA CT.AATTA A.AAA.A.T.	204
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	ATTGCTCTTC C. C. CC.T.AA	CATCTCTACG .TAT .C CT .TCC.A GGCT.TTA	ATTATTGTAT C.T CA.TC.A TA.CC.A .C.CC.TC T.AT.ACGGA	TCAATGGATG .T.T.A ATAC. .TA CTC. .TAA	AAATTATTGA C.ACA. GA .GGAA T.A	CCCTTCTTTA AA.AG CGTA TACAC C.TCG TAGAAA	264
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	ACTATTAAAG T.AA CGA AG. AGG.	CAATAGGTCA GTT .CG CC .GT.C TT.CA	TCAATGATAC C C GT	TGATCTTATG AG AGCC. AGCC. AGAC. AGA	AATATTCTGA A A AA. .GCA.G AGA	TGTAGATGAA .T.TAA.T CTATAC CTATGT CT.CA.AC .A.TCCGG	324
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	GAATCCATAG C.T. C.T C.T. C.T.	AATTCGACTC TT GCTT CT	TTAT A A				348

E. CYTB

Se Dy Mm X1	ACACAAAAAC .TGT .TGC.A .TGGC.CCCA	GAACACGGCT CTTTAAA AC.TAAA AC.TCTAA	GAGCGAGCCT TTC.C.C A.CAC.CA ATCTC.TA	AGCTTGAAAA TTAT TTAT TTAA.T	TTATTAATAA GC CC.	TACTCTGATT .GT.AG CT.AT.C .TT.C	60
Sd	.TGGC.GCT.	C.TTAAA	.GAAC.TA	.TTCCG	C.GA.G	AT.CG	
Ce		TTGAAAA.	T.ATA.TAGA	TTAATT	GGG	G.TGTG.G	
Se	GATTTGCCTT	CACCAATCAA	TATTAGAGTA	TGGTGAAATT	TTGGTAGTCT	ATTAGGTTTA	120
Dy	AAG	.TT	TC.AG.	A	ATCAT.	.C.TA	
Mm		.CTC	CTC.TC.	AC.	GTCC	TCAG.C	
XI	CCCAA	.CTCA	CTC.TC.	.TAC.	.CCTC	TCGG.C	
SD	222.22.	TTCTC	CCTCCA.T	C.	CGCTC	.CGC.G	
Ce	ACAA.	.TAG. AA.C	.T.A.C.T	A.A	A.	GA	

Se 180 Dy TG.C.AA..GA.CAT T...... ..C....C.C.CA...ACA Mm TGT...AA.TG C....A.CAT T.....AT.A ..C......T.. .GCA..CACA X1 TG...A..TG .T...A.ATT G..T..AA.A ..CC....A. .G..C..... .GCC...A.T Sp Ce AATATGGCTT TTTCTTCTGT GGATCATATT TTCCGGGACG TAAATAGAGG ATGGTTCCTC Se 240 ...CT.A.... A.AG... TA...... .G...A..T.TAT.. T..A..AT.A Dy Mm .TA.CA..C.A..A.. AACA..C... .GT..A....TAC.. G..AC.AA.. TC...A..C. .C..A..A.. A.CC..... .GTTTT.... .T..CTAT.. ..TA..AA.T X1 .CCT.A..A.A..C.. TATG..C... ..G..A..T.TAT.. ...A..TT.A SD TTA...A...A.AA.A.. .C.GT..... A.GTAT...G.TTT..AG.AT.T Се CGCAGAGTAC ACGCAAACGG GGCTTCTTTT TTCTTTATAT GTCTTTACTG TCACATCGGA Se 300 ..A.CTT...T..... T..A..A... ..T.....T. ..A.....T A..T..T. Dy Mm X1ATC.C. .T..C..T.. ACTC..A..CC..T. .CA.C...CT Sp ..ATAT....C..A.. C.TC...C.C ..T....C. ..A.G..... C.....A... ..A.TTT.T. .TTTT..T. ...CAGG..A ..T....T. T.T.G..T.T A..T..TTT Се CGAGGTATTT ATTATGGCAG ATATATGTTT ATTAAGACAT GGTTTAGGGT TTTAGCTTTG Se 360A.....C..ATCT.A... .CACCA..T. .A..AGTA.G AG..AT.A.T Dy MmCT.A.ATCCA... ..AG.A..C. .AAAC.TT.G AG..CT.C.AGT.G. .C..C...TC T.TCT.A.A. .AAG.A.... .AAA..TT.G .G.GATCC.C X1 Sp ..G..AC.A. .C..C..GTC T....AAAAG ...G....C. .AAAAGTT.G .G..ATCC.A AA...GT.A. T..T.ATA..CGT..A .AA..AGT.. .AA.GTCT.GA.AA.T Се TTAATTTTAG TAATGGCGGC CGCTTTTCTT GGCTACGTGT TGCCTTGAGG CCAAATAAGG Se 420 Dy C.GT.CGC.. .C..A..CA. A..A...A.ACC .T..A..... A.....TCA Mm C..T..... .T..A..TA. A..A...G.A ..A..T..TC .A..A..... A......TCT X1 .. TT.GG.TA CC..CCTAA. ...C...A.GT..C. .AGTC..G.. G.....GTCC Sp .ATT.A....AATA.A A......A.A ..T..T..T. .AGT.....C T......A Се Se TTCTGAGGGG CTACTGTTAT TACAAATTTA TTTTCTGCAT TCCCTTATGT GGGACCCAGA 480 ..T....A. .A....A.. ...T..... ..G..A..TAT. A..TATAGAC DyT. .C..A.....CC.C C.A..A..CAA..A. T...A.A.CC Mm X1 ..T.....T. A...A.. ...T...C.T C.....TA AA..G..CA. C...AA.GT. Sp ..T....CT. .C..A..A.. C...... G.G.....A .T..C..CA. A...A.T.TT ..T....CA. .AGTA..... ...T.GAC.T ..AAGA.TTA .T..AAT.TG A..G..A.CT Се CTAGTGCACT GGTTGTGGGG AGGGTTCGCT GTGGAGAACG CTACTCTTAC TCGCTTCTTT 540 Se Τ....Α..Α. .Α..Α..Α.. ...Α..Τ... ..Α..Τ..Τ.Τ.Α.. ...Α..Τ..C DyCG.A. .AA.T..A.. G..C...T.A ..A..C..A. .C..CT.G.. C..A....C Mm X1C..A. .AAGT.TA.. ...A...T.. ..A...T.... .C...T.A.. C...A....C A....T..G. .A..A..A.. G..A...T.C ..C..C..A. .C..C.... C..A..T... Sp A.T..TACT. .AA.T..AA. ...T..T.G. ..TACAGGG. .A..AT.A.A ATT...T... Се

Se	ACTTTCCACT	TCTTAGTACC	TTTTATCGCT	TCAGCAATAG	CTGGACTTCA	CATCTTTCTC	600
Dy	ATT.	.TA.TT	T.T.	CTTTA	AT.A	TC.AC.AT.T	
Mm	G	A.CT	ATATC	G.GCC	AATCG	.CC.CT	
X1	G.AT	C.CC.T	TAT.	G.C.G.GCTA	GCATTC	TC.T.AT.T	
Sp	C.CT	C.TT.C	CAATA	GCT	.G.TTA.A	.T.AG.AT	
Ce	GTAAT.	.TT.G	G.GAGCTAT.	CTTTT.	TATTGGGG	TT.AAT.T	
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	TTACATGAGA C.A. C.CC.A. C.CC.A. C.CCA.C. CAGA.	CAGGTAGCAA ATCT ATCA .TATCA.C GAGC .TA.C	CAATCCATTG TCTA.T CACA ACACT C.T.T ATC.AGGA	GGTGTTAACT T.AT. AT.A AT.A .CCT.CAA TA.TGCCG	CTACTTCAGA A.ATT .AGA.G .AGACC GC.AC.AT G.GAAT	TAAGATTCCT AA AG.A CGCC AGTG.	660
Se	TTCCATTGAT	ATTACAGTGT	AAAAGATATG	TTAGGTTTTG	TTGTAATGTT	TACGCTTCTG	720
Dy	TCCC	.C.TCAT.	TGT	GAA	AA.	.TTTAA	
Mm	TCCCC.	.C.T.CAA.	CC	CA.CC	.AA.CA.	CTTAAC	
X1	CCC	.C.T.TC.TA	CCC.T	C.CC	A.TAC.	AGCAT	
Sp	CATT.	.C.TCGAC	CGC.CA	G.CGA	C.TTG.	AG.CGCAA	
Ce	TAGACCTG	.GTTA.G	TGCT	.ATAAA	TT.G	ATTAT.AT.T	
Se	TTTTCGTTAT	TTTTGCT	-CCGAATTTC	TTGGGAGAAC	CGGATAACTT	TATCGCCGCC	776
Dy	AAG	AA.TAG	AAA	C.	.AA	TC.TT	
Mm	A.AA.CCG	.AAT.TTT	CAG.CA.A	C.AC.	.ACA	CAC.AT	
X1	AC.CTCCG	CCA.AT.TTC	CACC.T	AC.	.ACT	C.C.AT	
Sp	AGCG	CCC.CATT	TTGGCGC.	C.AAAC.	.AGA	CTC.TA	
Ce	AGTA	GGA.TTA	CTT.AAT	ATTG	.AG.TG	T.AAT	
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	AA G.						778

FIGURE 20.

Amino acid sequences of the chaetognath (Se) mitochondrial genes, aligned with their counterparts from other species. Gaps are indicated by dashes, residues similarity with those of the chaetognath by dots. Published sequences used for comparison are *Drosophila* (Dy), mouse (Mm), frog (Xl), sea urchin (Sp), and nematode (Ce). Alignments are shown for A. COI; B. ND2; C. COIII; D. COII; E. Cyt B. Amino acid sequences are depicted using the standard 1-letter code.

.

-

A. COI

Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	F F Q INLYKKYQGG	RWLFSTNH SRQ IN IT LS LAVE.S	KDIGTLYFVL IF LF LF LIF IF	GIWSAFLGTA .A.AGMVS .A.AGMV .A.AGLV .A.AGMV .LGMVS	LSALIRLELG IA LAS M.VIAA F.LA	NAGSLLGDDQ HP.A.I QP.A QP.T QPK KP.FF.SNG.	50
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	LYNVIVTAHA I I M.K.VQS SVI	FIMIFFFVMP M .VM .WM LVM ILM	TMMGGFGNWL I.I M.I I.I M.I I	VPLMVNAPDM IG IG IG IIG LLG	AFPRLNNMSF M M M MK SL.	WLLPPALMLL S SFL SFL ISF TSML.I	110
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	LLSGMVESGV .V.SN.A .A.SA.A .A.SGA.A .A.AGK.A .DACF.DM.C	GTGWTVYPPL	ST-VGHTGGA .SGIA.G.AS AGNPV.A.AS AGNLA.A.AS .SKMT.A.SS MP.SS	VDLGIFSLHL A T T AA	AGVSSILGSA IAV AI IAI ALI LGI	NFITTIVNMK VIR TI K.MIR MC.TK.LR	169
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	GEGMTMELMS ST.I.LDR.P PPAQYQTP PPA.SQYQTP TPSLDRLP SSSISL.H.T	LFVWSVLLTA VI I FV FV.V	ILLLLSLPVL L V V F FV	AGAITMLLTD .AG .AG	RNFNTSFFDP LT LT .KMT	AGGGDPILYQ V F. STN.LI	229
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	HLFWFFGHPE	VYILILPGFG	MVSQIINHYS .I.HSQE. II.HVVTY .I.H.VTY .I.HVMA ISTLYLT	AKGNSFGALG G.KETS G.KEPYM. G.KEPYM. G.REPY G.KEV	MIYAMSSIAL LA.G. .VWMGF .VWMG. LVIAMGV .VILG.	LGFVVWAHHM I I I I.C	289
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	FTVGMDVDTR	AYFTSATMII S .C A SAV.	AVPTGIKIFS .IV.V .IV.V L.V	WLATLHGTPS QL GNI MGTI .M.K.Q.SNL F.MKM	LLETPLMWVL SYSPAIL.A. KWSPAML.A. KWDA.ML.A. QWSLL.T. VFNPL.L	GFLFLFTVGG V .I .I .IVL. .IVL.	349
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	LTGVVLANSS IS I I S	LDISLHDTYY VI V I.FV I.FV	VVAHFHYVLS	MGAVFAIFAG M MG. MG.	VTFWYPVISG FIHLFT. FVH.F.LF FIH.F.LFT. F.H.F.LF L.WSF.T.	MTMSARGTQV L.LNNKWLKS F.LDDTWAKA Y.LHETWAKI YSLHPLWGK. YVLDKLMMSA	409

QFAIMFIGVN LTFFPQHFLG LQGMPRRYSD YPDSFSTWNV VSSSGSLVSI VGVFMFVGVM Se 469 Dy Mm X1 H.GV..A... I.I.I. SA..... AYTL..T ...I.L .A.I.MMFII SD Ce Se WKSLSA--IN ASGDVDNLSV EFSPRLPVSW HSFNESTVLG -----507 Dy .E..VSQRQV IYPIQL.S.I .WYQNT.PAE ..YS.LPL.T N-----.EAFASKREV M.VSYASTNL .WLHGC.PPY .T.E.P.YVK VK----Mm X1 .EAFA.KREV TTYELTSTML .WLQGC.TPY .TLKT.L.QI NHQMIK .EAFASQREG ITPEFSHA.L .WQYTSFPPS .HTFDE.PST MIIVK-LE.FFSYRLV I.DYYS.S.P .YCMSNY.FG ..YQSEIYFS TTSLKN Sd Ce

B. ND2

Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	VSQSCGSLMI LT.ALA.TVL .T.ATA.MI. LT.AAA.ALL LV.ASSAALL .I.ESLG.LF	LLGGMV .FSSILLM AIVLNYKQ .FSSLNNAWL .K.ALGQAWL CS	ADS LANNLNNEIN LGTWMFQQQT TGEWSILDLT TGSWSILDPV	SFFSVSLLLH ES.TSMIIMS NGLILNMT.M NPL.CATMTI KEVTSIC.SM GGL.QFF	GVVFKMGLMP ALLL.S.AA. ALSM.LA. AICM.LA. ALAA. IILL.I.VA.	LHFWVPCVVM FF.NMME FL.E.TQ FL.E.LQ VF.D.LQ IFN.TN	49
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	NLTRFNLYL- GWM.ALM- GIPLHMGLI- G.SLTTGLI- G.PF.QGLM- .IFNY-GLMW	LMSWQKIGPI TA.L .LTA.L .STLA.M MATMA.L FLTFLPFL	VIVMT MLISYLN S.LIQIYPLL A.LYQIAP.L MLMFYFSQLG T.LLQIF-WL	ASVGYTVLCL IKNLLLISVI N.TIILM.AI NTPLLLT.G. F.YLLMTPS. SYILLFG.	VNAVGGSLAM LSVII.AIGG TSIFM.AWGG TSTLI.GWGG ISVLM.GWGG LICYVQI	SGVTVLPLLL LNQ.S.RK.M LNQ.QMRKIM LNQ.Q.RKI. LNQ.QVRKI. FVMKSYKN	103
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	IFSGMVQMGW ASINHL AY.SIAH ASIAHL AS.GK .I.STESFN.	VFMTTGV MLSSLMISES MLAILPYNPS MISILPFSPQ LVSAYSFN IVLGVFFSMF	FTFYYLFVYY IWLI.FIF.S L.LLN.MI.I LMILN.TI.L AAIIM.VI.L NI	IVLSAVVLY- FLSFVLTFMF .LTAPMFMAL .MT.TMF.VL .INTSLF.LF FMVLLISK	SAVAS NIFKLFHLNQ MLNNSMTIN. KTISSTKIS. DHLKV.TLGH	VQFGW LFSWFVNSKI ISLL.NKTPA LATS.SKTPS LKTISQLSPI FSKTSG	149
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	ALL LKFSLFMNF. MLTMISLM TTALSLLT SVALVLLVM. YNFINWETT.	NAGGLPPFSG SLL. SLLT. SLL. SLLT. VFLNI.FSVS	FMIKLKAILH .LP.WLV.QQ .LP.WII.TE .VP.WFI.QE .IL.FTSLYF .FV.IFSLSE	IKGSMV LTMCNQYFLL LMKNNCLI.A LTSQNTTILA LVAKNFIILS .FKYDSFFTL	VLLVGASGLA T.MMMSTLIT T.MAMMAL.N TT.ALSAL.S SIMMIGNLQD FFTMFLSV	LTSYIRLLLN .FF.L.ICYS .FFIYS .FF.L.TYI YFF.L.ISFK .AFSFW.INL	198
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	TRLKSGPSSG AFMLNYFENN .S.TMF.TNN VT.T.S.NTS .S.FLF.QHI SMKNNEET.N	FLVATMVAGS WIMEMNMNSN NSKMMTHQTK NASL.WRHH. ISS.SWRNST NNKMNYFIIF	V NTNLYLIMTF TKPNLMFSTL KQPSLLLSIA MISPLAPKAW PLMVISII	FSIFGLFLIS AIMSTMTLPL LILSSFIIPI LSSVSTVLST	LFFFML APQLIT SPLTLT LAMPLTLPLY	MIT	219

C. COIII

Se	MNKHPFH	IVDVSPWPLM	GSVGSLCLVG	GLVTTMHRYG	SSLFWLGIAL	ILATMFOWWR	57
Dy	.STHSN	LYT	.AI.AMTT.S	.M.KWF.O.D	ILNII	TIL.VY	
Mm	THQT.AY.	M.NPT	.AFSA.L.TS	MWF. YNS	IT.LTLLT	NILY	
X1	AHQA.AY.	MPT	.A.AA.L.TS	AMWF.FGS	MI.LTLIT	MVL	
Sp	AIQY.	LQD	.AFSG.MMTS	.N.LWF.TOK	TN.TLV.FL.	LMTK.VN	
Ċe	F.N	.LSL.SYAYN	LFFA.AGMLS	SMFFKFGL	YEIFTLFS	V.FIS.A.GK	
Se	DVTREATFOG	KHTAKVESGM	RYGMLLFISS	EVEFELAFEW	AFFHSALSPN	VEVGSVWPPI	117
Dy		L. YA.TI.L	.W I L.	LVS		T.I.ASM	• • • /
Mm	IG.Y	HPI.OK.L	V.		YS.V.T	HDL.GCT	
X1	IG	HPP.OK.L	T.	IG	YN.S.A.T	Y.L.ECT	
Sp	.MI.K.N	SI.KK	IMT.	CF	S.A.S	M. VAS	
Ce	.IAM.G-LS.	Y.NFF.MD.F	KF.VIVF.	.FMFCI	TDAV.V	H.L.ET.S.F	
Se	GISAINPFDV	PLLNTSILLS	SGATITWAHS	ALLENRWLES	OLSLIITVVL	GFYFSMLOGL	177
Dy	ISF0I	AA	V.VH	S.M. SNHSOT	TOG.FFL.	.ITIAY	
Mm	PLLÈ.	VA	VSH	S.M.GKRNHM	NOA.LIM.	.LTIAS	
X1	TPLE.	AVA	V.VH	SIMHGDRK.A	IOTL.IL.	.LTAAM	
Sp	.MTPLL.	K.GV	V.LS.S.H	SI.AGNRT	IOA.FLA.	.STAAW	
Ċe	.MHLVG.	I	V.VH	SS.KSC	TN.M.L.CL.	AATGI.LM	
Se	EYVWAGFSLS	DGIYGSTFYV	ATGFHGLHVL	IGTLFIAVMA	YRNLYHHFSC	S	228
Dy	IE.P.TIA	.SVM	V	T.LL.CL	L.H.NNK	Ň	
Mm	FETSI.	FM	I	ST.LI.CL	L.O.KFTS	K	
X1	YE.P.TIA	VF.	Ī	SLS.CL	L.QIQYTS	κ	
SD	ID.P.TIA	.SVF.	Q.I	MT.LM.CL	F.TAGRT	Н	
Ċe	ME.SIA	VFIL	SI	C.GL.FNF	L.L.KNNY	Ν	

D. COII

Se	MSL	NFQNSNSPLM	EQLIFFHDWV	MVFVSS	ITVGYLI-LI	VSNKPTHRVL	48
Dy	TWAN	GL.D.A	НА	LLILVMIT	VLMFML	FF.NYVN.F.	
Mm	.AYPFQ	GL.DATI.	.E.MNHT	LMILI.	SL.L.I.S.M	LTT.LTST	
X1	.AHPSQ	GDAAI.	.E.LHHT	LMALI.	TL.L.I.TIM	MTT.L.NTN.	
Sp	.GTWAQF	GL.DAS	.E.TYYA	LIVLTLIT	ML.F.GLVSL	LVSSN.N.FF	
Ċe	INNFFQGYN.	LH.LFASY	MDWFHSFNCS	LLLGVLVFVT	LLFFGT	FYF.SKKIEY	
Se	LESQGVEFAW	TALPCLVLVA	IALPSLRLLY	SMDEIIDPSL	TIKAMGHQWY	WSYEYSDVDE	108
Dy	.HG.LI.MI.	.IAII.LF		LLNEV	.L.SI	FNN	
Mm	MDA.ETI.	.IAVI.IM	I	MNN.V.	.V.T	T.YED	
X1	MDA.EI.MV.	.IM.AIS.IM	I	L	I	TNYED	
Sp	F.G.EL.TI.	.VI.A.I.IL	Q	LVKF.	F	T.FKD	
Ce	OFGELLCSTE	PTITI MOMV	PS.SL.YYYG	L.NL.SN.	.V.VT	IPG	

 Se
 ESMEFDSY

 Dy
 --I....

 Mm
 --LC....

 X1
 --LS....

 Sp
 --L....

 Ce
 --L....

,

E. CYTB

Se Dy Mm X1 Sp	TQKRTRLSEP MH.PL.N.H. M-TNM.KTH. MAPNI.K.H. MAAPL.KEH.	SLKIINNTLI LFA.A.V LFHSF. LISF. IFR.LKS.FV	DLPSPINISV AS A.SS T.SS L.S.L.I	WWNFGSLLGL V LV SV	VLVIQLATGL C.IIL C.MV.II C.IA.II C.V.MLM	FLAMHYTCDV A S.T A.T A.I	60
Ce Se	LKINNS	L.NFV.GM.V	TSKTLTL RSVHANGASE	SMM	IF.ILT RGIYYGSYMF	FYP.S IKTWFSVLAL	120
Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	.LYN MTT SA TLM LT.QY.	CYL. CYLI CFY.LLI LY MYEFVF	.TLM .YMM .NLL. .YK.V.L .IF.FL	I.I.L I.FL.V. I.I.L I.MM. IFL.F		TPLVGVII MENIGVL. KENIGVI. .EKVGVI. K.V.M.G.TI	
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	LILVMAAAFL .FGTM .FATM .FT.V FLVTILTM YLMEM	GYVLPWGQMS	FWGATVITNL	FSAFPYVGPS LIL.MD LII.TT LKI.NV VIM.TI L.VI.IWT	LVHWLWGGFA Q E.IS Q.SLS M.QS I.T.I.SG	VENATLTRFF .D .DK .DK .TGKF	180
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	TFHFLVPFIA ILV AILI ALI PFMM VLL.WAI	SAMAGLHIFL LTMI.LLF A.L.IV.LLF AGASILLF A.L.VM.LVF LVIVLG.LIF	LHETGSNNPL QI TT TT NS.AF STSS.	GVNSTSDKIP .LNI .LDA .LDPV. AFK.NYA. YCHGDYVC	FHWYYSVKDM P.FTFI P.TII P.F.Y.L I.FTTT .SPE.LGA	LGFVVMFTLL VI.IFI. LI.LI. VILI.A. VILLVAA. YN-I.IWL.F	240
Se Dy Mm X1 Sp Ce	FSLFLPNF I.V.IS.L MT.V.FF.DM TL.AMFS.L A.LF.GA	LGEPDNFIAA DP. DYMP. DTP. .KD.EKP. DAFM F					258

(Figure 20A). A two codon deletion occurred at the 5' end of the COI gene, and a codon deletion was located within the gene. The remaining deletions were located at the 3' regions of this gene. Although the complete coding for COII, COIII, Cytochrome b, and ND2 genes sequence have not been determined, available data show that addition and deletion events have occurred in these protein coding genes. In the COII gene, at least one addition (two codons) and three deletions (involving from one to seven codons) are required to align the amino acid sequences (Figure 20D). In the COIII gene, one addition (one codon) and one deletion (three codons) have been found (Figure 20C). It is surprising to note that deletions have occurred at several separate domains of the ND2 gene (Figure 20B). The first domain is located near the 5' end of this gene and includes deletion of 9-11 codons relative to other eucoelomate species. The second domain is found at codon position 72 downstream from 5' end of this gene and includes deletions of 2-5 codons. Other domains including at least 28 codons are located in the middle and at 3' end of the ND2 gene (Figure 20B).

Unlike the gene organization of the vestimentiferan, in which all of four protein-coding sequences are punctuated by intervening tRNA genes, only one tRNA gene was found in *Sagitta*, at the 5' end of the cytochrome b gene. Many of the protein-coding sequences are contiguous with one another, rather than being flanked tRNA genes on the same strand. The ND2 and COIII, COI and COII gene junctions are examples. In most metazoan mtDNAs (mammals, amphibia, *Drosophila*) tRNA genes are located between most pairs of protein genes and the secondary structure of the tRNA is important for the precise cleavage of the mature protein gene transcript from primary multicistronic transcripts (Ojalaet al. 1980; Ojala et al. 1981). Consistent with this view is the finding that in these mtDNAs the

sequence adjacent to the 3'-terminus of protein genes, that are followed immediately by another protein gene (rather than a tRNA gene), may have the potential to form a hairpin structure (Bibb et al. 1981; Clary and Wolstenholme 1985). In the chaetognath, hairpin structures were not found in these regions, although some intergenic sequences do occur between these protein genes. Only one potential secondary structure was found, near the 5' end of the chaetognath COIII gene (Figure 21F). The intergenic sequences between protein genes lack stable secondary structure potential.

In contrast to the human, mouse, and cow mitochondrial genomes, which occasionally use ATG, ATT or ATC codons as translational initiators, all of three identified protein genes (COI, COII, and COIII) except for the cytochrome b gene in Phylum Chaetognatha begin with the orthodox ATG codon. Two identified protein genes end with either TAA termination codon (ND2) or TAG termination codon (COI).

Further sequence analysis of these protein genes revealed that there were a number of potential secondary structures within each gene which may be functional in the mitochondrial system. In the COI gene, I have identified a number of potential secondary structures, three of them are illustrated in Figure 21A-C. As shown in Figure 21, a stem loop structure was found at nucleotide position 522 downstream from 5' end of the COI gene, which consists of a 8 base stem and a 47 base loop. The second potential hairpin structure with a 10 base stem (one mispairing) and a 15 base loop was located at nucleotide position 744 downstream from 5' end of the COI gene. Another stem loop structure occurs at nucleotide position 1215 downstream from 5' end of the COI gene has a 8 base stem and a 78 base loop. In the COII gene, at least two stem loop structures were found, one was located at nucleotide 203 downstream from 5' end of this gene (Figure 21D) and the other

Secondary structures found within each protein gene or across gene junctions. Standard base pairs are designated by dashes. Asterisk denotes mispairing bases. The number in the centre of the loop is the nucleotide length of loop.



occurs at nucleotide 233 downstream from 5' end of same gene (Figure 21E). In the COIII gene, there are at least two potential secondary structures, a stem loop structure with a 10 base stem and 46 base loop at 5th nucleotide downstream from 5' end of this gene (Figure 21F), and a potential hairpin structure with a 10 base stem and a 15 base loop located at position 312 downstream from 5' end of this gene (Figure 21G). Two potential hairpin structures were found in the cytochrome b gene. The first one is located at nucleotide 50 downstream from 5' end of this gene and has a 10 base stem including one unpaired site and a 22 base loop (Figure 21H); the second has a 10 base stem (one unpairing) and 42 base loop and was found at nucleotide 411 downstream from 5' end from this gene (Figure 21I). In the ND2 gene, a potential secondary structure occurs at nucleotide 177 downstream from 5' end and has a 9 base stem and a 89 base loop (Figure 21J).

Genetic Code

The codon AGA, which specifies rare termination codons in some vertebrate mtDNAs, and serine in *Drosophila* and sea urchin mtDNAs, is found frequently in the chaetognath mitochondrial genes (Table 14). The triplet AGA specifies arginine in the standard genetic code. In chaetognath mtDNA, internal AGA and AGG codons are present in all five protein genes. None of the AGA and AGG codons in these protein genes correspond in position to arginine-specifying codons (CGN) in the equivalent genes of mitochondrial DNAs of five species including both vertebrates (mouse and frog) and invertebrates (*Drosophila*, sea urchin and nematode).

Further analysis of those positions where AGA and AGG occur in the chaetognath sequence supports the view that AGA and AGG specify serine. In conserved genes, COI,

Phe	TTT	65	Ser	ТСТ	41	Tyr	TAT	28	Cys	TGT	7
	TTC	43		TCC	9		TAC	17		TGC	2
Leu	TTA	48		TCA	13	TER	TAA	1	Trp	TGA	17
	TTG	47		TCG	15		TAG	1		TGG	24
Leu	CTT	26	Pro	CCT	29	His	CAT	22	Arg	CGT	10
	СТС	18		CCC	6		CAC	18		CGC	4
	СТА	27		CCA	9	Gln	CAA	16		CGA	7
	CTG	16		CCG	9		CAG	6		CGG	6
Ile	ATT	62	Thr	ACT	39	Asn	AAT	26	Ser	AGT	14
	ATC	15		ACC	11		AAC	21		AGC	10
Met	ATA	34		ACA	19	Lys	AAA	13		AGA	17
	ATG	33		ACG	7		AAG	8		AGG	11
Val	GTT	42	Ala	GCT	40	Asp	GAT	19	Gly	GGT	56
	GTC	18		GCC	16		GAC	14		GGC	22
	GTA	35		GCA	20	Glu	GAA	12		GGA	19
	GTG	29		GCG	8		GAG	15		GGG	18

Table 14. Codon usage in COI, COII, COIII, ND2 and Cytochrome B genes of Sagitta (Phylum Chaetognatha) mitochondrial DNA

COIII, and cytochrome b genes, which have the greatest similarity to the equivalent genes from all five species compared, about 50% of them correspond in position to serinespecifying codons in the other species. Other AGA and AGG codons in these protein genes correspond in position to codons specifying different amino acids. In view of these observations and noting that AGA and AGG specify serine in other invertebrate mitochondrial genetic codes (Wolstenholme and Clary 1985; Himeno et al. 1987; Wolstenholme et al. 1987; Garey and Wolstenholme 1989), it seems reasonable to conclude that, in chaetognath, like that in Phylum Vestimentifera, AGN codons all specify serine.

Internal TGA codons are also found in all these five protein genes of chaetognath mitochondrial DNA. Analysis of those positions where TGA occurs in the chaetognath sequence reveals that almost all correspond in position to tryptophan-specifying codon in equivalent genes from other species. This indicates that in chaetognath mtDNA, as in Phylum Vestimentifera (see above), in mammalian, fungal, and *Drosophila* mtDNAs (Barrel et al. 1979, 1980; Fox 1979; Bonitz et al. 1980; Heckman et al. 1980; Clary and Wolstenholme 1985), TGA specifies tryptophan.

It is interest to note that the triplet ACA may be used for translation initiation codon of the cytochrome b gene. As shown in Figure 17A, the cytochrome b gene lacks an ATG (ATN) traditional translation initiation codon, the first ATG codon is located at 25th codon position of upstream of 5' end from the ACA codon. Two termination codons, TAA and TAG, immediately follow the ATG codon. If one of the ATT or ATA triplets occurring in the region between the ATG and ACA codons were used to initiate translation of this gene, a TAG termination codon three positions upstream would stop this reading frame immediately. The exact initiation position of the cytochrome b gene has not been determined yet. The possible sites are either the GAC codon which follows the TAG terminator or the ACA codon. The former would make the cytochrome b gene two amino acids longer than those of other species including all vertebrates and some invertebrates. Therefore, it has been reasoned that ACA may serve to function as the translation initiation codon of the chaetognath mitochondrial cytochrome b gene. In many of the protein genes of mtDNAs from other metazoan phyla, triplets other than ATG are used as translation initiation codons. Some or all ATN codons are used in this way among mammals, Drosophila, and sea urchin (Anderson et al., 1981, 1982; Bibb et al., 1981; Clary and Wolstenholme 1985; Jacobs et al., 1988; Cantatore et al., 1989). GTG and GTT have been reported as rare mitochondrial protein gene translation initiation codon in various metazoan (Bibb et al., 1981; Clary and Wolstenholme 1985; Jacobs et al., 1988; Gadaleta et al., 1989). The possible utilization of a GTG codon as translation initiator of the COI gene has been suggested in chicken (Desjardins and Morais 1990) and this unusual start codon is also found at the 5' end of the Japanese quail COI gene (Desjardins and Morais 1991). ATAA has been suggested as a translation initiation codon of Drosophila COI gene (de Bruijn 1983; Clary and Wolstenholme 1983). Recently, Okimoto et al. (1990; 1992) reported evidence obtained from alignment of the Caenorhabditis elegans and Ascaris suum nucleotide sequences indicating that in two nematode mitochondrial protein genes, TTG is used as the translation initiation codon. Also, GTT seems to be the translation initiation codon of the Ascaris suum COIII gene.

Codon Usage

The codon usage among the chaetognath mitochondrial protein genes is summarized in

Table 14. All sense codons are used but not with an equal frequency. In all of 1,330 codons, the frequency of first position with A, T, C,and G is 25.6%, 28.4%, 17.2%, and 28.8% respectively. The frequency of codon T group (second codon position) is 42%, the highest in all four groups; 21.9% for C group; and the frequency of both A and G groups is almost same, 17.8% for A group, 16.8% for G group. The frequency of codon usage of T group is 2 times more than that of A, C, and G group. The T group with G in third position favoured is almost equal to the sum of all A, C, and G group. The A group shows the greatest bias against G in the terminal position. The frequency of codons ending in T, A, C, and G is 39.5%, 23.1%, 18.3%, and 19% respectively.

The pattern of codon bias is markedly different from that found in other taxa. In *Drosophila yakuba*, the usage of A and T in the terminal position among 13 protein genes is 93.8% of all codons. In vertebrates, C appears to be a preferred wobble base in human mtDNA, but A is more prevalent in the mouse. In sea urchin, the the frequency of A and T in third position is 60%. In the Phylum Vestimentifera, data from the five protein genes show that the frequency of codons ending in A and T is 64.4%. In the chaetognath, analysis of codon usage in five protein genes reveals that the frequency of T in the third position is 39.5% of all codons, two times higher than that of A, C, and G. The frequency of A and T residues in the third-base position is 62.6% of all codons. This value is almost equal to that of both the Phylum Vestimentifera (64.4%) and sea urchin (60%), but in other respects no obvious rationale can be advanced for the particular pattern of bias observed. For example, GAA and GAG are used with almost equal frequency to specify glutamate, whereas tryptophan codons are 1.4 times more likely to be TGG than TGA.

The frequency of leucine is high and remarkably constant, in the range 15.0 to 16.9%, among mitochondrial proteins of different metazoa. In the chaetognath, the frequency of leucine is also high and is 13.4% of all codons. Among mammalian, insect (*Drosophila yakuba*), platyhelminth (*Fasciola hepatica*) and nematode mtDNAs, the ratio of TTR to CTN triplets used as leucine-specifying codons is positively correlated with the differential use of T and C nucleotides in the third position of codons (Clary and Wolstenholme 1985; Garey and Wolstenholme 1987; Okitomo et al. 1992). Data from the chaetognath mitochondrial protein genes add to the generality of this correlation; the ratio of TTR:CTN codons is 2.2:1. However, this correlation is not found for sea urchin (Cantatore et al. 1989), frog (Roe et al. 1985), nor Phylum Vestimentifera (see above) mitochondrial protein genes, suggesting that in these cases the constraints on synonymous T and C nucleotides in the third positions of codons are different from those of synonymous T and C nucleotides in the third positions of codons.

Transfer RNA Gene

Only one tRNA gene was identified in the sequences obtained of the chaetognath mitochondrial genome. This tRNA gene is located between the cytochrome b and large ribosomal RNA genes (Figure 17A) and was defined as tRNA^{#V} based on its predicted secondary structure and anticodon feature. In fact, an intergenic sequence of 23 nucleotides in length occurs between the cytochrome b and this tRNA gene (Figure 17A). The size of the tRNA^{#V} is only 59 nucleotides long, the shortest among several animal species (70, 68, 68, and 65 nucleotides for that of frog, mouse, sea urchin, and *Drosophila yakuba*).

The predicted secondary structure of this tRNA gene is a conventional clover-leaf (Figure 22). As shown in Figure 21, this tRNA gene has an aminoacyl stem of 7 nucleotides, a DHU stem of 4 nucleotides, a DHU loop of only 2 nucleotides, an anticodon stem of 5 nucleotides, and an anticodon loop of 7 nucleotides. Unorthodox base-pairing is found in all four stems. These include one of G-T pair located on the aminoacyl stem, one of C-A pair in DHU stem, one of T-C pair found in the anticodon stem, and one of an apparent A-A pair observed in T Ψ C stem. For this tRNA gene, several major features can be observed. Firstly, this tRNA gene has the shortest length in comparison with the corresponding tRNA gene from other animal species. Secondly, the difference in size between the chaetognath and other animal species results from a deletion event in the DHU and T Ψ C loops. Thirdly, those bases lying between the aminoacyl stem and DHU stem of the corresponding tRNA gene from other animal species has been lost. It is interesting to note that there is a possible interaction between those nucleotides located between DHU stem and anticodon stem and variable loop (Figure 22).

The chaetognath mitochondrial tRNA gene is quite distinct in regard to various nucleotides that are usually conserved in prokaryotic and eukaryotic nuclear-encoded tRNAs. Only the conserved T33 and Pu37 nucleotides that lie immediately 5' and 3', respectively, to the anticodon are found in the tRNA^{sh} gene of the chaetognath. At the 8th position downstream from the 5' end of this gene there is a T residue. If this T is T8 like that of all tRNA genes, it would result in mispairing of all bases in the DHU stem. The structure shown in Figure 22 seems more likely. In this case, T8 is absent, but the DHU stem can be paired with three orthodox base pairs. The conserved nucleotide pair Py11-Pu24 in the DHU stem is found in this tRNA. As in the Phylum Vestimentifera, the

FIGURE 22.

Sequence of Sagitta (Phylum Chaetognatha) mitochondrial tRNA⁴⁹ gene represented in the cloverleaf form. Standard base-pairings(G-C or A-T) are indicated by dashes. Nonstandard base-pairings are designated by asterisks.



TRNA^{gly}

143ь

.....

conventional sequence T54- Ψ -C-Pu-A is not found in the T Ψ C loop of the tRNA[#] of the chaetognath.

Ribosomal RNA Gene

The sequence of length of 1,018 nucleotides coding the entire large ribosomal RNA gene of *Sagitta* (Phylum Chaetognatha) mitochondrial DNA was obtained (Figure 17A).

The chaetognath mitochondrial large ribosomal RNA gene was identified from similarities to the corresponding gene in vertebrate and invertebrate mitochondrial DNA. The relative position of the large ribosomal gene is different from that observed in other animals. In vertebrates, *Drosophila* and *Ridgeia* (vestimentiferan), the large ribosomal gene is preceded by the small ribosomal gene and a tRNA^{**1}. In the bivalve mollusc, *Mytilis*, seven tRNA genes separate the two ribosomal genes. Although the small ribosomal subunit has not been mapped in the chaetognath, it is evidently been separated from the large subunit by one or more protein genes. The separation of the two ribosomal geness.

Neither the 5' nor 3' termini of the large ribosomal RNA of the chaetognath mitochondria have been mapped directly. Since the tRNA[#] gene is located upstream of the large ribosomal RNA gene, the 5' termination of the large ribosomal RNA gene should follow the tRNA[#] supposing no non-coding intergenic nucleotides and no overlap between the tRNA[#] and the large ribosomal RNA genes. Similarly, assuming the large ribosomal RNA gene should end at a position upstream from the start codon ATG of the COI gene. Thus, the large ribosomal RNA gene appears to contain at least 1,018 nucleotides in chaetognath

and is smaller than those of most animal ribosomal RNA genes reported to date: 1,559 nucleotides in human, 1,525 in mouse, 1,571 in cow, 1,640 in frog, 1,326 in *Drosophila*, and 1,525 nucleotides in sea urchin. It is longer than those of two nematodes (953 and 960 nucleotides for *Caenorhabitis elegans* and *Ascaris suum* respectively). These differences reflect mainly the addition or deletion of entire domains, a common feature of ribosomal RNA evolution (Gray et al. 1984). The highly conserved regions are found throughout this gene and alternate with poorly conserved regions. The same pattern is found in all vertebrate and some invertebrate mtDNAs, suggesting that these constant regions are important for ribosomal RNA functions.

The base composition of the large ribosomal RNA gene in chaetognath is presented in Table 12. The chaetognath large ribosomal RNA gene shows a lower G+C content of 29%, compared with that of mammals (e.g. bovine, 39%), and some invertebrates (e.g. sea urchin, 38%, Phylum Vestimentifera, 35%), but higher than observed *Drosophila* (17%).

Analysis of the large ribosomal RNA and protein genes in the chaetognath revealed a number of significant examples of complementarity between ribosomal RNA and protein genes. In the large ribosomal RNA gene, I identified a number of interesting sites, some of them illustrated in Figure 39. At position 51 downstream from 5' end of the large rRNA gene, a sequence partially conserved compared to that of mouse is present, which is complementary to a segment of the cytochrome b protein gene. At position 235 downstream from 5' end of large ribosomal RNA gene, a 12 nucleotide sequence which is not located in a conserved region, is perfectly complementary to a sequence from the ND2 gene. Another sequence at 3' end of large ribosomal RNA gene, 12 nucleotides in length, is completely complementary to a region in the COIII protein gene. At position 4 downstream

	623
COI	3'-CTTTAACGCCAGTCAAT-5'
	***** **** ****
1 6 S	5'-GAAATT-CGGTTAGTTA-3' 906
	263
COIII	3'-TTTTTCTTTTTTGGA-5'
165	5'-AAAAAGATAAAGACCT-3' 4
	278
COIII	3'-TTTTTTTCGAT-5'
165	5'-AAAAAAAAGCTA-3' 1007
	547
COIII	3'-ACTTTCGCTTTT-TGG-5'
165	5'-TGAAGGCGAAAATACC-3' 580
	678
СҮТВ	3'-TTGTATAGAAAATGT-5'
165	5'-AACATGTTTTTTACA-3' 51
	95
ND2	3'-TAGAATTTTTGG-5'
1 6 S	5'-ATCTTAAAAACC-3' 235

FIGURE 23. Complementary sequences found between the large ribosomal RNA and protein genes. Standard base pairs are designated by asterisks.

from the 5' end of large ribosomal RNA gene, 14 of a 16 base sequence is complementary to a sequence from the COIII protein gene. Another sequence complementary to the COI protein gene was found at position 906 downstream from 5' end of the large ribosomal RNA gene. As found in *Ridgeia* (Phylum Vestimentifera see above), some of these sequences complementary to protein genes are very conserved regions, while others are in less conserved regions in the large ribosomal RNA gene. The degree of complementarity of these sequences varies from gene to gene. The potential for interaction between ribosomal RNA and protein genes strongly suggests that they may serve important function in the regulation of the translation in the mitochondrial system.

Intergenic Sequences

Several intergenic sequences which are not assigned to structural genes have been found in chaetognath mitochondrial DNA (Figure 17). The length of these intergenic sequences varies from 23 to 49 base pairs. The first intergenic sequence, 23 base pairs long, is located between cytochrome B and tRNA[#]. The second intergenic sequence, 48 nucleotides in length, lies between the COI and COII genes. The third intergenic sequence, 49 nucleotide long, is found between the ND2 and COIII genes. The intergenic sequence found between the ND2 and COIII genes contains a TATATAA sequence similar to the sequence TTATATATAA, which has been suggested as a bidirectional promoter (Jacobs et al., 1989). However, both ND2 and COIII genes are in the same transcriptional direction.

The analysis of base composition of the three intergenic sequences reveals that the frequency of T is much higher than that of A, G, and C. All three regions are AT-rich, more than 64%, while the content of C is the lowest.

Intergenic sequences have been observed in many mitochondrial genomes of invertebrates, such as *Drosophila* (Clary and Wolstenholme 1985; our unpublished data), sea urchin (Jacobs et al., 1988) and sea star (Smith et al., 1990). Some of these intergenic sequences have been assigned functions related to replication and transcription (Bibb et al. 1981; Roe et al. 1985). However, in most cases other than vertebrates the function of the intergenic sequences are poorly understood, as are the mechanisms of replication and transcription in these organelles.

The intergenic sequences have been searched for similarities with the conserved sequence blocks and other motifs of vertebrate mitochondrial D-loops. The only example found is a partial homology with D-loop of the frog. I have not identified any convincing potential stem-loop structure between these intergenic sequences and their adjacent regions nor in the intergenic sequences elsewhere in the genome. The ends of both of these intergenic sequences and the ends of those protein genes lack stable secondary structure potential. The significance of these intergenic sequences is not known yet.

Summary

Using PCR, two large fragments containing three functional classes of genes have been amplified and sequenced from Sagitta elegans (Phylum Chaetognatha).

Analysis of sequence of more than one third of the mitochondrial genome reveals that organization of the chaetognath mitochondrial genome is substantively different from those of other animals, including both vertebrates and invertebrates. The gene order of the first fragment is the cytochrome b, tRNA[#], large ribosomal RNA, COI and COII genes; the ND2 and COIII genes located in the second segment are contiguous. In the chaetognath, the codons AGA and AGG specify serine, while TGA specifies tryptophan. The triplet ACA may be used for translation initiation codon of the cytochrome b gene from the chaetognath mtDNA.

Many insertion or deletion events ranging from a single codon to a 28 codon domain are observed in these five protein genes of the chaetognath. These protein genes are shorter than those of other animal species. The COI gene is the shortest among these species. Unlike those of most animals, many of the protein-coding sequences are contiguous with one another, rather than being flanked tRNA genes. Only one tRNA gene was found in more than one third of this mitochondrial genome. In all five protein genes, a number of potential secondary structures have been found. While they may be functional in the mitochondrial system, none appear to be associated with transcript processing.

The large ribosomal RNA gene of the chaetognath contains only 1,018 nucleotides, one third shorter than those of vertebrates and some invertebrates. A number of deletion events are appearent between the chaetognath and mouse. Sequence analysis revealed a number of complementary examples between the large ribosomal RNA and protein genes. This suggests that they might play an important role in the regulation of mitochondrial translation and transcription mechanisms.

Several intergenic sequences have been found in the chaetognath mitochondrial DNA. I have not identified any convincing potential stem-loop structure between these intergenic sequences and their adjacent regions nor in intergenic sequences elsewhere in the genome. The function of these intergenic sequences is not known yet.

SECTION IV

EVOLUTION OF MITOCHONDRIAL DNA FROM *SAGITTA* (PHYLUM CHAETOGNATHA)
INTRODUCTION

In recent years the mitochondrial DNA molecule has attracted great interest for determining evolutionary relationships at various levels. The advantages of using mtDNA include ease of extraction and manipulation, the simplicity of the molecule, lack of recombination, and high mutation rate.

The rate of animal mtDNA evolution varies among lineages, among genes, and within genes. The nucleotide sequences of mammalian mtDNA evolve much more rapidly than comparable regions encoded in the nuclear genome (Brown 1981). Estimates provided by Brown et al. (1981; 1982) suggest that the rate of base substitution (transitions and transversions) in mammalian mtDNA is 5-10 times greater than that of single-copy nuclear DNA. This rapid rate of base substitution quickly leads to the accumulation of parallel and back mutations, particularly among the more distantly related taxa (Brown et al. 1982). In contrast, Powell et al. (1986) and Solignac et al. (1986) found that in *Drosophila* the average rate of evolution of nuclear and mitochondrial DNAs were similar.

The observed rapid average rate of evolution of the mtDNA molecule is what gives these data the potential for use in species and population level studies, yet this view of mtDNA obscures probably the most useful aspect of the molecule. That is, it contains slowly evolving "highly conserved" regions as well as rapidly evolving "highly variable" regions (Cann et al. 1987; Carr et al. 1987). Conserved regions are useful for studies of distantly related taxa. It is only in conserved regions that distantly related taxa can be aligned. In protein coding regions, identification of amino acid codons, in which second positions are highly conserved, aid in alignment. In ribosomal RNA gene, structurally or functionally important conserved sequence blocks can serve as markers between which the more variable

regions can be aligned with differing degrees of confidence (Olsen 1988).

Sequence comparisons in protein coding regions have proven less useful for analysis of distant relationships. In vertebrates, Kocher et al. (1989) found evidence which suggests that there may be a five-fold higher rate of amino acid substitution in mammals and birds relative to fishes. Thomas and Beckenbach (1989) sequenced of more than 2000 base pairs in six salmonid fish species and found high amino acid similarity with the corresponding genes of the frog *Xenopus*. It is obvious that different genes are evolving at different rates. Bibb et al. (1981) compared mouse mtDNA to that of humans and Anderson et al. (1982) compared cow mtDNA to human mtDNA. In these examples, protein coding genes varied in sequence similarity between approximately 60% and 80%.

Variation in the rate of mtDNA evolution within genes is also striking. Brown et al. (1982) found transitions to outnumber transversions 9:1 in a comparison of an 896 base pairs segment containing genes for three tRNAs and parts of two proteins (ND4 and ND5) for human and chimps. In comparisons of mitochondrial DNA of the small ribosomal subunit in these same primates, Hixson and Brown (1986) found similar transition/transversion ratios. For the more distantly related pair *Drosophila melanogaster* and *Drosophila yakuba*, transitions accounted for only 18% of changes at the third codon positions (6 protein coding genes) (Wolstenholme and Clary 1985). In comparisons of nematode strains for the COII gene, transitions outnumbered transversions 12/1. For comparisons among species, the observed substitutional pattern showed transitions only slightly more common that transversions (1.3:1). In comparisons of two nematode genera, transversions outnumber transitions 1.5:1 (Thomas and Wilson 1991). Brown et al. (1982) suggested that the high proportion of transitions in their primate comparisons was due chiefly to a bias in the

mutation process, selection at the molecular level, rather than to selection at the level of gene products. Wilson et al. (1985) reiterated this point and suggested that transitions are selected for by tautomeric base pairing that allows purine-pyrimidine mismatches and that these mismatches are rarely if ever corrected due to deficient mtDNA repair system.

Using data from comparing gene organization and various functional genes, this study has demonstrated certain evolutionary features of the *Sagitta elegans* (Phylum Chaetognatha) mitochondrial DNA. Many rearrangements have occurred between the chaetognath and other phyla. The divergence from the vertebrate lineage has relocated the large ribosomal RNA gene adjacent to the structure gene for COI. The cytochrome b gene has been rearranged to the region upstream the 5' end of the large ribosomal RNA gene. Also, the ND2 and COIII genes are contiguous.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Gene Rearrangements

Although the complete sequence of the *Sagitta* mitochondrial genome was not determined, analysis of about one third of this genome (5,183 nucleotides) revealed that the organization of this genome has some significant features different from those of vertebrates and other invertebrates. The first fragment contains the cytochrome b, tRNAth, large ribosomal RNA, COI, and COII genes (Figure 17A). The second segment codes for the ND2 and COIII genes (Figure 17B). These features of gene organization in the chaetognath mitochondrial genome are different from those of all other animal mtDNAs reported to date (see above).

The various protein, ribosomal RNA and tRNA genes have identical arrangements in amphibian, bird and mammalian mtDNAs, except that in bird mtDNA, the segments of the molecule comprising the cytochrome b, tRNA^{pro} and tRNA^{for} genes, and the ND6 and tRNA^{for} genes have been transposed relative to each other (Desjardins and Morais 1990). Limited protein-rRNA gene rearrangements and more extensive tRNA gene rearrangements have occurred in *Drosophila yakuba* (Clary and Wolstenholme 1985), and sea urchin (Jacobs et al. 1988; Cantatore et al. 1989) mtDNA molecules relative to vertebrate mtDNAs. Smith et al. (1989) demonstrated a major inversion in the mtDNA of the sea star versus the sea urchin. This indicates that the inversion event must have followed an earlier gene rearrangement that resulted in the distinction between vertebrate mtDNA gene order and that of the urchins. There is little similarity between the gene arrangements of nematodes and those found in vertebrate, *Drosophila yakuba*, sea urchin, and sea star mtDNAs. The

differences between vertebrate and Drosophila mtDNAs can be accounted for by three major inversions and transposition of 11 tRNA genes; but between mtDNAs of nematodes and Drosophila, and nematodes and mammals, extensive rearrangements involving almost all tRNA, rRNA, and protein genes have occurred. The most notable exception is that the COI and COII genes are adjacent to each other and transcribed in the same direction in two nematode mtDNAs, as they are in Drosophila yakuba and vertebrate mtDNAs. In the chaetognath extensive differences in gene rearrangement are evident. The two ribosomal RNA genes are separated by the protein genes, although the small ribosomal RNA gene has not been found. In all vertebrates and Drosophila, the gene order for the region containing the COI, COII genes and the 5' flanking area of the COI gene is similar, that is ND2, tRNA(s), COI, and COII (Figure 18D). Comparison of the first fragment with the gene order in the corresponding sea urchin mitochondrial genome shows two major differences. The first difference is that in the chaetognath, the COI and COII genes are adjacent, and in sea urchin, these two genes were separated by ND4L and one tRNA genes. The second difference is that in the chaetognath, the cytochrome b and one tRNA genes were located the flanking region of the 5' end of the large ribosomal RNA gene, in sea urchin the ND2 gene was found in the 5' flanking region of the large ribosomal RNA gene (Figure 18B). In sea star, the ND1 and a cluster of 13 tRNA genes were located the 5' flanking region of the COI gene. Detailed analysis of these orders of genes of corresponding region revealed that in all vertebrates and some invertebrates including sea urchin, Drosophila, and nematodes, the corresponding protein and ribosomal RNA genes are transcribed in the same direction (Figure 18). In the chaetognath, the cytochrome b gene is transcribed in a direction opposite to that of the other major genes on the fragment. Only one tRNA gene

(tRNA*) was found in more than one third of the genome from the chaetognath mitochondrial DNA and the majority of the protein genes and the ribosomal gene are adjacent. This finding implies that those tRNA genes must be concentrated in some region in the genome and may be clustered, and that they apparently do not serve as recognition signals for mitochondrial RNA processing in the chaetognath.

A novel location for the large ribosomal RNA gene and tRNA genes has potential implications for the transcriptional regulation of the genome. It has been proposed that, in vertebrates, the relative rates of synthesis of mitochondrial ribosomal and messenger RNAs are controlled by the selective use of a transcriptional attenuator located just beyond the ribosomal RNA genes (Montoya et al. 1983; Attardi et al. 1983). The separation of the ribosomal RNA genes in the chaetognath would require another, more complex mechanism to achieve this end.

Protein-Coding Genes

The comparisons of DNA and predicted amino acid sequences of the chaetognath COI gene and parts of COII, COIII, cytochrome b and ND2 genes for these genes with those of *Drosophila yakuba*, mouse, frog, sea urchin and nematode are presented in Figures 19 and 20. The comparisons show that a number of insertion and deletion events have occurred. In the COI gene, at least five codons have been lost within this gene in addition to deletion events occurring at the 3' end. The COI gene is shorter than those of all vertebrate and invertebrate mtDNAs reported to date. In the COII gene, a total of seven codons have been deleted and two codons inserted in a region that includes only about half the gene (Figure 20). In the COIII gene, a one codon insertion and three codon deletions have

occurred in a region including about 90% of the gene. In the cytochrome b gene, a one codon insertion at the second codon position relative to the sequences of this gene in mammals, occurs in the chaetognath and is present in Drosophila yakuba, frog, and sea urchin. The cytochrome b gene of Sagitta is particularly interesting. The gene ranges in length from 370 codons in C. elegans to about 381 in mammals. The sequence examined here for the chaetognath represents more than two-thirds of the gene, from the 5' end. The inferred amino acid sequence aligns with those of D. yakuba, Xenopus and sea urchin without introducing gaps, up to codon position 246 (nucleotide 737), with amino acid similarities of 69%, 63% and 58% respectively (Figure 20). All similarity appears to be lost in the last 13 codons. Introduction of a four-base gap at nucleotide position 737 (Figure 19E), shifting the reading frame, restores the alignment (Figures 19 and 20). There are several possible explanations for an observed shift of reading frame in an essential gene. There may have been a very recent (perhaps tandem) duplication of the gene, such that this copy is no longer functional; the reading frame may be corrected by some form of RNA editing; or the reading frame may be restored at a point more than 13 codons downstream from this point. Evidence currently available does not permit choosing between these alternatives. In contrast, at least 54 amino acids of deletions which were located in three domains have been observed in the partial sequence of the ND2 gene. These deletions make the Sagitta ND2 sequence much shorter than those of all six species which are 341 to 347 amino acids long. It is more likely that the length of the ND2 gene may like that of nematodes which is 281 or 282 amino acids in length (Okimoto et al. 1992).

The extremely infrequent use of G at third position has been reported for all vertebrate mtDNA. In some invertebrates, such as sea urchin, sea star and the vestimentiferan (see above), this extremely low incidence of G at terminal position has also been observed. However, this situation has not been observed in the Phylum Chaetognatha. As shown in Table 15, in all five protein genes, the high frequency of T at the third position has been found. In contrast to the mtDNA of most other species, both C and G are relatively frequent each making up about 20% of the third codon positions.

As shown in Table 13, the COI gene shows the highest similarity for amino acid sequence among all five protein genes. Indeed, this gene is thought as one of the most conserved mitochondrial protein genes. Comparison of this gene with its counterparts mouse, frog. Drosophila yakuba, sea urchin, and nematode reveals that the divergent regions are concentrated in several blocks besides those of single or few amino acid changes (Figure 20A). The longest divergent region was found at the 3' end of this gene, which was located from codon 456 to the end of the gene. Of a total of 50 amino acid codons, only 13 amino acids are identical to Drosophila and only three are conserved among all six taxa. Other divergent blocks were located within this gene, including blocks at codon positions 132, 170, 253, 327, and 402 downstream from the 5' end. In all cases, almost none of these amino acids of the chaetognath is same as those of the other five species. It is relevant to note that many conserved amino acids in the COI gene of the chaetognath are altered. For example, single amino acid changes were found in many sites, and blocks containing several amino acid changes were also observed in this gene (Figure 20A). At position 20 downstream from the 5' end, a leucine in the chaetognath, replaces a conserved phenylalanine found in corresponding sites of the COI gene of the other five species. Other sites conserved in the other five species include glycines at positions 25, 86, 260 and 278, proline at position 42, serine at position 140 and glutamate at position 263, have all

Table 15. Base composition at 3rd codon positions in Sagitta mitochondrial protein genes

	Ba	Base composition % of total				
Gene	Guanine	Adenine	Thymine	Cytosine		
ND2	21.8	20.0	41.4	16.8		
COI	19.1	23.4	39.6	17.9		
COII	14.7	26.7	42.2	16.4		
COIII	19.3	20.6	36.8	23.3		
CytB	17.4	25.2	39.2	18.2		

undergone replacements in the chaetognath. A block including three amino acids, serine, phenylalanine and serine, is located at position 443 downstream from the 5' end of the COI gene, where three different amino acids, alanine, tyrosine and threonine found in corresponding sites of four of the five species compared. Similarly, amino acid replacements have also been observed in the other four protein coding genes, COII, COIII, Cytochrome b, and ND2 (Figure 20). These observations suggest that many amino acids which are completely conserved in most animal mitochondria, have been subjected to replacements in the chaetognath.

In contrast to the conserved genes, such as COI, COII, COIII, and Cytochrome b, the ND2 gene shows the most divergent of amino acid sequence compared to those of other phyla. This results in the lowest similarity of amino acid sequence between the chaetognath and most other species (Table 13). Further comparison of the ND2 with its counterparts reveals that only few conserved amino acid blocks were observed throughout this gene (Figure 20B). For example, the first of these blocks, including three codons was found at codon position 49 downstream from the 5' end. The second of these blocks, containing three codons was located at codon position 62. Only two blocks with two amino acids were found at positions 112 and 162 downstream from the 5' end. A block located at codon position 155 has five amino acids conserved in five of six taxa, is the longest conserved region in the ND2 gene. As observed in the COI gene, many sites including single and multi-amino acid blocks which are conserved in the other five species have replacements in the chaetognath.

The COI gene is the only entire protein gene sequenced. It is also the most conserved gene of mitochondrial genome. In order to obtain the nature and frequency of specific base

substitutions, detailed analysis of the COI gene with its counterparts is presented in Table 16A. In this gene, the number of transitions ranges from 214 for *Drosophila yakuba* up to 272 for mouse. In all cases, transitions are less frequent than transversions. The numbers of A-G transitions are relatively uniform in all five comparisons, so much of the difference in total transitions results from the number of C-T substitutions. The number of C-T transitions between *Sagitta* and *Drosophila yakuba* is approximately same as that of A-G transitions are A-C and A-T transversions, and the number of A-T transversions is twofold higher than those of A-C transversions. The G-C and G-T transversions show the lowest values. The lowest number of G-C transversions is that between *Sagitta* and *Drosophila yakuba*, which is only 10% of total substitutions. The frequency of G-T transversions between the chaetognath and mouse is the lowest, only 11% of total base substitutions.

Corrected divergences (Jukes and Cantor 1969) for comparisons between the chaetognath and other taxa are shown in Table 16 and are lowest for the COI gene (45-57%) and highest for ND2 (Table 16B). Divergences between *Sagitta* and *Drosophila* are slightly lower than with other taxa, but all divergences are quite high.

Table 17 summarizes the base substitutions for all protein coding genes. The overall comparisons include almost 4,000 sites. Transversions comprise about 60% of all substitutions. Divergence estimates range from about 56% (Sagitta-Drosophila) to over 76% (Sagitta-nematode).

Table 16. Nature and frequency of specific base substitutions in five protein coding genes between Sagitta, a chaetognath, and Drosophila, mouse, frog, sea urchin

and nematode

A. COI

	Species compared				
Type of changes	Drosophila	mouse	frog	urchin	nematode
Transitions					
AG	102	1 20	108	110	124
CT	112	152	163	153	116
Total	214	272	271	263	240
Transversions					
AC	49	70	69	69	50
AT	151	1 39	130	132	177
GC	36	56	57	67	49
GT	68	52	66	65	91
Total	304	317	322	333	367
Indels	4	4	4	4	4
Number of sites	1525	1528	1528	1528	1528
Total changes	522	593	597	600	611
% changes	34.2	38.8	39.1	39.3	40.0

Table 16. Nature and frequency of specific base substitutions in five protein coding genes between Sagitta, a chaetognath, and Drosophila, mouse, frog, sea urchin

and nematode

B. ND2

	Species compared					
Type of changes	Drosophila	mouse	frog	urchin	nematode	
Transitions	·· ··-				- <u></u>	
AG	68	73	64	53	53	
CT	66	101	86	75	61	
Total	134	174	150	1 28	114	
Transversions						
AC	42	52	53	47	32	
AT	122	89	93	88	95	
GC	19	44	48	46	22	
GT	70	41	56	77	79	
Total	253	226	250	258	228	
Indels	7	7	7	8	13	
Number of sites	664	664	664	665	565	
Total changes	394	407	407	394	355	
% changes	59.3	61.3	61.3	59.2	62.8	

Table 16. Nature and frequency of specific base substitutions in five protein coding genes between *Sagitta*, a chaetognath, and *Drosophila*, mouse, frog, sea urchin and nematode

C. COIII

	Species compared					
Type of changes	Drosophila	mouse	frog	urchin	nematode	
Transitions						
AG	55	46	48	56	57	
CT	56	78	63	70	67	
Total	111	124	111	126	124	
Transversions						
AC	40	40	46	50	39	
AT	88	71	78	63	88	
GC	19	38	36	35	32	
GT	41	30	30	34	67	
Total	188	179	190	182	226	
Indels	1	2	2	2	4	
Number of sites	687	685	685	685	675	
Total changes	300	305	303	310	354	
% changes	43.7	44.5	44.2	45.3	52.4	

Table 16. Nature and frequency of specific base substitutions in five protein coding genes between *Sagitta*, a chaetognath, and *Drosophila*, mouse, frog, sea urchin and nematode

D. COII

	Species compared					
Type of changes	Drosophila	mouse	frog	urchin	nematode	
Transitions						
AG	24	24	28	26	24	
CT	25	39	38	43	32	
Total	49	63	66	69	56	
Transversions						
AC	11	17	20	19	20	
AT	33	38	31	30	53	
GC	7	13	12	14	13	
GT	19	14	14	18	38	
Total	70	82	77	81	124	
Indels	4	4	4	4	5	
Number of sites	346	346	346	346	341	
Total changes	123	149	147	154	185	
% changes	35.5	43.1	42.5	44.5	54.3	

Table 16. Nature and frequency of specific base substitutions in five protein coding genes between *Sagitta*, a chaetognath, and *Drosophila*, mouse, frog, sea urchin and nematode

E. Cyt B

	Species compared					
Type of changes	Drosophila	mouse	frog	urchin	nematode	
Transitions						
AG	47	50	44	51	64	
CT	52	70	87	82	64	
Total	99	120	131	133	128	
Transversions						
AC	25	41	38	39	38	
AT	70	63	71	62	95	
GC	16	25	25	36	21	
GT	32	27	40	40	60	
Total	143	156	174	177	214	
Indels	0	1	0	0	2	
Number of sites	737	735	737	737	724	
Total changes	242	277	305	310	344	
% changes	32.8	37.7	41.4	42.1	47.5	

Table 17. Summary of mutation types for protein coding genes,

between Sagitta and members of five other taxa

_		Species	compare	d	
Type of changes	Drosophila	mouse	frog	urchin	nematode
Transitions		-		<u>, 19</u> 11, 1919, 1919, 1919	
AG	296	313	292	296	322
CT	311	440	437	423	340
Total	607	753	729	719	662
Transversions					
AC	167	220	226	224	1 79
AT	464	400	403	375	508
GC	97	176	178	198	137
GT	230	164	206	234	335
Total	958	960	1013	1031	1159
Indels	16	18	17	18	28
Number of sites	3959	3958	3960	396 1	3833
Total changes	1581	1731	1759	1768	1849
% changes	39.9	43.7	44.4	44.6	48.2
Jukes-Cantor Divergence	56.5	65.0	66.7	67.2	76.2

Ribosomal RNA Gene

The complete sequence of 1,018 nucleotides for the large ribosomal RNA gene in the chaetognath mitochondria was determined (Figure 17A). This gene is much smaller than that of all vertebrate (Anderson et al. 1981; Anderson et al. 1982) and some invertebrate large ribosomal RNA genes reported to date and slightly greater than that of two nematodes (Okimoto et al. 1992). It is clear that the large ribosomal RNA gene is also smaller than that of the vestimentiferan although only a partial large ribosomal RNA sequence was obtained. The entire large RNA gene of the chaetognath is only 1,018 nucleotides long, but the partial sequence from the vestimentiferan is 1,117 nucleotides. Correct alignment is the most important step in nucleotide sequence data preparation for phylogenetic analysis regardless of method; it is equivalent to assigning character homologies. High levels of multiple substitutions between two taxa coupled with any degree of insertions or deletions will make DNA sequences difficult to align. Because of a number of deletions in the chaetognath large ribosomal RNA gene, it indeed is difficult to align among some species. Here, I tried to align only between two species, chaetognath and mouse. Alignment of the chaetognath large ribosomal RNA gene with its mouse counterpart is presented in Figure 24. The major difference in size between chaetognath and mouse mitochondrial ribosomal RNA gene results from the absence in the chaetognath rRNA gene of specific blocks. As shown in Figure 24, there are at least 22 deletion events, besides those of single or less than three nucleotides, in the chaetognath mitochondrial large ribosomal RNA gene. Although a small number of additions have been found between the chaetognath and mouse, the majority of changes are deletions. A total of 40 nucleotides of insertion are observed, more than half located near the 3' end of this gene. In contrast, a total of 604 nucleotides of

Nucleotide sequence of *Sagitta* (Phylum Chaetognatha) mitochondrial 16S rRNA, aligned with its counterpart mouse. The top shows the complete sequence of large ribosomal RNA gene from *Sagitta*, the bottle is that of mouse. Gaps are indicated by dashes, residues homologous with those of Phylum Chaetognatha by dots. The positions for deletions ranging from single to three nucleotides are shown by asterisks, above the sequence. The positions for deletions more than three nucleotides are indicated by using DEL. + numbers. The positions for all insertions are shown by letter X.

DEL.1

TTGAAAAAGATAAAGACCTGTTAAGTGATTGTAAATCTAGTTTAACGTCAAACATG ACTAA.CCT.GCCCGCCCTACACATAT.A.TAT.C.A.TA.AATCAT	56
DEL.2 X * DEL.3 TTTTTTACACAGACATAAACTTC-AACCGGTGCATTCTAT TATCCTACTAAAAG.ATTGGA.GGTATC.AGGAGAGAACTAGTA	95
DEL.3	
CCGCAAGGGAAAGATGAAAGACTAATTAAAAGTAAGAACAAGCAAAGATTAAACCTTGTA	
XXX DEL.4 DEL.5 CCTTTTGTATAATGAAAGTAGGATAGAATTAGAATTAGAATTAGAATTAGAAAACCC	125
DEL.5 DEL.6	100
СGAAACCAAACGAGCTACCTAAAAAACAATTTTATGAATCAACTCGTCTAСААААТ	130
DEL.7 ** GATCTCTGTTTAAAGGATACATTAAATATTATAATGAACAGGTAGGA AGTGAGAAGA.TGGTAGAGGT.A.A.GCCCG.GCT.GGTAG.TTACC	177
** DEL.8 CAAAAATTGTATATCGACCTCAACAAACTAAATATACAAACAAGAAAGAAA AAT.AAGTTCAATTTTTGCA.ACATCAAGTA	228
DEL.9 DEL.10 DEL. AGCTTAATCTTAAAAACCTAGGTAAAACGATCTAGACCTTTAA AGTTTATAGCCGAGGGACAGCTCTTC.GGGAAA.ATAGT	271
11**** XXXXXGATATACTTATTATTTAACC-TTCATATTAGGTTTATAACATTA-ACCATTTAGAAT.ATACA.AAC.GCTAGCCAGCAGCCA	323
CAATATAGGATTTAATATAATTAATAGTTTCGATATAGCATCTACTTTGAAATAAAAATT A.GA.AGC.T.CA.GCTCCAT.A.AATA.TTCCAAAC.CCCTTCC	383
* TAAAAGTAAAAT-AAAATGGACTTCCGAAAGTTTCACAAAAACCTTTCCTTATAATATAC CTTGGGT.AATATAACTTTA.AG.TGCCAG.TAGG.GTA	442
*	

DEL.12 AGTCTGAAAGGGCACTCGAGAGGTTTCAGTATTACGTAT----AAAAAAAAATCTATA 555 CAGACT.T...CA.TAATCACAC.A.A.A.A.C.ACC.ATAACTTCTCTGTT.A.CCA. DEL.13

TATATTTATATCTAAAAAAAATATTGAAGGCCCC	585
DEL.13 *** DEL.14 DEL.15 CGAAAATACCTCTACAATGAATAAAGGC CGCCTGTTTAC.ACATCGCATTAGT.TGACTGCCTGCCCA	613
DEL.15 * * GATAAGACCC-TAAAAG-CTCTATCAATAGTTGT- GTGACTAAAGTTTAACGGCCGCGGTATCCTGTGCGTAGCA.TC.CT	645
DEL.16 * DEL.17 TGGGG-CAACGA CCTTAAT.AA.T.GC.TGAACGGCTAAACGAGGGTCCAACTGTCTCTTATCTTTAAT	656
DEL.17 DEL.18 CAGTGAAATTGACCTTTCAGTGAAGAGGCTT.A.AAGACGAGAAGACCCTA	669
DEL.18 DEL.19 TCTTTCTTCTAGCTATTTATCTTTCTTCTAGCTATTTA TGGAGCTTAAAT.A.A.AACTTATTTATTAAACCTAATGGCCCAAAAACTA DEL.19	688
TAGTATAAGTTTGAAATTTCGGTTGGGGGTGACCTCGGAGAATAAAAAATCCTCCGAATGA DEL.19	
TTATAACCTAGACTTACAAGTCAAAGTAAAATCAACATATCTTATTGACCCAGATATATT DEL.19 * X XX **	
TACT-AGTTACTTTAGGGATAACAGCGCAATATCCATTAACAAGATCA TTGATCAACGGCACCGT	735
X ** XX DEL.20 TATTTATAATGGAGAGTGTGACCTCGATGTTGAACTAAAGGAAAACTAGAGTAT CG.CTGT.ACG.TCC.T.CCAA.G.TG	789
* ACACTAGT-GTCTATCGTCTGTTCGCCGATTTTACCTTTACGTGATTTGAGTTCAAACCG	848

ACACTAGT-GTCTATCGTCTGTTCGCCGATTTTACCTTTACGTGATTTGAGTTCAAACCG

X XXXXX GTGTAAACCAGGTTGGTTTCAACCTTCTTTAATATTATTATTGGATAGTACGAAAGGAA 908 .A.C..T....C....T.T..A-...CG...TC.CCC----...C

DEL.21 ** XX DEL.22 XXXXXXXX AT----TCGGTTAG--TTACTGATTTAAG---TTATTTTTAATATTTTCTTGTCGAG 956 .AGAGAAA.A.AGCCACC....AA.--...CGCTC.CAAC....T.A.-----.

XXXXXXXXX

XX	
ТА	1018

171

연락물

deletion are required, and these domains are located in many regions throughout the entire gene. A domain of 159 nucleotides in length, located at nucleotide position 688 downstream from the 5' end is the longest of deletion between the chaetognath and mouse. As a result of deletion events, the large ribosomal RNA gene is much shorter than that of vertebrates and some invertebrates. In fact, more than one third of entire sequence coding for large ribosomal RNA gene has been lost, compared to the corresponding gene in vertebrates and some invertebrates. It is approximately 564, 622, 507, and 308 nucleotides shorter than those of corresponding large ribosomal RNA gene from mouse, frog, sea urchin, and *Drosophila yakuba*. Evidently the overall small size of the chaetognath large ribosomal gene can serve the same function as sequences in other animal species. This implies that there is a sequence limitation for the ribosomal RNA genes, which defines a universal core structure presumably essential for ribosomal functions.

As in all genes, the level of variability of particular rRNA gene segments is related to structural and functional constraints. For example, one of the most conserved segments in the small ribosomal RNA gene codes for the site of tRNA attachment (Simon et al. 1990). In spite of the small size, a number of deletions, and low G+C content of the chaetognath mitochondrial large ribosomal RNA gene, many conserved domains occur throughout the entire length of this gene between the chaetognath and mouse (Figure 24). These conserved regions may be important for assembly into the secondary structure required for this large ribosomal RNA.

Although ribosomal RNA genes in general have been characterized as highly conserved, data from members of the phyla Vestimentifera and Chaetognatha show that the entire ribosomal gene is not highly conserved, rather, it is a mosaic of alternating conserved and

Summary

Analysis of one third of the genome reveals that gene organization in the chaetognath mitochondrial DNA shows the considerable difference from that of other animal mtDNAs reported to date. This study has demonstrated that many rearrangements have occurred between the Phylum Chaetognatha and other phyla. The divergence from the vertebrate lineage has relocated the large ribosomal RNA gene adjacent to the structure gene for COI. The cytochrome b gene has been relocated to the region upstream the 5' end of the large ribosomal RNA gene.

Both insertion and deletion events have been observed in the chaetognath mitochondrial protein genes. In general, the protein genes are shorter than those of other animal species. The number of insertion or deletion change varies from gene to gene. It is found that the divergent regions were concentrated in several blocks, in addition to those involving single or a few amino acid codons in the COI gene. In contrast, only a few conserved amino acid blocks were observed in the ND2 gene. As observed in the vestimentiferan, a number of single and several amino acid mutations have also been found in the chaetognath mitochondrial protein genes. Many amino acids which are completely conserved in the corresponding protein genes of vertebrate and some invertebrate mtDNAs, have undergone replacements in the chaetognath during evolution. The nature and frequency of specific base substitutions for the COI gene from the chaetognath mtDNA was also determined. More than half of the detectable base substitutions are transversions, and more than 60-65% of total transversions are A-C and A-T transversions. The number of A-T

transversions is twofold higher than those of A-C transversions, while the G-C and G-T transversions show the lowest values.

A number of deletion events in large ribosomal RNA gene of the chaetognath mtDNA result in a reduction in total length of the large rRNA gene relative to those of vertebrates and some invertebrates. This difference reflects mainly the addition or deletion of entire domains, a common feature of rRNA evolution.

CONCLUSIONS

Based on investigation of sequences coding various functional genes from several animal species mitochondrial genomes, I have developed a suite of primers which have been successfully used for studying the mitochondrial genomes from two invertebrate Phyla: Vestimentifera and Chaetognatha. Using these primers, several fragments containing three functional classes of genes from both phyla, Vestimentifera and Chaetognatha have been amplified with PCR and sequenced.

Analysis of sequences representing about one third of each genome from both phyla mitochondrial DNAs reveals that the gene organization, lengths of genes, genetic code and the overall codon usage of both mitochondrial genomes show several differences from those of other animal species. Firstly, both genomes exhibit novel gene orders. The ATPase 6 gene is not located between the COII and COIII genes, but is replaced by insertion of two tRNA genes in the Phylum Vestimentifera. In the Phylum Chaetognatha, the gene order of the first fragment is cytochrome b, tRNA*, large ribosomal RNA, COI, and COII genes; the ND2 and COIII genes are located in the second segment and are contiguous. This gene organization shows the extensive differences from those of vertebrates and other invertebrates. Secondly, in both mtDNAs, AGA and AGG specify serine, while TGA specifies tryptophan. Thirdly, the codon ACA was found as the translation initiation codon of the cytochrome b gene from the chaetognath. The COI gene of the vestimentiferan mtDNA does not encode a complete stop codon but rather end with T or TA.

Many insertion or deletion events have been observed in these protein genes from both phyla. Thus these protein genes are shorter than those of other animal species. In all protein genes from both mtDNAs, a number of potential secondary structures have been found, some of which may be functional in the mitochondrial system.

Five tRNA genes of the vestimentiferan and one tRNA gene of the chaetognath have been identified. Each of them can be folded into the four-arm cloverleaf structure. There are the highest average similarities for all five tRNA sequences between the vestimentiferan and sea urchin.

A number of deletion events in the ribosomal RNA genes from both mitochondrial genomes result in a reduction in length of these rRNAs compared to those of other animal species. Detailed sequence analysis revealed a number of significant examples complementarity between the ribosomal RNA and protein genes. This suggests that they might play an important role in the regulation of mitochondrial translation and transcription mechanisms.

Besides insertion and deletion events, a number of single and multi-amino acid mutations have been observed in these protein genes of both mtDNAs. Some amino acids which are completely conserved in the corresponding protein genes of vertebrate and most invertebrate mtDNAs, have undergone replacements in the Vestimentifera and Chaetognatha during evolution. Data from comparisons of different protein genes with their counterparts reveal that these genes exhibit strikingly different patterns or modes of evolution.

The evolution of the vestimentiferan mitochondrial tRNA genes involves mainly substitutions, although small insertion/deletion events also occur in the different functional regions. The best conserved region is anticodon loop. The degree of conservation of the 5' half was higher than that the 3' half. The DHU loop, T Ψ C loop and T Ψ C stem were the most variable regions. Data from the nature and frequency of specific base substitutions of these genes suggest that the rate of evolution varies among as well as within mitochondrial

tRNA genes.

In this study, sequence data were obtained for the 5' ends of the COII and COIII genes for both the vestimentiferan and the chaetognath. Since the cytochrome oxidase subunits are among the most conserved of mitochondrial genes, and the 5' ends tend to yield relatively unambiguous alignments, an attempt was made to combine both phyla into a single phylogenetic tree. Sequences were aligned using the amino acid translation of the first 348 nucleotide sites for COII and the first 675 sites of the COIII gene, for *Ridgeia*, *Sagitta*, *Drosophila*, mouse, *Xenopus*, sea urchin and nematode. Pairwise corrected divergences (Jukes and Cantor 1969) were calculated for all seven taxa for both genes, using all nucleotide sites and using second codon positions. Neighbor-joining trees were then determined for each of the data sets.

The results are shown in Figures 25 and 26. Bootstrap values (out of 100 resamplings) are given at each node. The only phylogenetic relationships supported by all trees are the monophyly of the vertebrates (mouse and frog) and the placement of the pseudocoelomate nematode worm as an outgroup. The inconsistency of these results is not surprising, given the high degree of divergence at the nucleotide level. It is unlikely that nucleotide sequence data alone will provide the resolution necessary for determining relationships at the phylum level. It is more likely that a cladistic analysis of gene organization will provide these answers.

FIGURE 25

Neighbor-joining trees constructed from the nucleotide sequences of the COII gene. The nucleotide sequences of the COII gene include *Ridgeia* (Phylum Vestimentifera), *Sagitta* (Phylum Chaetognatha), mouse (Bibb et al., 1981), *Drosophila yakuba* (Clary and Wolstenholme 1985), *Xenopus* (Roe et al., 1985), sea urchin (Jacobs et al., 1988) and *Caenohabditis elegans* (Okimoto et al., 1992). The trees are based on (A) using all nucleotide sites and (B) using second codon position divergences only.



1**78**b

(A).

FIGURE 26

Neighbor-joining trees constructed from the nucleotide sequences of the COIII gene. The nucleotide sequences of the COIII gene include *Ridgeia* (Phylum Vestimentifera), *Sagitta* (Phylum Chaetognatha), mouse (Bibb et al., 1981), *Drosophila yakuba* (Clary and Wolstenholme 1985), *Xenopus* (Roe et al., 1985), sea urchin (Jacobs et al., 1988) and *Caenohabditis elegans* (Okimoto et al., 1992). The trees are based on (A) using all nucleotide sites and (B) using second codon position divergences only.



(A).

REFERENCES

- Anderson S, Bankier AT, Barrell BG, de Bruijin MHL, Coulson AR, Drouin J, Eperon IC, Nierlich DP, Roe BA, Sanger F, Schreier PH, Smith AJH, Staden R, Young IG (1981) Sequence and organization of the human mitochondrial genome. Nature 290:457-465
- Anderson S, de Bruijn MHL, Coulson AR, Eperon IC, Sanger F, Young IG (1982) Complete sequence of bovine mitochondrial DNA. J Mol Biol 156:683-717
- Aquadro C. F., Kaplan N. and Risko K. J. (1984) An analysis of the dynamics of mammalian mitochondrial DNA sequence evolution. Mol Biol Evol 1:239-252
- Arnason U., Gullberg A. and Widegren B. (1991) The complete nucleotide sequence of the mitochondrial DNA of the fin whale, *Balaenoptera physalus*. J Mol Evol 33:556-568
- Arnason U. and Johnsson E. (1992) The complete mitochondrial DNA sequence of the harbor seal, *Phoca vitutina*. J Mol Evol 34:493-505
- Atkinson T. and Smith M. (1985) Chapter 3. In Oligonucleotide Synthesis:a practical approach. Edt. by M. J. Gait, IRL press, New York. pp.35-81
- Attardi G. (1985) Animal mitochondrial DNA: an extreme example of genetic economy. Int. Rev. Cytol. 93:93-145
- Attardi G. and Schatz G. (1988) Biogenesis of mitochondria. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. 4:289-333
- Barrell B. G., Bankier A. T. and Drouin J. (1979) A different genetic code in human mitochondria. Nature 282:189-194
- Barrell B. G., Anderson S., Bankier A. T., de Bruijn M. H. L., Chen E., Coulson A. R., Drouin J., Eperon I. C., Nierlich D. P., Roe B. A., Sanger F., Schreier P. H., Smith A.

J. H., Staden R. and Young I. G. (1980) Different pattern of codon recognition by mammalian mitochondrial tRNAs. Proc. Nalt. Acad. Sci. USA 77:3164-3166

- Bibb MJ, Van Etten RA, Wright CT, Walberg MW, Clayton DA (1981) Sequence and gene organization of mouse mitochondrial DNA. Cell 26:167-180
- Birnboim H. C. and Doly J. (1979) A rapid alkaline extraction procedure for screening recombinant plasmid DNA. Nucleic Acids Research 7:1513-1523
- Bonitz S. G., Berlani R., Coruzzi G., Li M., Macino G., Nobrega F. G., Nobrega M. P.,
 Thalenfeld B. E. and Tzagoloff A. (1980) Codon recognition rules in yeast mitochondria.
 Proc. Nalt. Acad. Sci. USA 77:3167-3170
- Brown G. G. and Simpson M. V. (1982) Novel features of animal mtDNA evolution as shown by sequences of two rat cytochrome oxidase subunit II genes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79:3246-3250
- Brown W. M., George M. Jr. and Wilson A. C. (1979) Rapid evolution of animal mitochondrial DNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 76:1967-1971
- Brown W. M. (1981) Mechanisms of evolution in animal mitochondrial DNA. Ann NY Acad Sci 361:119-134
- Brown W. M., Prager E. M., Wang A. and Wilson A. C. (1982) Mitochondrial DNA sequences of primates: tempo and mode of evolution. J Mol Evil 18:225-239
- Brown W. M. (1983) In Evolution of Genes and Proteins (Koehn R. K. and Nei M., eds), pp. 62-68, Sinauer Associates, Sutherland, MA.
- Brown W. M. (1985) The mitochondrial genome of animals. In: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics, ed. R. J. MacIntyre, pp.95-130. New York: Plenum

- Cabot E. L. and Beckenbach A. T. (1989) Simultaneous editing of multiple nucleic acid and protein sequences with ESEE. CABIOS 5:233-234
- Cann R. L., Brown W. M. and Wilson A. C. (1984) Polymorphic sites and the mechanism of evolution in human mitochondrial DNA. Genetics 106:479-499
- Cann R. L., Stoneking M. and Wilson A. C. (1987) Mitochondrial DNA and human evolution. Nature 325:31-36
- Cantatore P, Gadaleta MN, Roberti M, Saccone C, and Wilson A. C. (1987) Duplication and remoulding of tRNA genes during the evolutionary rearrangement of mitochondrial genomes. Nature 329:853-855
- Cantatore P, Roberti M, Rainaldi G, Gadaleta MN, Saccone C. (1989) The complete nucleotide sequence, gene organization, and genetic code of the mitochondrial genome of *Paracentrotus lividus*. J Biol Chem 264:10965-10975
- Carr S. M., Brothers A. J. and Wilson A. C. (1987) Evolutionary inferences from restriction maps of mitochondrial DNA from nine taxa of *Xenopus* frogs. Evolution 41:176-188
- Chomyn A. and Attardi G. (1987) Mitochondrial gene products. Curr. Top. Bioenerg. 15:295-329
- Clary DO, and Wolstenholme DR (1983) Gene for cytochrome c oxidase subunit I, URF2 and three tRNAs in *Drosophila* mitochondrial DNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 11:6859-6872
- Clary DO, Wolstenholme DR (1985a) The mitochondrial DNA molecule of Drosophila yakuba: nucleotide sequence, gene organization, and genetic code. J Mol Evol 22:252-271
- Clary DO and Wolstenholme DR (1985b) The ribosomal genes of *Drosophila* mitochondrial DNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 113:4029-4045

Clayton D. A. (1982) Replication of mammalian mitochondrial DNA. Cell 28:693-705

- Cutler E. B. (1975) Pogonophora and Protostomia a procrustean bed? Z. Zool. Syst. Evol. Sonderheft 1:112-122
- de Bruijn M. H. L. (1983) Drosophila melanogaster mitochondrial DNA: a novel organization and genetic code. Nature 304:234-241
- Desjardins P. and Morais R. (1990) Sequence and gene organization of the chicken mitochondrial genome. J Mol Biol 212:599-634
- Desjardins P. and Morais R. (1991) Nucleotide sequence and evolution of coding and noncoding regions of a quail mitochondrial genome. J Mol Biol 32:153-161
- Felsenstein J. (1989) PHYLIP-Phylogeny inference package (version 3.2). Cladistics 5:164-166
- Ferris S. D., Sage R. D., Prager E. M., Ritte U. and Wilson A. C. (1983) Mitochondrial DNA evolution in mice. Genetics 105:681-721
- Fox T. D. (1979) Five TGA "stop" codons occur within the translated sequence of the yeast mitochondrial gene for cytochrome c oxidase subunit II. Proc. Nalt. Acad. Sci. USA 76:6534-6538
- Gadaleta G, Pepe G, De Candia G, Quagliariello C, Sbisa E, Saccone C (1989) The complete nucleotide sequence of the *Rattus norvegicus* mitochondrial genome: cryptic signals revealed by comparative analysis between vertebrates. J Mol Evol 28:497-516
- Garey J. R. and Wolstenholme D. R. (1989) Platyhelminth mitochondrial DNA: evidence for early evolutionary origin of a tRNA^{er} AGN that contains a dihydrouridine arm replacement loop, and of serine-specifying AGA and AGG codons. J. Mol. Evol. 28:374-387
- Glotz C., Zweib C. and Brimacombe R. (1981) Secondary structure of the large subunit ribosomal RNA from *Escherichia coli*, *Zea mays* chloroplast, and human and mouse mitochondrial ribosomes. Nucleic Acids Res. 9:3287-3306
- Gray M. W., Sankoff D. and Cedergreen R. I. (1984) On the evolutionary descent of organisms and organelles: a global phylogeny based on a highly conserved structural core in small subunit ribosomal RNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 12:5837-5852
- Guyer R. L. and Koshland Jr. DE (1990) The molecule of the year. Science 246:1543-1544
- Hall B. D., Clarkson S. G. and Tocchini-Valenti G. (1982) Transcription initiation of eucaryotic transfer RNA genes. Cell 29:3-5
- Heckman J. E., Sarnoff J., Alzner-De Weerd B., Yin S. and RajBhandary U. L. (1980) Novel features in the genetic code and codon reading pattern in *Neurospora crassa* mitochondria based on sequences of six mitochondrial tRNAs. Proc. Nalt. Acad. Sci. USA 77:3159-3163
- Henicoff S. and Eghtedarzadeh M. K. (1987) Conserved arrangement of nested genes at the Drosophila gart locus. Genetics 117:711-725
- Higuchi R., Von Beroldingen C. H., Sensabaugh G. F. and Erlich h. A. (1988) DNA typing from single hairs. Nature 332:543-546
- Himeno H., Masaki H., Kawai T., Ohta T., Kumagi I., Miura I., and Watanabe K. (1987) Unusual genetic codes and a novel gene structure for tRNA^{##} AGY in starfish mitochondrial DNA. Gene 56:219-230
- Hixson J. E. and Brown W. M. (1986) A comparison of the small ribosomal RNA genes from the mitochondrial DNA of the great apes and humans: sequence, structure, evolution, and phylogenetic implications. Mol Biol Evol 3:1-18

- Hoffmann R. J., Boore J. L. and Brown W. M. (1992) A novel mitochondrial genome organization for the blue mussel, *Mytilus edulis*. Genetics Vol 131 No2:397-412
- Innis M. A., Gelfand D. H., Sninsky J. J. and White T. J. (1990) PCR Protocols. A guide to methods and applications. Academic Press, NY
- Jacobs HT, Elliott DJ, Math VB, Farquharson A (1988) Nucleotide sequence and gene organization of sea urchin mitochondrial DNA. J Mol Biol 202:185-217
- Jacobs H., Asakawa S., Araki T., Miura K., Smith M. J. and Watanabe K. (1989) Conserved tRNA gene cluster in starfish mitochondrial DNA. Curr Genet 15:193-206
- Jones M. L. (1985) On the vestimentifera, new phylum: six new species, and other taxa, from hydrothermal vents and elsewhere. Biol. Soc. Wash. Bull. 6:117-158
- Jones M. L. (1985) Vestimentiferan pogonophorans: their biology and affinities. In: The Origins and RElationships of Lower Invertebrates, (eds. S. Conway Morris, J. D. Geoge, R. Gibson and H. M. Platt), pp. 327-342. Clarendon Press, Oxford.
- Jukes T. H. and Cantor C. R. (1969) Evolution of protein molecules. In H. N. Munro, ed., Mammalian Protein Metabolism, pp. 21-132. New York: Academic Press.
- Kocher T. D., Thomas W. K., Meyer A., Edwards S. V., Paabo S., Villablanca F. X. and
 Wilson A. C. (1989) Dynamics of mitochondrial DNA evolution in animals:
 Amplification and sequencing with conserved primers. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA
 86:6196-6200
- Lewin B. (1990) Genes IV. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Li H., Gyllensten U. B., Cui X., Saiki R. K., Erlich H. A. and Arnneim N. (1988) Amplification and analysis of DNA sequences in single human sperm and diploid cells. Nature 335:414-417

- Maniatis T., Fritsch E. F. and Sambrook J. (1982) Molecular Cloning: a laboratory manual. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratories.
- Mullis K. B., Faloona F. A., Scharf S., Saiki R. K., Horn G. and Erlich H. (1986) Specific enzymatic amplification of DNA in vitro: the polymerase chain reaction. Cold Spring Harbor Symposium on Quantitative Biology. 51:263-273
- Mullis K. B. and Faloona F. A. (1987) Specific synthesis of DNA in vitro via a polymerase catalysed chain reaction. Meth. Enzymol. 155:335
- Mullis K. B. (1990) The unusual origin of the polymerase chain reaction. Sci. Am. 262:56
- Nei M. (1987) Molecular Evolutionary Genetics. New York: Columbia Univ. Press
- Ojala D., Montoya J., and Attardi G. (1981) tRNA punctuation model of RNA processing in human mitochondria. Nature (London), 290:470-474
- Okimoto R., Macfarlane J. L. and Wolstenholme D. R. (1990) Evidence for the frequent use of TTG as the translation initiation codon of mitochondrial protein genes in the nematodes, *Ascaris suum* and *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Nucleic Acids Res. 18:6113-6118
- Okimoto R., Macfarlane J. L., Clary D. O., and Wolstenholme D. R. (1992) The mitochondrial genomes of two nematodes, *Caenorhabditis elegans* and *Ascaris suum*. Genetics 130:471-498
- Olsen G. J. (1988) Phylogenetic analysis using ribosomal RNA. Methods Enzymology 164:793-812
- Pääbo S., Gifford J. A. and Wilson A. C. (1988) Mitochondrial DNA sequences from a 7,000-year old brain. Nucl. Acids Res. 16:9775-9787

- Pääbo S., Thomas W. K., Whitfield K. M., Kumazawa Y. and Wilson A. C. (1991) Rearrangements of mitochondrial transfer RNA genes in marsupials. J. Mol. Evol. 33:426-430
- Ponce M. R. and Micol J. L. (1992) PCR amplification of long DNA fragments. Nucl. Acids Res. 20: 623
- Powell J. R., Caccone A., Amato G. D. and Yoon C. (1986) Rate of nucleotide substitution in *Drosophila* mitochondrial DNA and nuclear DNA are similar. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:9090-9093
- Pumo D. E., Phillips C. J., Barcia M. and Millan C. (1992) Three patterns of mitochondrial DNA nucleotide divergence in the meadow vole, *Microtus pennsylvanicus*. J Mol Evol 34:163-174
- Roe B. A., Ma D. P., Wilson R. K. and Wong F.-H. (1985) The complete nucleotide sequence of the *Xenopus laevis* mitochondrial genome. J. Biol. Chem. 260:9759-9774
- Saiki R. K., Scharf S. J., Faloona F., Mullis K. B., Horn G. T., Erlich H. A. and Arnheim N. (1985) Enzymatic amplification of B-globin genomic sequences and restriction site analysis for diagnosis of sickle cell anemia. Science 230: 1350-1354
- Saiki R. K., Gelfand D. H., Stoffel S., Scharf S. J., Higuchi R., Horn G. T., Mullis K. B., and Erlich H. A. (1988) Primer-directed enzymatic amplification of DNA with a thermostable DNA polymerase. Science 239:487
- Saitou N. and Nei M. (1987) The neighbor-joiring method: A new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. Mol. Boil. Evol. 4:406-425
- Sankoff D., Cedergren R. and Abel Y. (1990) Genomic divergence through gene rearrangement. Methods Enzymol. 183:426-438

- Siewing R. (1975) Thoughts about the phylogenetic-systematic position of Pogonophora. Z. Zool. Syst. Evol. Sonderheft 1:127-138
- Simon C., Paabo S., Kocher T. and Wilson A. C. (1990) Evolution of the mitochondrial ribosomal RNA in insects as shown by the polymerase chain reaction. In: Clegg M. O'Brien S. (eds), Molecular Evolution. UCLA Symposis on Molecular and Cellular Biology, New Series, Vol. 122, Alan R. Liss, Inc., NY, p235
- Smith M. J., Banfield D. K., Doteval K., Gorski S., and Kowbel D. J. (1989) Gene arrangement in sea star mitochondrial DNA demonstrates a major event during echinoderm evolution. Gene 76:181-185
- Smith M. J., Banfield D. K., Doteval K., Gorski S., and Kowbel D. J. (1990) Nucleotide sequence of nine protein-coding genes and 22 tRNAs in the mitochondrial DNA of the sea star *Pisaster ochraceus*. J. Mol. Evol. 31:195-204
- Solignac M., Monnerot M. and Mounolou J-C. (1986) Mitochondrial DNA evolution in the *melanogaster* species subgroup of *Drosophila*. J Mol Evol 23:53-60
- Sprinzl M., Hartman T., Meissner F., Moll J. and Vorderwulbecke T. (1987) Compilation of tRNA sequences and sequences of tRNA genes. Nucleic Acids Res 15:r53-r188
- Tamura K. and Aotsuka T. (1988) Rapid isolation method of animal mitochondrial DNA by the alkaline lysis procedure. Biochem. Genet. 26:815-819
- Thomas W. K. and Beckenbach A. T. (1989) Variation in salmonid mitochondrial DNA: evolutionary constraints and mechanisms of substitution. J. Mol. Evol. 29:233-245
- Thomas W. K., Maa J. and Wilson A. C. (1989) Shifting constraints on tRNA genes during mitochondrial DNA evolution in animals. New Biologist 1:93-100

- Thomas W. K. and Wilson A. C. (1991) Mode and tempo of molecular evolution in the nematode *Caenorhabditis*: cytochrome oxidase II and calmodulin sequences. Genetics 128:269-279
- Wilson A. C., Cann R. L., Carr S. M., George M., Gyllensten U. B., Helm-Bychowski K. M., Higuchi R. G., Palumbi S. R., Prager E. M., Sage R. D. and Stoneking M. (1985)
 Mitochondrial DNA and two perspectives on evolutionary genetics. Biol J Linn Soc 26:375-400
- Wolstenholme D. R. and Clary D. O. (1985) Sequence evolution of *Drosophila* mitochondrial DNA. Genetics 109:725-744
- Wolstenholme D. R., Clary D.O., Macfarlane J. L., Wahleithner J. A. and Wilcox L. (1985)
 In Achieverments and Perspectives of Mitochondrial Research. vol. II (Quagliariello E., Slater E. C., Palmieri F., Saccone C. & Kroon A. M. eds) pp.61-69. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Wolstenholme D. R. Macfarlane J. L. Okimoto R. Clary D.O. and Wahleithner J. A. (1987) Bizarre tRNAs inferred from DNA sequences of mitochondrial genomes of nematode worms. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 84:1324-1328
- Zweib C., Glotz C. and Brimacombe R. (1981) Secondary structure comparisons between small subunit ribosomal RNA molecules from six different species. Nucleic Acids Res. 9:3621-3640